

MEDICAL UNIVERSITY OF GDAŃSK

EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF TRANSLATIONAL AND CLINICAL MEDICINE





EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF TRANSLATIONAL AND CLINICAL MEDICINE

Editor-in-Chief Dariusz Kozłowski Vice-Editor-in-Chief Tomasz Szmuda

Section Editors

Michał Hoffmann / Clinical Medicine Medical University of Gdańsk (Poland)

Leszek Kalinowski / Biobanking and Technologies for Personalized Medicine *Medical University of Gdańsk (Poland)*

Dariusz Kozłowski / Cardiology, Hypertension and Cardiovascular Science Medical University of Gdańsk (Poland)

Natalia Marek-Trzonkowska / Basic Science, Cell & Molecular Biology, Experimental Medicine Medical University of Gdańsk (Poland)

Kamil Chwojnicki / Neuroscience, Neurology and Psychiatric Disorders Medical University of Gdańsk (Poland)

Anna Starzyńska / Dental Sciences Medical University of Gdańsk (Poland)

Piotr Szefer / Pharmacy Medical University of Gdańsk (Poland)

Tomasz Szmuda / Surgery Medical University of Gdańsk (Poland)

Piotr Witkowski / Organ and Cellular Transplantation University of Chicago Center (USA)

Agnieszka Zimmermann / Bioethics, Biolaw, History of Medicine Medical University of Gdańsk (Poland)

Advisory Board

John J. Bissler University of Tennessee, Health Science Center (TN, USA)

Jean-Luc Cracowski Grenoble Alps University (France)

Lawrence W. Dobrucki University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign (IL, USA)

Anna Dominiczak University of Glasgow (GB)

Zbigniew Gaciong Medical University of Warsaw (Poland)

Jerzy B. Gajewski Dalhousie University (Canada)

Paul Grundeman University Medical Center Utrecht (Netherlands)

Ewa Iżycka-Świeszewska Copernicus Hospitals Gdańsk (Poland)

Jacek Jassem Medical University of Gdańsk (Poland)

Janis Kisis Riga Stradins University (Latvia)

Pawel M. Kozlowski University of Louisville (KY, USA)

Bengt Lindholm Karolinska Institutet (Sweden) Jan-Eric Litton

Karolinska Institutet (Sweden)

Eva M. Martinez-Caceres Universitat Autonoma de Barcelona Medical School (Spain)

Olle Melander Lund University Diabetes Centre (Sweden) Secretary Beata Dudzik-Richter

Managing Editor Małgorzata Omilian-Mucharska

Technical Editor

Małgorzata Omilian-Mucharska Izabela Szeibelis-Deskiewicz

DTP Editor Izabela Szeibelis-Deskiewicz

Language Editor Janusz Springer

Web Developer Piotr Sampławski

Statistical Consultant Paweł Zagożdżon

Photo on the cover of the issue by Monika Teślak

Krzysztof Narkiewicz Medical University of Gdańsk (Poland)

Waldemar Priebe University of Texas (TX, USA)

Stefan Raszeja Medical University of Gdańsk (Poland)

Thomas Ritter National University of Ireland (Ireland)

Pawel Tacik University of Bonn Medical Center (Germany)

Anna Tomaszuk-Kazberuk Medical University of Białystok (Poland)

Bartosz Wasąg Medical University of Gdańsk (Poland)

Piotr Witkowski University of Chicago (IL, USA)

Editorial Office

Medical University of Gdańsk European Journal of Translational Medicine Dębinki 7 Street, Building 1 80-211 Gdańsk, Poland Phone: +48 58 349 15 37

E-mail: ejtcm@gumed.edu.pl www.ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl

Publisher

Medical University of Gdańsk M. Skłodowskiej-Curie 3 A 80-210 Gdańsk, Poland © Copyright by Medical University of Gdańsk Gdańsk 2020 e-ISSN 2657-3156

Online edition is the original version of the journal





EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF TRANSLATIONAL AND CLINICAL MEDICINE 2020;3(1):1-80

CONTENTS

INVITED REVIEW ARTICLE

It didn't have to happen this way – what COVID-19 tells us about translational medicine Tomasz Smiatacz	07
RESEARCH ARTICLES	
Effect of a bicarbonate-buffered peritoneal dialysis solution on clinical and laboratory indices of dialysis Michał Chmielewski, Dorota Bielińska-Ogrodnik, Piotr Jagodziński, Monika Lichodziejewska-Niemierko	11
Assessment of nutritional status of patients with cancer who are qualified for home enteral nutrition – a retrospective analysis Karolina Kaźmierczak-Siedlecka, Marcin Folwarski, Barbara Jankowska, Piotr Spychalski, Waldemar Szafrański, Mariusz Baran, Wojciech Makarewicz, Ewa Bryl	16
Risk factors of acute respiratory distress syndrome after on-pump cardiac surgery in the INFLACOR cohort study Maciej Michał Kowalik, Romuald Lango, Andrzej Łoś, Magdalena Chmara, Maciej Brzeziński, Krzysztof Lewandowski, Andrzej Klapkowski, Jan Rogowski	24
Anthropometric measurements, nutritional status and body composition in children with cystic fibrosis – the prospective study Katarzyna Natalia Kaźmierska, Aleksandra Lemanowicz-Kustra, Agnieszka Jankowska, Agnieszka Szlagatys-Sidorkiewicz, Ewa Sapiejka	34
CT negative subarachnoid hemorrhage in the Emergency Department Jacek Szypenbejl, Mariusz Siemiński, Edyta Szurowska, Tomasz Szmuda, Andrzej Basiński	43
Sciatica: Internet Search Trends Tomasz Szmuda, Shan Ali, Marcin Czyz, Paweł Słoniewski	49
REVIEW ARTICLES	
How to deal with patients with atrial fibrillation during an epidemic? Anna Tomaszuk-Kazberuk	53
The role of interdisciplinary cooperation in the prevention of Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw (MRONJ) Monika Teślak, Izabela Chlebus, Iwona Ordyniec-Kwaśnica	60
Thoracic trauma – principals of surgical management Jerzy Lasek, Eugeniusz Jadczuk	66
How to write a scientific paper? Lessons from a distinguished scientist and editor Shan Ali, Tomasz Szmuda, Zbigniew K. Wszołek	74

It didn't have to happen this way – what COVID-19 tells us about translational medicine

Tomasz Smiatacz 💿

Department of Infectious Diseases, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland

Abstract

In this editorial I would like to invite the Readers to look at this situation with broader time frame in mind. I attempt to draw some conclusions from the COVID-19 pandemic that are relevant for the field of translational medicine. My perspective is that it didn't have to happen this way and even worse, the same situation might repeat itself in the near future.

Keywords: COVID-19 · translational medicine · surgery

Citation

Smiatacz T. It didn'thave to happen this way – what COVID-19 tells us about translational medicine. Eur J Transl Clin Med. 2020;3(1):7-10. DOI: 10.31373/ejtcm/119455

In December 2019 people who were aware of the *Coronaviridae* family's existence were mostly scientists [1]. Today, or four months later, we all are undergoing practical training in epidemiology, we seek information about the structure of the SARS-CoV-2 virus, non-scientific magazines publish the virus' mortality rate, websites of banks and mobile phone service providers remind us about infection prevention methods and economics experts are convincing us that COVID-19 will not trigger a global recession [2]. In this editorial I would like to look beyond a quick analysis of the rapidly incoming information and invite the Readers to look at this situation with broader time frame in mind. My perspective is that it didn't have to happen this way and even worse, the same situation might repeat itself in the near future.

Several years ago an analysis of parish archives in Gilowice (near Kraków) and Starogard Gdański revealed that 50% of the recorded deaths in the years 1880-1920 were of children < 7 years of age and of

Corresponding author:

No external funds.



Tomasz Smiatacz, Department of Infectious Diseases, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland

e-mail: tomasz.smiatacz@gumed.edu.pl

Available online: www.ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl

This is Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International.

those 30% were children < 1 year of age [3-4]. At the time the average lifespan in that part of Europe was 25-35 years, there were about 1 billion people living on earth and we had essentially no methods of controlling epidemics of infectious diseases [5]. According to the archives, the leading causes of death were pertussis, tonsillitis, scarlet fever, "cough," pneumonia, dysentery, smallpox. Thanks to vaccinations, antibiotics and hygiene many of these diseases are not found in medical practice anymore, children die sporadically and the average lifespan today is approaching 80 years [6]. In contrast, the leading causes of death around the world today are cardio-vascular diseases, diabetes and cancer [7].

The last global pandemic was the Hong-Kong flu in the years 1968-1970 [8]. Infectious disease specialists could have felt that their mission was completed: pandemics disappeared, almost all of the deadly diseases were eradicated, treatment of the remaining and clinically significant infectious diseases (e.g. HIV, HCV, borreliosis) is so simple that it doesn't require specialized training [8-9]. Some went as far as to say that there is no need for infectious disease specialists anymore.

Unfortunately, in December 2019 in Wuhan (China) cases of a strange pneumonia were noted [10]. You know the rest of the story and we are still part of it today. It is a rather unpleasant feeling to lose control over the events, to be unable to influence the course of the disease (lack of effective treatment, lack of vaccine) and yet at the same time to have to implement drastic limitations of personal freedom in order to stop the pandemic [1, 11]. In practice we are now where we were almost 100 years ago, when the only methods of infection control available were: personal hygiene, isolation, quarantine, sanitary cordon around a city [12-13].

Suddenly the medical world returned to the age when the patient posed a significant danger to the health and life of the physician. In the recent decades we became convinced that our profession is safe and prestigious. Many of us accompany our patients in their agony and death. Indeed this is difficult depressing and may lead to professional burnout, however rarely causes the physician to feel that his/her life is in danger [14]. Now all this has changed and we hear or read about desperate reactions of medical personnel, e.g. trying to strengthen the immune system by using dietary supplements despite the lack of evidence for their effectiveness or seeking pre-exposure prophylaxis guidelines.

It is worth remembering that we witnessed a similar situation in 2002-2003 with the SARS-CoV-1 epidemic [15]. That was also the same time when a new technology became available, the *in silico* method, which led to the effective and safe anti-viral drugs for HIV and HCV [16]. Despite the availability of this new technology and other research tools neither drug nor vaccine against SARS were created. The reason for this situation is rather simple: it was completely not cost-effective [13].

Fortunately, scientists did not sit idly. Numerous particles and drugs with in vitro efficacy were synthesized in laboratories around the world against various viruses, including those from the *Coronaviridae* family. These research projects became stuck in the pre-clinical phases due to the lack of funding, time and volunteer patients. Today these same particles are cleaned of dust and once again re-challenged in terms of their effectiveness against the current biological threat (e.g. remdesivir) [17]. Funding is more likely available now, however for some of the patients there will unfortunately not be enough time [13].

It was predictable that the problem will return. Similar epidemics (MERS, flu virus) occurred as natural events in Southeast Asia and hemorrhagic fevers or retroviruses appeared in Sub-Saharan Africa [13]. Epidemics are somewhat like earthquakes: they do not happen daily and although we know that they will occur again, we are not able to predict when and where. Several years ago our attention was focused on the deadly Ebola virus [18-19]. This virus is known to science since 1976 and although we knew it is deadly, to this day we do not have any treatment or vaccine against it. The reason is once again financial: no government besides perhaps the USA or China is able to finance the costly and lengthy research projects and clinical trials. International pharmaceutical corporations do have the necessary funding, however they function for-profit [20].

A close relative of the Ebola virus is the Marburg hemorrhagic fever [19]. It is named after the central Germany city where the first cases were identified in 1967. The most likely source of the Marburg virus was in Uganda, thus none of us live safely on a lonely island [21].

From the virus' point of view, humans are its host and target. Since the first SARS outbreak in 2003 the global human population has increased by almost 2 billion, mostly in Asia. Today there are almost 9 billion of us on Earth and we travel significantly more often than in 2003, 1967 or 1918 [22]. Patients after organ transplantation also travel, just as those with HIV infection or on chronic immunosuppressive treatment. This is a good sign that patients are returning to their normal daily activity. However after becoming infected, these same patients may potentially replicate viruses for many months without any visible symptoms and therefore infect others. A repetition of the SARS or Marburg scenario is just a matter of time [1, 19]. Let's now draw some conclusions from the COVID-19 pandemic that are relevant for the field of translational medicine:

- We need an urgent, fast and non-commercial pathway for implementing medicines and vaccines for new biological threats. Clinical trials should be relatively inexpensive, financed by the taxpayers, not subject to the decisions ofshareholders and should last several months (not years).
- 2. We need to initially prepare candidate drugs (therapeutic molecules) against specific, potentially deadly virus families such as flu viruses, Coronaviridae, hemorrhagic fevers,

retroviruses, etc. In case of a new outbreak, we need to urgently assess the effectiveness of the candidate drugs and to conduct clinical trials. Clearly this is a significant logistic challenge, however during an epidemic time costs lives.

- 3. Herpes virus eradication using vaccinations is a worthwhile goal. The Herpes endemic has the scope of a pandemic, therefore the lives of many people would be more comfortable and longer.
- 4. We need to prepare for an outbreak of a virus that, in theory, could be synthesized in vitro in order to achieve a political or demographic goal. Unfortunately such bioterrorism is technically feasible, though it is the subject for a completely separate article.

References

- Li Q, Guan X, Wu P, Wang X, Zhou L, Tong Y, et al. Early Transmission Dynamics in Wuhan, China, of Novel Coronavirus

 Infected Pneumonia. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2020 Jan 29;NEJMoa2001316. Available from: http://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMoa2001316
- Braithwaite RS, Omokaro C, Justice AC, Nucifora K, Roberts MS. Can Broader Diffusion of Value-Based Insurance Design Increase Benefits from US Health Care without Increasing Costs? Evidence from a Computer Simulation Model. Salomon JA, editor. PLoS Med [Internet]. 2010 Feb 16;7(2):e1000234. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.</u> gov/20169114
- Berner W. [Epidemiological situation of infectious diseases in Lvov and Cracow during and after World War I (until the year 1922)]. Przegl Epidemiol [Internet]. 2009;63(1):149–55. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19522244</u>
- Berner W. [Sanitary conditions, health care and epidemiological situation of infectious diseases in Cracow in the period of Galicia autonomy (since 60ties/70ties of 19th century until 1914)]. Przegl Epidemiol [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2020 Mar 20];62(1):181–91. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18536242</u>
- 5. Xu Y, Tang M, Liu Y, Zou Y, Liu Z. Identifying epidemic threshold by temporal profile of outbreaks on networks. Chaos [Internet]. 2019 Oct 1 [cited 2020 Mar 20];29(10):103141. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31675823</u>
- Yu W, Lee LA, Liu Y, Scherpbier RW, Wen N, Zhang G, et al. Vaccine-preventable disease control in the People's Republic of China: 1949–2016. Vaccine [Internet]. 2018 Dec 18 [cited 2020 Mar 20];36(52):8131–7. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30497834</u>
- Heron M, Anderson RN. Changes in the Leading Cause of Death: Recent Patterns in Heart Disease and Cancer Mortality. NCHS Data Brief. 2016 Aug 1;(254):1–8. Available from: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db254.htm</u>
- Vastag B. Hong Kong flu still poses pandemic threat [Internet]. Vol. 288, Journal of the American Medical Association. 2002 [cited 2020 Mar 20]. p. 2391-2392+2395. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12435238</u>
- Trovão NS, Nelson MI. When Pigs Fly: Pandemic influenza enters the 21st century. Spindler KR, editor. PLOS Pathog [Internet]. 2020 Mar 19 [cited 2020 Mar 20];16(3):e1008259. Available from: <u>https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1008259</u>
- Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. N Engl J Med. 2020 Feb 20;382(8):727–33. Available from: <u>http://www.nejm.org/doi/10.1056/NEJMoa2001017</u>
- Cucinotta D, Vanelli M. WHO Declares COVID-19 a Pandemic. Acta Biomed [Internet]. 2020 Mar 19 [cited 2020 Mar 20];91(1):157–60. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/32191675</u>
- Wujtewicz M, Dylczyk-Sommer A, Aszkiełowicz A, Zdanowski S, Piwowarczyk S, Owczuk R. COVID-19 what should anaethesiologists and intensivists know about it? Anaesthesiol Intensive Ther [Internet]. 2020 Mar 20 [cited 2020 Mar 20]; Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/32191830</u>
- Peeri NC, Shrestha N, Rahman MS, Zaki R, Tan Z, Bibi S, et al. The SARS, MERS and novel coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemics, the newest and biggest global health threats: what lessons have we learned? Int J Epidemiol [Internet]. 2020 Feb 22 [cited 2020 Mar 20]; Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/32086938</u>

10 Eur J Transl Clin Med 2020;3(1):7-10

- Szmuda T, Ali S, Słoniewski P. Neurosurgery residency burnout: what can prevent this? Neurol Neurochir Pol [Internet].
 2019 Oct 2 [cited 2019 Oct 27]; Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31577364</u>
- Wenzel RP, Bearman G, Edmond MB. Lessons from severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS): Implications for infection control. Arch Med Res [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2020 Mar 20];36(6):610–6. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/16216641</u>
- Stolbov L, Druzhilovskiy D, Rudik A, Filimonov D, Poroikov V, Nicklaus M. AntiHIV-Pred: web-resource for in silico prediction of anti-HIV/AIDS activity. Bioinformatics [Internet]. 2020 Feb 1 [cited 2020 Mar 20];36(3):978–9. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31418763</u>
- Al-Tawfiq JA, Al-Homoud AH, Memish ZA. Remdesivir as a possible therapeutic option for the COVID-19. Travel Med Infect Dis [Internet]. 2020 Mar;101615. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1477893920300831</u>
- Clarke DK, Xu R, Matassov D, Latham TE, Ota-Setlik A, Gerardi CS, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of a highly attenuated rVSVN4CT1-EBOVGP1 Ebola virus vaccine: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 1 clinical trial. Lancet Infect Dis [Internet]. 2020 Jan 14 [cited 2020 Mar 20]; Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31952923
- Reynolds P, Marzi A. Ebola and Marburg virus vaccines [Internet]. Vol. 53, Virus Genes. Springer New York LLC; 2017 [cited 2020 Mar 20]. p. 501–15. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2844719</u>3
- Leuker C, Samartzidis L, Hertwig R, Pleskac TJ. When money talks: Judging risk and coercion in high-paying clinical trials. PLoS One [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Mar 20];15(1):e0227898. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/32005037</u>
- Wasswa H. Uganda grapples with new Marburg disease outbreak [Internet]. Vol. 359, BMJ (Clinical research ed.). 2017 [cited 2020 Mar 20]. p. j5252. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29133548</u>
- 22. Worldometer [Internet]. [cited 2020 Mar 23]. Available from: https://www.worldometers.info/

Effect of a bicarbonate-buffered peritoneal dialysis solution on clinical and laboratory indices of dialysis

Michał Chmielewski¹ [©], Dorota Bielińska-Ogrodnik¹, Piotr Jagodziński¹ [©], Monika Lichodziejewska-Niemierko² [©]

¹Department of Nephrology, Transplantology and Internal Medicine, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland ²Department of Palliative Medicine, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland

Abstract

Background: Biocompatible fluids for peritoneal dialysis (PD) have been introduced to improve the dialysis adequacy and patient outcomes in end-stage renal disease. However, being buffered with lactate, these fluids may insufficiently correct metabolic acidosis and lead to changes in peritoneal structure. Bicarbonate buffered fluids might mitigate these complications. The aim of the study was to evaluate the influence of a bicarbonate dialysis fluid on clinical and laboratory indices of dialysis adequacy. Methods: Twenty PD patients treated with standard lactate solutions, were divided into two groups. Patients in the study group started treatment with a 34 mmol/L bicarbonate-buffered solution, whereas those in the control group continued on a lactate-buffered fluid. Assessment of urine output, dialysis ultrafiltration, hydration status as well as metabolic acidosis, dialysis adequacy and potential inflow pain was performed at baseline and at six weeks intervals for 24 weeks. Results: In the studied group, pH was 7.36 ± 0.03, HCO3 22.1 \pm 1.8 mmol/l at baseline and 7.36 \pm 0.04, and 21.2 \pm 2.3 mmol/l at the end of the study, while in the control group the pH was 7.35 ± 0.12, with HCO3 22.2 ± 1.4 mmol/l, and 7.40 ± 0.03, and 22.3 ± 1.8 mmol/l, respectively. No statistically significant differences were noted. Dialysis effectiveness, measured as urea Kt/V, urine output and dialysis ultrafiltration did not differ between the groups, either at baseline or at the study termination. Only one patient in the studied group reported inflow pain and following conversion to bicarbonate-buffered PD fluid he reported reduction of its intensity. Conclusion: Bicarbonate-buffered PD solution appears to be similar to standard fluid in terms of the impact on residual renal function and ultrafiltration as well as on acid-base balance and infusion pain. Longitudinal studies are needed to assess the long-term advantages of this biocompatible solution in PD patients.

Keywords: peritoneal dialysis · acid-base balance · end-stage renal failure · bicarbonate-based solutions

Citation

Chmielewski M, Bielińska-Ogrodnik D, Jagodziński P, Lichodziejska-Niemierko M. Effect of a bicarbonate-buffered peritoneal dialysis solution on clinical and laboratory indices of dialysis. Eur J Transl Clin Med. 2020;3(1):11-15. DOI: 10.31373/ejtcm/118390

Corresponding author:

No external funds.

Available online: www.ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl

Copyright [®] Medical University of Gdańsk



Michał Chmielewski, Department of Nephrology, Transplantology and Internal Diseases, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland e-mail: michal.chmielewski@gumed.edu.pl

This is Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International.

Introduction

Peritoneal dialysis (PD) is a method of renal-replacement therapy (RRT) utilized in patients with end-stage renal disease (ESRD). As the name suggests, in PD the peritoneum acts as the dialysis membrane. This mode of treatment is as effective as hemodialysis and can serve as a 'bridge' to renal transplantation or a life-long RRT treatment. Peritoneum separates the compartment of dialysis fluid from the blood compartment of peritoneal capillaries. Due to its semi-permeable structure, it allows for removal of uremic toxins as well as for restoring the electrolyte and acid-base balance.

Standard dialysis fluids are sterile solutions containing electrolytes, lactate ions and glucose at various concentrations. Such composition normally allows for sufficient patient dehydration and detoxification in the course of ESRD. However, due to its non-physiologic lactate buffer and the presence of glucose degradation products (GDP) its use is complicated by impairment of immunologic mechanisms of the peritoneum, and progressive fibrosis and thickening of the membrane with a concomitant loss of mesothelial cells [1]. Insufficient correction of metabolic acidosis leads to enhanced muscle catabolism, decreased albumin synthesis, and chronic low-grade inflammation.

New dialysis fluids are buffered with bicarbonates and are thought to mitigate the above complications [2-3]. Moreover, through improvement of the local peritoneal biocompatibility, they might positively affect dialysis adequacy [3]. However, despite being approved for use these new PD fluids have not been utilized in Poland so far. Therefore, the major aim of the current study was to compare novel PD solutions buffered with 34 mmol/l bicarbonates and the standard lactate-buffered fluids, in terms of clinical and biochemical adequacy. Particular aims were to assess the impact of a bicarbonate-buffered solution on the correction of metabolic acidosis and on improving the patient's hydration status, depending on patient residual renal function, and the presence of co-morbidities, as well as to evaluate the influence of the studied fluids on the sensation of abdominal pain during dialysis.

Material and Methods

This was a prospective evaluation of 20 patients treated at a single center with continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD). All patients were initially dialyzed on a standard, neutral pH, 35 mmol/L lactate-buffered fluid (Balance, Fresenius, Germany). The patients who were similar in terms of age, sex, history of diabetes, urine output and dialysis adequacy so far were matched into pairs. Within each pair, the patients were randomly assigned to either start treatment with a 34 mmol/L bicarbonate-buffered solution (BicaVera, Fresenius, Germany) or to continue using the standard PD fluid. This way we obtained 2 equal groups of 10 participants each. All participants provided informed consent to participate in the study, and the study protocol was approved by the local Ethics Committee (NK-BBN 212/2019).

Prior to the start of the evaluation (baseline) and at 6-week intervals, the following variables were analyzed: the clinical assessment of hydration status, urine output, dialysis ultrafiltration, acid-base balance (via capillary blood gas tests) as well as routine laboratory parameters . Hydration status was also assessed through bioimpedance spectroscopy (Body Composition Monitor, Fresenius Medical Care, Germany) and was presented as liters of over- or dehydration. Moreover, at 12-week intervals, indices of dialysis adequacy (urea Kt/V, creatinine clearance), protein turnover (normalized protein catabolic ratio, nPCR) and of transmembrane transport status (peritoneal equilibration test) were checked. Inflow pain was assessed using a visual analog scale (VAS). Results were expressed as means with standard deviations or medians with interguartile ranges, as appropriate. The normality of distribution was verified with the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. A p-value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Comparisons between two groups were assessed with a Student's unpaired t-test or Mann-Whitney test, as appropriate. The statistical analysis was performed using the Statistica software version 13.3 (StatSoft Inc., United States).

Results

The baseline characteristics of the studied groups are depicted in Table 1. Of the 20 patients in our sample, 11 were female.

Majority of patients in both groups took calcium carbonate and loop diuretics which affect acid-base balance and diuresis, respectively. However, their doses were not modified during the study period. There was one episode of peritonitis in the studied group, effectively treated with standard therapy, but the patient was excluded from the study. Another patient from the control group underwent kidney transplantation and did not complete the study. Therefore, 18 patients remained for the final evaluation, nine in each group.

Considering capillary blood acid-base balance, in the bicarbonate group, pH equaled 7.36 ± 0.03 , while

	Bicarbonate group (n = 10)	Control group (n = 10)	p-value
Age (years)	54 (36-58)	56 (47-65)	0.36
Sex (M/F)	3/7	4/6	
Dialysis vintage (months)	30 ± 18.7	44 ± 29.9 0.23	
Diuresis (ml/day)	840 ± 685	1200 ± 640 0.34	
UF (ml/day)	1270 ± 365	1170 ± 411 0.57	
Hydration status (L)	1.51 ± 1.12	2.24 ± 1.23 0.18	
Kt/V (renal)	0.81 ± 0.77	0.78 ± 0.53 0.92	
Kt/V (peritoneal)	1.58 ± 0.32	1.39 ± 0.36 0.23	

Table 1. Baseline clinical characteristics of the studied groups; UF – dialysis ultrafiltration

HCO3 was 22.1 \pm 1.8 mmol/l, at baseline. At study termination after 24 weeks, pH was 7.36 \pm 0.04, and HCO3 21.2 \pm 2.3 mmol/l. In the lactate group, pH equaled 7.35 \pm 0.12, and HCO3 22.2 \pm 1.4 mmol/l at baseline, with the respective values being 7.40 \pm 0.03, and 22.3 \pm 1.8 mmol/l at the end of the study. There were no statistically significant differences in the presented parameters, within the studied groups or between them.

Urine output has not changed during the study period: after 24 weeks it equaled 910 ml ± 640 ml in the bicarbonate group and 1150 ± 690 ml in the lactate group. Similarly, dialysis ultrafiltration remained stable, as it was 1200 ± 353 ml in the bicarbonate group, and 1220 ± 449 ml in the lactate group, at the end of the study. There were no statistically significant changes in dialysis adequacy, as measured with peritoneal Kt/V, between and within the studied groups. At study termination, peritoneal Kt/V equaled 1.69 ± 0.39 in the bicarbonate group, and 1.49 ± 0.22 in the lactate group. Similarly, renal Kt/V remained stable during the observation period. None of the patients reported inflow abdominal pain in the group with lactate-buffered solution. Whereas only patient from the bicarbonate group experienced inflow pain and reported that it diminished from 2 to 0.

Discussion

In this study we have demonstrated that bicarbonate-buffered peritoneal dialysis solution appears to be similar to standard fluid in terms of the impact on residual renal function and ultrafiltration, as well as on the acid-base balance and the PD fluid inflow pain.

Biocompatibility of fluids used for PD has been a topic of intense studies since the very beginning of PD as a method of RRT [4]. The major factors responsible for the relatively low compatibility of available solutions included: low fluid pH, the use of glucose as an osmotic agent and the addition of lactates as a source of endogenously generated bicarbonates. Low fluid pH was necessary, since at physiologic pH the GDPs are formed due to non-enzymatic glucose disintegration during the process of fluid sterilization. Glucose itself, and in particular GDPs, contribute to protein glycation which leads to formation of advanced glycation end-products (AGE) [1]. These are thought to be responsible for the irreversible damage of the peritoneal membrane that results in ultrafiltration failure and the necessity to treat the patient with hemodialysis.

Currently, the issue of low pH was overcome with the use of two-compartmental fluids, in which glucose

is stored and sterilized in one compartment at a very low pH (2.8-3.1), while the other compartment contains alkaline lactate solution. The solutions from the two compartments are mixed immediately prior to dialysis exchange to form a ready-to-use neutral fluid. However, the use of a lactate buffer is associated with the risk of insufficient correction of metabolic acidosis, as well as with the risk of provoking abdominal pain during the fluid inflow [5-6]. The effects of increased lactate load are associated with a decrease in cellular redox state, thus impairing numerous vital cellular functions [7].

Bicarbonate-buffered dialysis fluids constitute the next step in the quest to obtain an 'ideal' biocompatible solution. Actually, studies on bicarbonates as buffers for dialysis fluids started as early as in the 1960s [8]. However, precipitation of calcium and magnesium carbonate has hindered the use of such solutions. As a result, lactate was utilized as a buffer for many years and was regarded as more stable, with no apparent side-effects. Probably, the first studies with bicarbonate-buffered fluids in two-chamber dialysis sets were performed by Feriani et al. [4]. One chamber contained calcium and magnesium, while the other bicarbonates, to avoid the abovementioned precipitation. The studies that followed, confirmed appropriate correction of metabolic acidosis with bicarbonate-based fluids [5-6]. Additionally, a study by Mactier et al. demonstrated better tolerance of such solutions, as compared to lactate buffered ones, with less abdominal pain during fluid inflow [6].

Better correction of metabolic acidosis was associated with an increase in nPCR, suggestive of improved nutrition [7]. The importance of adequate acidosis correction was highlighted in a Korean study in which decreased serum bicarbonates levels turned out as an independent risk factor for mortality in PD patients [9]. Studies on bicarbonate solutions, performed ex vivo demonstrated improved viability of peritoneal mesothelial cells, and decreased concentrations of factors associated with peritoneal fibrosis and neovascularization (as compared to lactate) [10]. Longitudinal evaluations demonstrated less inflammatory cytokines in dialysis effluents of patients treated with bicarbonate-based solutions, as well as decreased amounts of pro-fibrotic factors and chemokines [11]. Increased concentrations of CA125 in dialysis effluents was also suggestive of high mesothelial mass, in comparison to effluents from lactate-based fluids [12]. These indices of decreased peritoneal injury translated into improved preservation of ultrafiltration capacity in longterm observations [2,13].

Better preservation of peritoneal membrane with bicarbonate-based solutions is also thought to be responsible for decreased incidence of peritoneal infections, reported by some authors [14]. In the present study there were no episodes of dialysis-associated peritonitis in either of the groups. However, the observation was limited to 24 weeks. To evaluate the potential impact of bicarbonate-based fluids on the risk of infections and on the membrane function, longer follow-ups are certainly needed.

Conclusion

International guidelines advocate the use of bicarbonate buffered solutions for peritoneal dialysis. Recommendations for adults (issued by the International Society for Peritoneal Dialysis) and for children (European Pediatric Dialysis Working Group) are especially strong for patients with acute kidney injury [15-16]. However, despite these guidelines and national registration, these fluids have not been used in Poland so far. This study might serve as a contribution to our understanding and experience with bicarbonate buffered solutions in the treatment of PD patients. It confirmed that such fluids are safe, well-tolerated, and do not impair the indices of dialysis adequacy. The study limitations include small sample size and a relatively short observation time of 24 weeks. Given their higher price, long-term studies with large patient groups are needed to further verify the longitudinal advantages of these biocompatible solutions in peritoneal dialysis patients.

Disclosures

In the years 2007-2019 DBO, PJ, MLN were employed by Fresenius NephroCare.

References

Holmes CJ, Faict D. Peritoneal dialysis solution biocompatibility: Definitions and evaluation strategies. Kidney Int [Internet]. 2003 Dec;64:S50–6. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1755.2003.08806.x</u>

- Weiss L, Stegmayr B, Malmsten G, Tejde M, Hadimeri H, Siegert CE, et al. Biocompatibility and tolerability of a purely bicarbonate-buffered peritoneal dialysis solution. Perit Dial Int [Internet]. 2009;29(6):647–55. Available from: <u>http://www.pdiconnect.com/content/29/6/647.short</u>
- Feriani M. Twenty Years of Bicarbonate Solutions. In: Peritoneal Dialysis-State-of-the-Art 2012 [Internet]. Karger Publishers; 2012. p. 1–5. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000337789</u>
- Feriani M, Biasioli S, Borin D, Brendolan A, Gargantini L, Chiaramonte S, et al. Bicarbonate solutions for peritoneal dialysis: a reality. Int J Artif Organs [Internet]. 1985 Jan;8(1):57–8. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2982743</u>
- Coles GA, Gokal R, Ogg C, Jani F, O'donoghue DT, Cancarini GC, et al. A randomized controlled trial of a bicarbonate-and a bicarbonate/lactate-containing dialysis solution in CAPD. Perit Dial Int [Internet]. 1997;17(1):48–51. Available from: <u>http://www.pdiconnect.com/content/17/1/48.short</u>
- Mactier RA, Sprosen TS, Gokal R, Williams PF, Lindbergh M, Naik RB, et al. Bicarbonate and bicarbonate/lactate peritoneal dialysis solutions for the treatment of infusion pain. Kidney Int [Internet]. 1998 Apr;53(4):1061–7. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1755.1998.00849.x</u>
- Feriani M, Kirchgessner J, La Greca G, Passlick-Deetjen J, Bicarbonate CAPD Cooperative Group. Randomized long-term evaluation of bicarbonate-buffered CAPD solution. Kidney Int [Internet]. 1998 Nov;54(5):1731–8. Available from: <u>https:// doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1755.1998.00167.x</u>
- Boen ST. Kinetics of peritoneal dialysis: a comparison with the artificial kidney. Medicine (Baltimore) [Internet]. 1961;40(3):243–88. Available from: <u>https://journals.lww.com/md-journal/Citation/1961/09000/KINETICS_OF_PERITO-NEAL_DIALYSIS_A_comparison_with.1.aspx</u>
- Chang TI, Oh HJ, Kang EW, Yoo T-H, Shin SK, Kang S-W, et al. A Low Serum Bicarbonate Concentration as a Risk Factor for Mortality in Peritoneal Dialysis Patients. James LR, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. 2013 Dec 12;8(12):e82912. Available from: <u>https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0082912</u>
- 10. Ogata S, Mori M, Tatsukawa Y, Kiribayashi K, Yorioka N. Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor, fibroblast growth factor, and lactate dehydrogenase by human peritoneal mesothelial cells in solutions with lactate or bicarbonate or both. Adv Perit Dial [Internet]. 2006;22:37–40. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16983936
- Fernández–Perpén A, Pérez–Lozano ML, Bajo M, Albar–Vizcaino P, Correa PS, Del Peso G, et al. Influence of bicarbonate/ low-GDP peritoneal dialysis fluid (BicaVera) on in vitro and ex vivo epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition of mesothelial cells. Perit Dial Int [Internet]. 2012;32(3):292–304. Available from: <u>http://www.pdiconnect.com/content/32/3/292.short</u>
- Theodoridis M, Thodis E, Tsigalou C, Pappi R, Roumeliotis A, Georgoulidou A, et al. Alterations of dialysate markers in chronic peritoneal dialysis patients treated with the new less bioincompatible bicarbonate solutions. Perit Dial Int [Internet]. 2011;31(2):196–9. Available from: <u>http://www.pdiconnect.com/content/31/2/196.extract</u>
- Schmitt CP, Nau B, Gemulla G, Bonzel KE, Hölttä T, Testa S, et al. Effect of the Dialysis Fluid Buffer on Peritoneal Membrane Function in Children. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol [Internet]. 2013 Jan;8(1):108–15. Available from: <u>http://cjasn.asnjournals.org/lookup/doi/10.2215/CJN.00690112</u>
- Montenegro J, Saracho R, Gallardo I, Martinez I, Munoz R, Quintanilla N. Use of pure bicarbonate-buffered peritoneal dialysis fluid reduces the incidence of CAPD peritonitis. Nephrol Dial Transplant [Internet]. 2007 Mar 19;22(6):1703–8. Available from: <u>https://academic.oup.com/ndt/article-lookup/doi/10.1093/ndt/gfl848</u>
- Cullis B, Abdelraheem M, Abrahams G, Balbi A, Cruz DN, Frishberg Y, et al. Peritoneal dialysis for acute kidney injury. Perit Dial Int [Internet]. 2014;34(5):494–517. Available from: <u>http://www.pdiconnect.com/content/34/5/494.short</u>
- Schmitt CP, Bakkaloglu SA, Klaus G, Schröder C, Fischbach M. Solutions for peritoneal dialysis in children: recommendations by the European Pediatric Dialysis Working Group. Pediatr Nephrol [Internet]. 2011 Jul 1;26(7):1137–47. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00467-011-1863-4



Assessment of nutritional status of patients with cancer who are qualified for home enteral nutrition – a retrospective analysis

Karolina Kaźmierczak-Siedlecka¹ [©], Marcin Folwarski² [©], Barbara Jankowska³, Piotr Spychalski⁴ [©], Waldemar Szafrański³, Mariusz Baran⁵, Wojciech Makarewicz¹ [©], Ewa Bryl⁶ [©]

¹Department of Surgical Oncology, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland ²Department of Clinical Nutrition and Dietetics, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland ³Nutritional Counselling Centre Copernicus in Gdańsk, Poland ⁴Department of General, Endocrine and Transplant Surgery, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland ⁵Division of Biostatistics and Neural Networks, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland

⁶Department of Pathology and Experimental Rheumatology, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland

Abstract

Introduction: Patients with cancer are at risk of malnutrition. The aim of this study was to assess the nutritional status of patients with cancer who are qualified for home enteral nutrition. Secondary aim is to compare the nutritional status of patients with gastric cancer and with esophageal cancer. **Materials and methods:** Retrospective analysis of medical documentation of 84 participants with cancer who were qualified for home enteral nutrition in Nutritional Counseling Center Copernicus in Gdansk in 2009-2015 was performed. Assessment of nutritional status included body mass index, the level of total protein and albumin in blood serum, total lymphocyte count, and the Nutritional Risk Score (NRS) 2002. **Results:** Patients with gastric cancer most often presented albumin deficiency in comparison with patients with esophageal cancer (p = 0.02). The low level of total lymphocyte count in 1mm3 of peripheral blood was observed in 47.6% participants. All the patients qualified for home enteral nutrition received at least 3 points in NRS 2002 and most often 5 points (40.4%). **Conclusions:** All patients required nutritional treatment. Notwithstanding, the nutritional status of patients with esophageal cancer.

Keywords: home enteral nutrition · cancer · nutritional status · malnutrition

Citation

Kaźmierczak-Siedlecka K, Folwarski M, Jankowska B, Spychalski P, Szafrański W, Baran M, Makarewicz W, Bryl E. Assessment of nutritional status of patients with cancer who are qualified for home enteral nutrition – a retrospective analysis. Eur J Transl Clin Med. 2020;3(1):16-23. DOI: 10.31373/ejtcm/120583

Corresponding author: Karolina Kaźmierczak-Siedlecka, Department of Surgical Oncology, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland e-mail: leokadia@gumed.edu.pl No external funds. Available online: <u>www.ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl</u> Copyright ® Medical University of Gdańsk This is Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International.



Introduction

According to ESPEN, malnutrition is a condition that results from lack or insufficient consumption and absorption of macro- and micronutrients and energy derived from dietary substances. It leads to impairment of physical and mental body functions, decreases the quality of life, increases the costs of treatment and risk of death [1]. Enteral nutrition is carried out using an artificially created access to the alimentary tract (feeding tube) of patients who do not cover > 60% of their need for protein and calories orally for at least one week. The reduction of food intake may be the result of the functional and structural alterations in the upper part of the alimentary tract [2]. A particular kind of nutritional intervention is home enteral nutrition (HEN), indicated for patients with a properly functioning alimentary tract who do not require hospitalization (hence postpyloric feeding in patients with gastric stasis) [3]. It was observed that 75% of people qualified for HEN suffer from malnutrition [4]. The main aims of home enteral nutrition are to improve the nutritional status, shorten hospital stay as well as to improve quality of life [2, 5-6]. The results of a study by Walewska et al. showed that application of HEN improves the parameters of nutritional status such as total lymphocyte count, transferrin and albumin concentration as well as the body mass index (BMI) [2]. According to other trials, HEN reduces the risk of malnutrition and improves the quality of life of patients who underwent esophagostomy [7-8]. An appropriate nutritional treatment is particularly significant in patients with cancer who most often suffer from malnutrition and cachexia [9]. Malnutrition is mainly observed in patients with pancreatic, gastric, esophageal, head as well as neck cancer [10]. It is estimated that 4-23% of patients die from cachexia [11]. With the use of NRS 2002 system, Sznajder et al. demonstrated that malnutrition occurs in case of 30% of patients who are admitted to a clinical oncology ward [11]. Similar results were obtained by Planas et al. who observed that upon admission to the hospital, 34% of cancer patients (various types of cancer, e.g. head, neck, pancreatic, hepatic) suffer from malnutrition, whereas at the moment of charge from the hospital, this number increases to 36% [12]. According to the another study, malnutrition is observed 52% patients with upper alimentary tract cancer [13]. The differences between the results of the above-cited studies seem to suggest that the higher the cancer is located in the alimentary tract, the faster and more frequently the protein-calorie malnutrition develops [14]. The causes of malnutrition include loss of appetite and eating disorders that are due to chronic inflammation and pain during swallowing caused by tumor growth. In case of people who suffer from alimentary tract cancers (e.g. who underwent gastric or bowel resection), malnutrition may also be caused

by impaired nutrient absorption [15]. However, cancer cachexia is more complex phenomenon. Several pathomechanisms are involved in the development of cancer cachexia and cytokines/cachectic factors such as TNF- α , IL-1, IL-6, INF, STAT3 have an important part [16-17].

According to the ESPEN (European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism) guidelines, the nutritional status of patients with cancer receiving home enteral nutrition should be evaluated during the qualification for HEN with the use of anthropometric measurements (BMI and potentially body composition analysis), laboratory tests (total serum protein, albumin, prealbumin and transferrin concentration, total lymphocyte count) as well as with the use of tool, e.g. NRS 2002 (Nutritional Risk Score 2002), SGA (Subjective Global Assessment) or MUST (Malnutrition Universal Screening Tool) [5, 18-20].

The primary aim of this study is to assess the nutritional status of patients with gastric and esophageal cancer who are qualified for home enteral nutrition. An additional aim is to compare the nutritional status of patients with gastric and esophageal cancer.

Materials and methods

This is a retrospective analysis of medical documentation of patients with cancer who were qualified by the staff of the Nutrition Counseling Center Copernicus (Gdańsk, Poland) for home enteral nutrition in the years 2009-2015. The inclusion criteria: age \geq 18 years of age, feeding tube, qualification for HEN and diagnosed cancer. The exclusion criteria were as follows: < 18 years of age, lack of feeding tube, diagnosed non-cancer disease, incomplete data. A flow diagram of the participants is presented on the Figure 1.



Figure 1. Participants flow diagram

The nutritional status was assessed using the BMI, level of total serum protein, albumin and the total lymphocyte count. The anthropometric and laboratory parameters as well as NRS 2002 tool were carried as part of the home enteral nutrition qualification procedure.

The patients were divided according to the type of cancer they were diagnosed with. All variables analyzed in this study were quantitative. The descriptive statistics were carried out with the use of averages, medians, standard deviations, maximum and minimum values. Only the groups of \geq 10 patients were selected for the analysis carried out with statistical tests. The remaining patients were excluded due to insufficient number and disproportion in comparison with the statistically-tested groups. The Shapiro-Wilk test was applied to check the normality of distribution of populations subject to research. The Brown-Forsythe test was applied in order to check the homogeneity of variations of the groups compared.

Depending on the data, we used either the U Mann-Whitney test (in case of groups where there are associated ranks), Z score (to find the test probability) or the Student's t-test (to estimate independent variance). In all cases, statistical significance was set at 0.05 and two-tailed test comparison values were calculated on the basis of an assumed null hypotheses regarding lack of differences between respective averages, variances and distributions compared. The calculations were carried out using the Statistica software, version 13.1 (Dell Inc., USA).

Results

The characteristics of study participants are presented in Table 1. After the inclusion and exclusion criteria were applied, 84 patients with gastric and esophageal cancer in the range of 48-93 years of age (median = 68 years of age) were considered. Assessment of patients with gastric cancer (53.6%) and esophageal cancer (46.4%) was distinguished. The characteristics of patients who qualified for analysis are shown in Table 2.

The most frequently used feeding tube was jejunostomy (54.8%) and microjejunostomy (29.8%). In case of patients with gastric cancer, the jejunostomy (64.4%) was the most frequently applied. In case of patients with esophageal cancer the jejunostomy (43.6%) and microjejunostomy (30.8%) were the most frequently applied feeding tubes.

The average value of BMI in all patients was 20.9 ± 3.6 (median of 20.9 kg/m², min. value of 13.2 kg/m², max. value of 29 kg/m²). Among all participants, the largest groups were patients with normal BMI (48.8%, defined as 18.5-25 kg/m²) and underweight (32.2%, BMI < 18.5

Table 1. Characteristisc of all participants

Patients (n = 108)			
Age (years	5)		
Range	36-93		
Average	66.8 ± 10.6		
Median	67		
Diagnosis (%)		
Gastric cancer	41.7		
Esophageal cancer	37		
Throat cancer	7.4		
Laryngeal cancer	3.7		
Pancreatic cancer	2.8		
Tongue cancer	2.8		
Breast cancer	1.9		
Colorectal cancer	0.9		
Palate cancer	0.9		
Prostate cancer	0.9		
Artificial access to the alin	nentary tract (%)		
Nasogastric tube	3.7		
PEG	12		
Gastrostomy	7.5		
Microjejunostomy	25.9		
Jejunostomy	50.9		

kg/m²). Participants with gastric cancer most often presented normal BMI (48.9%) and underweight (26.7%). In case of people with esophageal cancer, normal BMI (48.7%) and underweight (38.5%) were observed. No statistical difference was found between patients with Table 2. Characteristics of participantswith gastric and esophageal cancer

Patients (n = 84)				
Age (years	5)			
Range	48-93			
Average	68 ± 10.1			
Median	68			
Diagnosis (%)				
Gastric cancer	53.6			
Esophageal cancer	46.4			
Artificial access to the alin	nentary tract (%)			
Nasogastric tube	2.4			
PEG	9.4			
Gastrostomy	3.6			
Microjejunostomy	29.8			
Jejunostomy	54.8			

Laboratory parameters	All participants (%)	Gastric cancer (%)	Esophageal cancer (%)	Р
Total protein (g/l)	n = 84	n = 45	n = 39	
< 60	23.8	35.6	10.3	0.24
60-80	71.4	57.7	87.2	0.24
> 80	4.8	6.7	2.5	
Albumin (g/l)	n = 84	n = 45	n = 39	
< 25	2.4	4.4	0	0.02
25-30	11.9	17.8	5.1	0.02
30-35	26.2	31.1	20.5	
> 35	59.5	46.7	74.4	

Table 3. Characteristics of patients with gastric and esophageal cancer regarding total serum protein (g/I) and serum albumin (g/I) levels

gastric and esophageal cancer regarding BMI the (p = 0.18). Regarding the ESPEN guidelines about patients > 70 years of age, it was noted that 26.2% of those patients have BMI < 22 kg/m^2 .

The data obtained regarding the total serum protein and albumin level was shown in Table 3. Majority of participants had normal total serum protein (71.4%) and albumin (59.5%) levels. Patients with gastric cancer more often presented protein deficiency in comparison to patients with esophageal cancer, however this was not a statistically significant difference (p =0.24). The deficiency of albumin was observed more frequently in patients with gastric cancer and this difference was statistically significant (p = 0.02; Graph 1).

The normal level of total lymphocyte count in (> 1500 in 1 mm³) was noted in 52.4% of patients with gastric and esophageal cancer (table 4). Analysis of this parameter did not show a statistically significant difference between patients with gastric and esophageal cancer (p = 0.94).



Graph 1. The comparison of albumin level in patients with esophageal and gastric cancer

Total lymphocyte count in 1mm ³	All participants (%)	Gastric cancer (%)	Esophageal cancer (%)	Р
peripheral blood	n = 84	n = 45	n = 39	
> 1500	52.4	51.1	53.9	
1500-1200	15.5	24.3	5.1	0.94
800-1200	17.8	13.3	23	
< 800	14.3	11.1	18	

Table 4. Characteristics of patients with gastric and esophageal cancer regarding the total lymphocyte count

Among all participants, the largest group constituted patients who received 5 points in NRS 2002 tool (40.4%). Patients with gastric cancer most often received 5 points, while patients with esophageal cancer - 4 points (Table 5). It was not a statistically significant difference (p = 0.53).

qualified for HEN. Furthermore, there are not many studies regarding the nutritional status of patients treated using HEN. One of the limitations of our study is non-homogenous population. Moreover, this study did not include the stage of disease. The results may be different if patients with the same type of neoplasm are assessed.

Among the anthropometric measurements used in the assessment of nutritional status,

BMI deserves attention. Our results were similar to those obtained by Walewska et al., who noted that BMI at the start of HEN was $19.4 \pm 4.3 \text{ kg/m2}$ [2]. In our study we showed that malnutrition assessed on the basis of BMI was observed among 32.2% of cancer patients, whereas Bruzgielewicz et al reported 41% [21]. Anthropometric measurement is a cheap and simple method, however such measurements should only be a part of complex assessment of nutritional status. This is particularly true for patients with edema which leads to a significant increase in BMI. The gold standard is body mass composition analysis, which includes lean body mass, fat mass

Discussion

There is a lack of data from Poland about the nutritional status of gastric and esophageal cancer patients

> and total body water. In some cases, weight loss may be caused by reduction of lean body mass. According to the GLIM Criteria for diagnosing of Stage 1 or Stage 2 malnutrition only one phenotypic and one etiologic criterion needs to be fulfilled. To assess patients regarding this criteria, unintentional weight loss during last months is necessary; however, it is a retrospective analysis of patients' documentation that do not include this data [22]. Therefore, this is an additional limitation of this study.

Table 5. Characteristics of patients with gastric and esophageal cancer regarding the NRS 2002 system

NRS 2002 (points)	All participants (%)	Gastric cancer (%)	Esophageal cancer (%)	Р
	n = 84	n = 45	n = 39	
< 3	0	0	0	
3	3.6	4.4	2.6	
4	31	22.2	41	0.53
5	40.4	51.1	28.2	
6	25	22.3	28.2	
7	0	0	0	

Table 6. Statistical comparison of nutritional parametersof patients with gastric and esophageal cancer

Esophageal cancer (average, standard deviation)		Gastric cance standard d	er (average, leviation)	Р
		BMI*		
20.3 ±	3.3	21.4 ±	= 3.9	0.18
	Total s	erum protein*		<u>.</u>
66.8 ±	5.8	64.5 ±	± 6.5	0.24
	Seru	m albumin*		
38 ±	5.1	34.8 ±	± 6.5	0.02
Median Esophageal cancer	Quartile range Esophageal cancer	Median Quartil Stomach Stomac cancer cance		Р
	NF	RS 2002**		
5 2		5	1	0.53
Total lymphocyte count**				
1566	1063.6	1580.6	731.7	0.94

^{*}t Student test (independent variance estimation)

**U Mann-Whitney Test

The assessment of nutritional status should include laboratory tests that may be divided into biochemical (level of total protein, albumin, prealbumin and transferrin in blood serum) and immunological (total lymphocyte count) [7, 10, 13]. Similar results to ours were noted in a study by Walewska et al., where the average albumin concentration was 3.46 g/l, which indicates low malnutrition at the moment of initiation of home enteral nutrition [2]. According to Szczepanik et al., deficiency of albumin was observed in case of 17% patients who suffer from alimentary tract cancer [23]. According to own research, albumin deficiency most often occurred in patients with gastric cancer in comparison with patients with esophageal cancer. The level of serum albumin directly reflects the nutritional status of a patient. Their level is affected not only by supply of protein in diet, but also by the presence of

inflammation and level of body hydration. However, albumins are proteins with long half-life period of 21 days, therefore they are not used to determine very fast changes that occur during nutritional therapy [10]. It is noteworthy that laboratory parameters are only complementary with other methods of nutritional status assessment of patients with gastric as well as esophageal cancer.

Regarding the total lymphocyte count, our results were similar to those presented by Walewska et al. study; the average total lymphocyte count at the moment of initiation of HEN was 1906/mm3, so it was normal [2]. In turn, the symptoms of malnutrition on an insignificant, moderate or severe level were observed in 34.3% of patients. Comparable results were also obtained in Szczepanik et al. trial, where the deficiency of total lymphocyte count

was observed in 42.3% of patients with alimentary tract cancer [23]. According to the Bruzgielewicz et al. study, the low level of total lymphocyte count was observed in 37% of patients with laryngeal and lower throat cancer [21]. Lower level of lymphocytes is a result of lower synthesis and immunosuppression related to malnutrition. An additional limitation of our study is that we did not assess the role of lymphocytes in nutritional status because the subpopulations of T cells were not included in the methodology.

Complex assessment of nutritional status should cover standardized tool such as NRS, SGA or MUST [1]. It is known that PG-SGA (Patient Generated Subjective Global Assessment) method is one of the best to assess nutritional status, because it includes among other edemas, unintentional weight loss during last 6 months and even 2 weeks, alterations in food intake [24]. Moreover, the SGA tool is more appropriate to assess the nutritional status mainly of patients with cancer in which the malnutrition may be develop in short period [20]. The patient documentation available for our analysis contained only the NRS 2002 scores, thus it is another limitation of this study. Among all patients, the largest group was patients who received 5 points (40.5%). All patients qualified for HEN received \geq 3 points in NRS 2002, which indicates a need for nutritional treatment.

The limitations of our retrospective study present the lack of appropriate assessment of nutritional status of patients with cancer in clinical practice in Poland. The body composition analysis should be performed and the unintentional weight loss during last months should be noted, therefore the role of clinical nutritionist should also be taken into consideration.

Conclusions

The assessment of patients' nutritional status during qualification for home enteral nutrition is required to identify patients at risk of malnutrition or malnourished. It is necessary to introduce an appropriate nutritional treatment and prevent the consequence of malnutrition. In the present study, the nutritional status of patients qualified for HEN varied. Most patients were characterized by normal BMI, normal total serum protein and albumin level as well as normal total lymphocyte count. Hypoalbuminemia was observed more often in patients with gastric cancer in comparison with patients with esophageal cancer. All patients required nutritional treatment.

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

References

- Arends J, Bachmann P, Baracos V, Barthelemy N, Bertz H, Bozzetti F, et al. ESPEN guidelines on nutrition in cancer patients. Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2017;36(1):11–48. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2016.07.015</u>
- Walewska E, Sumlet M, Ścisło L, Kłęk S, Szczepanik AM, Czupryna A. Nutritional status of patients receiving home enteral nutrition. Pielęgniarstwo Chir i Angiol Vasc Nurs [Internet]. 2011;(2):60–9. Available from: <u>https://www.termedia.pl/</u> <u>Nutritional-status-of-patients-receiving-home-enteral-nutrition,50,16755,0,1.html</u>
- 3. Gramlich L, Hurt R, Jin J, Mundi M. Home enteral nutrition: towards a standard of care. Nutrients [Internet]. 2018 Aug 4;10(8):1020. Available from: https://doi.org/10.3390/nu10081020
- Villar Taibo R, Martínez Olmos M-Á, Bellido Guerrero D, Vidal Casariego A, Peinó García R, Martís Sueiro A, et al. Epidemiology of home enteral nutrition: an approximation to reality. Nutr Hosp [Internet]. 2018 May 7;35(3):511–8. Available from: http://revista.nutricionhospitalaria.net/index.php/nh/article/view/1799
- Gavazzi C, Colatruglio S, Valoriani F, Mazzaferro V, Sabbatini A, Biffi R, et al. Impact of home enteral nutrition in malnourished patients with upper gastrointestinal cancer: A multicentre randomised clinical trial. Eur J Cancer [Internet]. 2016 Sep;64:107–12. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0959804916321992</u>
- 6. Lee JLC, Leong LP, Lim SL. Nutrition intervention approaches to reduce malnutrition in oncology patients: a systematic review. Support Care Cancer [Internet]. 2016;24(1):469–80. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-015-2958-4
- Wu Z, Wu M, Wang Q, Zhan T, Wang L, Pan S, et al. Home enteral nutrition after minimally invasive esophagectomy can improve quality of life and reduce the risk of malnutrition. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2018;27(1):129. Available from: <u>https://search.informit.com.au/documentSummary;dn=288244823399816;res=IELAPA</u>
- Zeng J, Hu J, Chen Q, Feng J. Home enteral nutrition's effects on nutritional status and quality of life after esophagectomy. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2017;26(5):804. Available from: <u>https://search.informit.com.au/documentSummary;d-n=017507751018170;res=IELIAC</u>
- Kłęk S, Jankowski M, Kruszewski WJ, Fijuth J, Kapała A, Kabata P, et al. Clinical nutrition in oncology: Polish recommendations. Oncol Clin Pract [Internet]. 2015;11(4):173–90. Available from: <u>https://journals.viamedica.pl/oncology_in_clinical_practice/article/view/43103</u>
- 10. Kwella B, Urbanowicz K. Kwalifikacja do domowego leczenia żywieniowego chorych z rozpoznaniem choroby nowotworowej. Postępy Żywienia Klin. 2017;13:49–55.
- 11. Sznajder J, Ślefarska-Wasilewska M. Ocena stanu odżywienia pacjentów przyjmowanych do Oddziału Onkologii Klinicznej przy użyciu powszechnie używanych skal: NRS2002 i SGA. Postępy Żywienia Klin Clin Nutr. 2014;10(4):15–7.
- Planas M, Álvarez-Hernández J, León-Sanz M, Celaya-Pérez S, Araujo K, De Lorenzo AG. Prevalence of hospital malnutrition in cancer patients: a sub-analysis of the PREDyCES[®] study. Support Care Cancer [Internet]. 2016;24(1):429–35. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00520-015-2813-7</u>
- Attar A, Malka D, Sabaté JM, Bonnetain F, Lecomte T, Aparicio T, et al. Malnutrition Is high and underestimated during chemotherapy in gastrointestinal cancer: an AGEO prospective cross-sectional multicenter study. Nutr Cancer [Internet]. 2012 May 1;64(4):535–42. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01635581.2012.670743</u>

- Szczygieł B. Niedożywienie u chorych na raka przełyku: występowanie, przyczyny, następstwa, rozpoznanie, leczenie. Nowotwory J Oncol [Internet]. 2010;60(5):436. Available from: <u>https://journals.viamedica.pl/nowotwory_journal_of_oncology/article/download/52171/38904</u>
- Tokajuk A, Car H, Wojtukiewicz M. Problem niedożywienia u chorych na nowotwory. Med Paliatywna w Prakt [Internet]. 2015;9(1):23–9. Available from: <u>https://journals.viamedica.pl/palliative_medicine_in_practice_/article/download/43708/30039</u>
- Donohoe CL, Ryan AM, Reynolds J V. Cancer cachexia: mechanisms and clinical implications. Gastroenterol Res Pract [Internet]. 2011;1–13. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/601434</u>
- 17. Aoyagi T, Terracina KP, Raza A, Matsubara H, Takabe K. Cancer cachexia, mechanism and treatment. World J Gastrointest Oncol [Internet]. 2015;7(4):17–29. Available from: <u>http://www.wjgnet.com/1948-5204/full/v7/i4/17.htm</u>
- Fizia K, Gętek M, Czech N, MUuc-Wierzgoń M, Nowakowska-Zajdel EWA. Metody oceny stanu odżywienia u chorych na nowotwory. Pielęgniarstwo Pol [Internet]. 2013;105. Available from: <u>pielegniarstwo.ump.edu.pl/uploads/2013/2/2 48 2013.pdf#page=39</u>
- Prevost V, Joubert C, Heutte N, Babin E. Assessment of nutritional status and quality of life in patients treated for head and neck cancer. Eur Ann Otorhinolaryngol Head Neck Dis [Internet]. 2014;131(2):113–20. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anorl.2013.06.007</u>
- 20. Stasik Z, Skotnicki P, Jakubowicz J, Brandys K, Kulpa JK. Biochemiczne wskaźniki niedożywienia u chorych na nowotwory. J Lab Diagn [Internet]. 2009;45(1):91. Available from: <u>http://diagnostykalaboratoryjna.eu/journal/DL_1-2009._str_91-95.pdf</u>
- Bruzgielewicz A, Hamera M, Osuch-Wójcikiewicz E. Nutritional status of patients with cancer of larynx and hypopharyx. Otolaryngol Pol Polish Otolaryngol [Internet]. 2009;63(2):141–6. Available from: <u>https://europepmc.org/article/med/19681485</u>
- Cederholm T, Jensen GL, Correia MITD, Gonzalez MC, Fukushima R, Higashiguchi T, et al. GLIM criteria for the diagnosis of malnutrition–A consensus report from the global clinical nutrition community. J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle [Internet]. 2019;10(1):207–17. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jcsm.12383</u>
- 23. Szczepanik AM, Walewska E, Ścisło L, Kózka M, Kłęk S, Czupryna A, et al. Ocena występowania niedożywienia u chorych z nowotworami złośliwymi przewodu pokarmowego. Probl Pielęgniarstwa [Internet]. 2010;18(4):384–92. Available from: <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/6f30/4773bf9b4958f4e1ca27404077805dd53bcd.pdf</u>
- 24. Ottery FD. Definition of standardized nutritional assessment and interventional pathways in oncology. Nutrition [Internet]. 1996;12(1):S15–9. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0899-9007(95)00067-4</u>

Risk factors of acute respiratory distress syndrome after on-pump cardiac surgery in the INFLACOR cohort study

Maciej Michał Kowalik¹ (), Romuald Lango¹ (), Andrzej Łoś² (), Magdalena Chmara³ (), Maciej Brzeziński² (), Krzysztof Lewandowski⁴ (), Andrzej Klapkowski² (), Jan Rogowski² ()

¹Department of Cardiac Anaesthesiology, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland ²Department of Cardiac & Vascular Surgery, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland ³Department of Biology and Medical Genetics, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland ⁴Department of Clinical Chemistry and Biochemistry, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland

Abstract

Background: Acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) is a serious complication after cardiac surgery with a variety of clinical risk factors. It was hypothesized that genome variants predispose these patients to it. **Material and methods:** A cohort of 509 adult Caucasians undergoing on-pump cardiac surgery were observed for postoperative ARDS defined by the Berlin definition. Clinical variables and 10 single-nucleotide variants of genes involved in inflammatory pathways were analyzed for associations with four groups, defined by paO2/fiO2 (PF) ratio: 1) no ARDS (PF > 300 mmHg), 2) mild ARDS (200 < PF ≤ 300 mm Hg), 3) moderate ARDS (100 < PF ≤ 200 mm Hg), and 4) severe ARDS (PF ≤ 100 mmHg). Variables remaining in trends at p < 0.05 were considered significant. **Results:** The prevalence of ARDS was 7.9%. Only *LBP* rs2232582 remained in a genotypic trend with ARDS aggravation (p = 0.08). Clinical variables associated with ARDS aggravation: impaired left ventricular ejection fraction (p = 0.04), pulmonary hypertension (p = 0.01), intraoperative hypotension (p = 0.009), and postoperative day 1 white blood cell count (p = 0.015). More aggravated ARDS was associated with longer mechanical ventilation (p=0.01) and length of stay in ICU (p = 0.002). **Conclusions:** The borderline association with *LBP* rs2232582 and the identified risk factors suggest possible involvement of the LPS-LBP pathway in ARDS of the INFLACOR cohort.

Keywords: cardiac surgery • acute respiratory distress syndrome • cardiopulmonary bypass • LBP rs2232582

Citation

Kowalik MM, Lango R, Łoś A, Chmara M, Brzeziński M, Lewandowski K, Klapkowski A, Rogowski J. Risk factors of acute respiratory distress syndrome after on-pump cardiac surgery in the INFLACOR cohort study. Eur J Transl Clin Med. 2020;3(1):24-33. DOI: 10.31373/ejtcm/122681

Corresponding author: Maciej Michał Kowalik, Department of Cardiac Anaesthesiology, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland e-mail: mkowalik@gumed.edu.pl Funded from grant NN40318181534. Available online: www.ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl Copyright ® Medical University of Gdańsk This is Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International.



Introduction

Early postoperative morbidity after open-chest cardiac surgery is responsible for prolonged hospital stay, increased treatment costs and higher early mortality [1-5]. Postoperative respiratory failure (PRF) is considered one of the most important early postoperative complications after cardiac surgery [6].

In non-cardiac surgical patients, PRF defined as acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) is most commonly associated with infection [7-8]. Whereas in cardiac surgical patients, inflammatory reactions triggered by the release of non-infectious antigens due to intraoperative gut and lung hypoperfusion during cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB), cell injury, blood contact with artificial surfaces, and blood product transfusion-related immune reactions are considered as the major pathological pathways which lead through massive cytokine release to postoperative ARDS and other organ dysfunction [9-11]. Mortality risk prediction models used in cardiac surgery, such as the EuroSCORE II model, were also shown to be effective in predicting specific postoperative morbidities, e.g. acure kidney injury (AKI) and PRF [12-13].

In addition to the identified clinical risk factors for postoperative morbidity, genome variants were considered to be useful in the prediction of specific postoperative complications after cardiac surgery [14-16]. Genetic association studies in cardiac surgical cohorts reported that single-nucleotide variants (SNVs) of the interleukin 6 (IL6), intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM1), E-selectin (SELE), C-reactive protein (CRP), and lipopolysaccharide binding protein (LBP) genes were associated with perioperative myocardial infarction (MI), AKI, bleeding, or cognitive impairment after coronary artery bypass graft surgery [17-21]. Other complications, such as bacteremia, AKI, and ARDS, were reported to be associated with SNVs of nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2 (NOD2), toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), mannose-binding protein-associated serine protease 2 (MASP2), nitric oxide synthase 3 (NOS3), and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) genes in non-cardiac surgical intensive care unit (ICU) patients [22-24].

The aim of this study was to test the hypothesis that selected SNVs of genes activated during the inflammatory response in humans may be associated with postoperative ARDS after on-pump cardiac surgery.

Material and methods

The prospective observational genetic association study INFLACOR (INFLammation After Cardiac OpeRation) was designed and conducted to evaluate the risk factors for 8 postoperative complications in patients undergoing open-heart cardiac surgery on cardiopulmonary bypass. The clinical variables, 4 selected cytokines and 10 SNVs were compared between patient groups. Adult Caucasian patients scheduled for open-heart surgery between October 22, 2009, and March 16, 2011, who signed informed consent were included. Patients scheduled for off-pump procedures, those with previous open-chest cardiac surgery and those who underwent emergency operations were excluded. The study protocol was approved by local Bioethics Commission (NKEBN/358/2007).

The primary outcome measure was a genotypic association between any of the selected SNVs and ARDS. The ten candidate SNVs were selected from previously published genotype-phenotype associations using the candidate gene approach: IL6 - rs1800796, LBP rs2232582, ICAM1 - rs5498, CRP - rs1800947, NOD2 rs2066844, TNF - rs1800629, MASP2 - rs2273346, SELE - rs1805193, NOS3 - rs1799983, TLR4 - rs4986790. The detailed genotyping method was published elsewhere [3]. ARDS was diagnosed following the so-called "Berlin definition" as the presence of bilateral lung infiltrates on chest X-ray (CXR) within 48 hours after operation combined with a mean paO_{3}/fiO_{3} ratio (PF) \leq 300 mm Hg on mechanical ventilation and in absence of cardiogenic pulmonary edema [25]. The mean PF was calculated from all blood gas measurements performed on mechanical ventilation during the first postoperative day. Patients were assigned to one of four groups of disease severity according to the level of hypoxaemia: 1) no ARDS (PF > 300 mmHg), 2) mild ARDS (200 < PF \leq 300 mm Hg), $3) \text{ moderate ARDS} (100 < PF \le 200 \text{ mmHg})$, and 4) severe ARDS (PF ≤ 100 mmHg). Secondary outcome measures included associations between 43 clinical candidate variables, including 17 pre-, 19 intra-, and 7 post-operative variables (Tables S1, S2, and S3 in the Supplementary Materials). Levels of interleukin 6 (IL-6), intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM1) and soluble E-selectin (sESEL) were measured in samples obtained three hours after admission to the postoperative ICU, centrifuged and cooled immediately, and stored in deep-freeze until being assayed with bead-based flow cytometry. The detailed processing protocol is published elsewhere [3]. Outcome data included total hours on ventilator (HOV), length of stay in ICU (LOS-ICU) and hospital (LOS-HOS), as well as 30-day and 5-year survival.

Statistical methods

The original cohort size calculations were based on the Kelsey formula with assumptions of 80% of power, 95% two-sided confidence interval, and at SNP's exaggerating an effect with an odds ratio (OR) of at least 1.65. The n = 492 was rounded up to n = 525 for eventual loss of cases during the study. Genotypic association with the genotyped SNV was recognized by chi-square test for trend, when the wild-type and heterozygotic genotypes were correlated in a trend with ARDS severity, with a p \leq 0.05. Univariate analysis was used to identify the clinical risk factors for ARDS. Associations between continuous data were evaluated by either analysis of variance (ANOVA; A) or the Kruskal-Wallis (KW) test, depending on the data variance in Bartlett's test. Reported values for ANOVA or the KW tests are the mean and standard deviation (SD) or the median and interquartile range (IQR), respectively. Trends in the candidate variables between the ARDS groups with p < 0.05 were considered significant. Epi-Info 7 (CDC, Atlanta, GA, USA; free license) and Statistica 12 (Statsoft, Tulsa, OK, USA) software were used for the analyses.

Results

Clinical data, genotyping, and cytokine measurements were obtained from n = 525 patients. Of them, n = 509 (97.0%) were included in the analyses. The patient flow and reasons for exclusion from analysis are presented in Figure 1. Among the analyzed n = 509 patients, n = 40 (7.9%) met the criteria for ARDS according to the Berlin definition. Lung parenchyma infiltrates on CXR were identified in n = 73 (14.3%) patients. Sustained hypoxemia, defined by a mean PF \leq 300 mm Hg on mechanical ventilation, was diagnosed in n = 301 (59.1%) patients. Simultaneous CXR lung opacities and hypoxemia were present with mild (n = 28, 5.5%), moderate (n = 11, 2.2%) and severe (n = 1, 0.2%) intensity, which corresponded to 70%, 28%, and 2% of the ARDS patients.

Another frequent CXR finding was lung congestion and atelectasis, which were found in n = 143 (28.1%) and n = 12 (2.4%) patients respectively, however neither of them was associated with hypoxemia or ARDS worsening (tests for PF means and prevalence trends with p > 0.05).

The primary outcome sought in this analysis was a genotypic association between any of the 10 genotyped SNVs of genes involved in the human inflammatory response and the aggravation of the ARDS phenotype. Only the *LBP* rs2232582 (19983 T > C) suggested a genotypic trend, with a p = 0.08. Carriers of the recessive C allele presented with lower risk for ARDS in an additive model. However, none of the tested genetic associations reached the assumed level of significance.



Figure 1. CONSORT flow diagram of the INFLACOR trial and patient qualification for analyses on ARDS



Figure 2. Prevalence of hypoxemia, pulmonic opacities on chest X-ray, and prolonged mechanical ventilation in n = 509 patients from the INFLACOR study

Forty patients were diagnosed with ARDS upon simultaneous presentation of lung opacities on chest X-ray and sustained hypoxemia defined by pO_2/fiO_2 (PF) \leq 300 on mechanical ventilation. Of the n = 40 patients with ARDS n = 28 (70%) presented with mild hypoxemia, n = 11 (28%) with moderate hypoxemia, and n = 1 (2%) with severe hypoxemia. Patients with ARDS made up 7.9% (n = 40/509) of the whole analyzed cohort, 13.3% (n = 40/301) of patients with hypoxemia, and 54.8% (n = 40/73) of patients with a positive chest X-ray, but only 16.9% (n = 10/59) of patients ventilated for longer than 24 hours and 13.6% (n = 3/22) of patients ventilated mechanically for longer than 48 hours. The prevalence of hypoxemia, a positive chest X-ray, and mechanical ventilation > 48 hours provided in the graph was calculated for the whole cohort of n = 509 patients. The prevalence of hypoxemia levels (mild, moderate, and severe) is calculated for n = 301 patients with hypoxaemia.

A list of four risk factors was identified from the clinical candidate variables. Of the 17 analyzed pre-operative candidate variables, only impaired left ventricular ejection fraction and pulmonary hypertension were associated, with a significant trend, with ARDS aggravation.

Supplementary Table 1. Analysis of trends between preoperative candidate variables and ARDS aggravation in n = 509 patients from the INFLACOR cohort \rightarrow go to: <u>https://ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl/files/56</u>

Six categories of surgical procedures were defined based on the type and complexity of the surgery. The prevalence of ARDS did not differ between the surgical groups.

Supplementary Table 2. Analysis of trends between intra-operative candidate variables and ARDS aggravation in n = 509 patients from the INFLACOR cohort \rightarrow go to: <u>https://ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl/files/57</u>

Of the 14 intraoperative candidate variables, four – dexamethasone dose and number of transfused units of packed red blood cells, fresh frozen plasma and platelets concentrate – were analyzed both as continuous variables and after conversion into categorical variables. Significant correlations with ARDS severity were identified only for the duration of intraoperative hypotension, defined as mean arterial pressure < 60 mmHg.

Of the seven analyzed postoperative variables only the white blood cell (WBC) count showed a si-

Table 1. Analysis of genotypic trends between the single nucleotide variants of 10 genes involved into inflammatory response and ARDS aggravation in n = 509 patients from the INFLACOR cohort

No.	ARDS SNV, Genotypes	(1) n = 469 (92.1%)	(2) n = 28 (5.5%)	(3) n = 11 (2.2%)	(4) n = 1 (0.2%)	p-value for trend
1	<i>IL6</i> rs1800796 GG CG CC	420 (89.6) 44 (9.4) 5 (1.1)	23 (82.1) 5 (17.9) 0 (0)	9 (81.8) 2 (18.2) 0 (0)	1 (100) 0 (0) 0 (0)	0.171
2	<i>LBP</i> rs2232582 TT CT CC	345 (73.6) 111 (23.7) 13 (2.8)	24 (85.7) 4 (14.3) 0 (0.0)	10 (90.9) 1 (9.1) 0 (0)	1 (100) 0 (0) 0 (0)	0.08 ¹
3	<i>ICAM1</i> rs5498 AA AG GG	148 (31.6) 237 (50.5) 84 (17.9)	4 (14.3) 18 (64.3) 6 (21.4)	6 (54.6) 4 (36.4) 1 (9.1)	0 (0) 1 (100) 0 (0)	0.63 ¹ , 0.79 ²
4	<i>CRP</i> rs1800947 GG GC CC	382 (81.5) 87 (18.6) 0 (0)	23 (82.1) 5 (17.9) (0)	10 (90.9) 1 (9.1) (0)	1 (100) 0 (0) 0 (0)	0.421
5	<i>NOD2</i> rs2066844 СС СТ ТТ	437 (93.2) 32 (6.8) 0 (0)	27 (96.4) 1 (3.6) 0 (0)	11 (100) 0 (0) 0 (0)	1 (100) 0 (0) 0 (0)	0.261
6	<i>TNF</i> rs1800629 GG GA AA	340 (72.5) 121 (25.8) 8 (1.7)	21 (75.0) 7 (25.0) 0 (0)	8 (72.7) 3 (27.3) 0 (0)	1 (100) 0 (0) 0 (0)	0.821
7	<i>MASP2</i> rs2273346 TT CT CC	457 (97.4) 12 (2.6) 0 (0)	27 (96.4) 1 (3.6) 0 (0)	10 (90.9) 1 (9.1) 0 (0)	1 (100) 0 (0) 0 (0)	0.281
8	<i>SELE</i> rs1805193 GG GT TT	373 (79.5) 90 (19.2) 6 (1.3)	16 (57.1) 10 (35.7) 2 (7.1)	10 (90.9) 1 (9.1) 0 (0)	1 (100) 0 (0) 0 (0)	0.61 ¹ , 0.28 ²
9	<i>NOS3</i> rs1799983 GG GT TT	210 (44.8) 211 (45.0) 48 (10.2)	15 (53.6) 9 (32.1) 4 (14.3)	5 (45.5) 6 (54.6) 0 (0)	1 (100) 0 (0) 0 (0)	0.45 ¹ , 0.47 ²
10	<i>TLR4</i> rs4986790 AA GA GG	415 (88.5) 53 (11.3) 1 (0.2)	23 (82.1) 5 (17.9) 0 (0)	10 (90.9) 1 (9.1) 0 (0)	1 (100) 0 (0) 0 (0)	0.76 ¹

¹p-value for X² for trend with the heterozygotic (1) or homozygotic recessive (2) genotype treated as risk variable; as none test reached the assumed significance level of $p \le 0.05$, odds ratios are not provided;

ARDS – acute respiratory distress syndrome; letters: A, C, G, T – denominate respectively adenine, cytosine, guanine, thymine nucleotides in genotyped single nucleotide polymorphisms; CRP – C-reactive protein; ICAM1 – intercellular adhesion molecule 1; IL6 – interleukin 6; LBP – lipopolysaccharide binding protein; MASP2 – mannose-binding protein-associated serine protease 2; NOD2 – nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-containing protein 2; NOS3 – nitric oxide synthase 3; SELE – E-selectin, TLR4 – toll-like receptor 4; TNF – tumor necrosis factor.

gnificant trend with ARDS severity, though CRP and glucose level were close (both with a p = 0.08).

Supplementary Table 3. Analysis of trends between postoperative candidate variables and ARDS aggravation in n = 509 patients from the INFLACOR cohort \rightarrow go to: <u>https://ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl/files/58</u>

Outcome analysis

The median time of mechanical ventilation in the whole cohort was 11.9 hours (IQR: 8.5-17.9). Of the total of n = 509 patients, n = 59 (11.6%) and n = 22 (4.3%) were mechanically ventilated longer than 24 and 48 hours, respectively. Of the patients ventilated longer than 24 and 48 hours, ARDS was diagnosed in

n = 10/59 (16.9%) and n = 3/22 (13.6%), respectively. Patients with more severe ARDS required more HOV and longer LOS-ICU.

Discussion

The INFLACOR study was primarily designed as a genetic association study, following projects such as the PEGASUS and FIFA trials [3, 17, 19]. The ability to genotype selected SNVs at the turn of the millennium led to the sound hypothesis that genetic tests could improve our prediction ability of the most devastating complications of on-pump cardiac surgery [15-16, 26]. Crucial for identification of any genetic association is



Panel A. Preoperative left ventricular ejection fraction



Panel C. Intraoperative arterial hypotension (MAP ≤ 60 mmHg)

Panel D. Postoperative day 1 WBC

Figure 3. Perioperative variables associated with ARDS severity in the n = 509 INFLACOR patients: left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF; Panel A), pulmonary hypertension (Panel B), duration of intraoperative hypotension (Panel C), and postoperative day 1. white blood cell count (WBC; Panel D)



Panel B. Pulmonary hypertension



Outcome	(1) n = 469 (92.3%)	(2) n = 28 (5.5%)	(3) n = 11 (2.2%)	(4) n = 1 (0.2%)	p-value
HOV [hours] (median; IQR)	11.9 (8.5-17.5)	10.3 (7.9-14.8)	19.4 (15.7-21.8)	42.6	0.01
LOS-ICU [days] (median; IQR)	1.6 (0.9-2.8)	2.9 (1.0-5.4)	3.0 (1.0-4.8)	2.8	0.002
LOS-HOS [days] (median; IQR)	8.0 (7.0-11.0)	9.0 (7.0-13.0)	10.0 (7.0-10.0)	10.0	0.82
30-day mortality [%]	3.0	7.1	9.1	0	0.11
5-year mortality [%]	22.6	32.1	18.2	0	0.67

Table 2. Outcome variables and ARDS aggravation in n = 509 patients from the INFLACOR cohort

HOV - hours on ventilator, LOS - length of stay, ICU - intensive care unit, HOS - hospital

the precise definition and selection of the phenotypes used as outcome measures. The correct allocation into the true-positive and true-negative subgroups is the cornerstone of correct statistical results and appropriate clinical inference. In the INFLACOR study, the Berlin definition of ARDS was adopted to define the affected patients [25]. This definition defines the ARDS by the concomitant presence of pulmonary infiltrates on CXR and hypoxemia along with an absence of left ventricle failure. The Berlin definition introduces three, mutually exclusive, severity stages of the syndrome, based upon the severity of hypoxemia [25]. This continuum of disease aggravation was utilized for calculating trends for the analyzed variables in the current study. A significant association trend between a variable and ARDS aggravation was assumed to strengthen the inference over the identified risk factors. This methodology is relatively infrequent and novel in ARDS studies in cardiac surgical patients but is compatible with the recommendations from the Berlin conference on ARDS [25].

The primary outcome in this study was any genotypic association with ARDS. None of the ten tested SNVs breached the assumed significance level of a trend with ARDS severity. However, the carriers of the wildtype (T) allele in *LBP* rs2232582 presented a genotypic trend towards a higher incidence of more aggravated ARDS at a p = 0.08. This novel finding requires confir-

mation on a larger sample. The LBP rs2232582 was previously reported to be associated with postoperative MI, also with T being the risk allele [17]. The protein encoded by the LBP gene, the lipopolysaccharide binding protein (LBP), is involved in the acute-phase immunologic response to gram-negative bacterial infections. Gram-negative bacteria contain a glycolipid, lipopolysaccharide (LPS), on their outer cell wall. Together with bactericidal permeability-increasing protein, LBP binds LPS and interacts with the CD14 receptor, probably playing a role in regulating LPS-dependent monocyte responses. LPS from Gram-negative bacteria have been shown to trigger experimental ARDS in an animal model [27]. The serum level of LBP has been associated with survival in patients with ARDS and sepsis [28]. Furthermore, the LBP rs2232582 is reported to have a significant association with highly active antiretroviral-associated lipodystrophy syndrome, progressively higher bacterial translocation, serum LPS, and LBP level [29]. LPS may translocate from the patient gut microbiota during prolonged hypothermia and/or gut hypoperfusion on CPB [9].

Shock was reported to be a risk factor for ARDS after cardiac surgery by Milot et al., which is consistent with prolonged intraoperative hypotension, the sole intraoperative risk factor in our study [30]. Inflammation was an important contributor to ARDS in the INFLACOR patients, as displayed by postoperative day 1 increase in WBC, CRP and glucose levels. Hence, the role of the LPS-LBP inflammatory pathway seems to be a probable dominant pathway of ARDS in the INFLACOR cohort. Thus, a pivotal role for *LBP* rs2232582 in the pathogenesis of ARDS seems possible and probable. Unfortunately, the INFLACOR patients were not tested neither for LPS, nor for the LBP levels in serum.

Despite the lack of significant genetic associations, this study identified four clinical risk factors of ARDS using the trend analysis. A recent review of clinical studies on ARDS in cardiac surgical patients revealed a great variability of clinical risk factors [31]. While some studies identified massive transfusion as a risk factors of TRALI-ARDS (a risk factor not confirmed in the present study), other studies reported impaired left ventricular ejection fraction and/or pulmonary hypertension [31-33]. Both were found to be risk factors also in the INFLACOR study.

In cardiac surgical cohorts, it is common to utilize only the duration of mechanical ventilation to define PRF [1, 6, 13, 34]. The rates of mechanical ventilation > 24 hours of 11,3% observed in this study were similar to those in other cardiac surgical studies [4, 32-33]. The prevalence of ARDS among patients ventilated for longer than 24 hours of 16.9% and among patients ventilated for longer than 48 hours was 13.6%, which may appear low. However, an epidemiological study by Rubenfeld in a cohort of 4251 non-cardiac surgical patients ventilated for longer than 24 hour diagnosed ARDS in only 26.2% [35]. Notably, interobserver variability in the interpretation of CXR with regard to ARDS diagnosis has been emphasized an important bias [36--37]. This factor might have also influenced the discrepancy between CXR(+)-patients and ARDS-patients in the current analyses. Furthermore, it was differentiated between pulmonary congestion and lung opacities. However, a systematic differentiation between cardiogenic lung edema and ARDS was not performed. Part of the analyzed cases presented with pulmonary hypertension and impaired LVEF, thus making a cardiogenic component of the ARDS even more probable. Unfortunately, the detailed data of postoperative echocardiographic examination or pulmonary artery wedge pressure, which would allow to discriminate the two conditions, were not recorded in the study.

ARDS resulted not only in longer mechanical ventilation but also in prolonged ICU stay. However, the whole stay in the surgical department did not differ between patients with and without ARDS, as well as 30-day and 5-year mortality were also not affected. This might be the result of analyzing data only until discharge from the cardiac surgical department and not until final hospital discharge.

This study failed to confirm a statistically significant association between the ARDS phenotype and selected SNVs due to the low incidence of ARDS in the relatively small analyzed cohort. Another important limitation of our study was the lack of systematic verification of CXR interpretations for bilateral opacities. The selection of mean PF on mechanical ventilation as the measure of ARDS severity, instead of the minimal PF, maximal PF, or first-day trends in the PF, may be disputable, but the average value was considered the most reliable parameter of sustained hypoxaemia. Another important limitation is the lack of systematic discrimination between cardiogenic pulmonary edema and ARDS. Finally, the lack of a replicative cohort is an important disadvantage of the present study, however its protocol was designed before the recommendations on genetic association studies were published [38].

Conclusions

The prevalence of ARDS among the adult patients undergoing cardiac surgery on cardiopulmonary bypass was 7.9%. Identified clinical risk factors were: impaired left ventricular ejection fraction, pulmonary hypertension, intraoperative hypotension, and postoperative day 1 white blood cell count. A probable genotypic trend for *LBP* rs2232582 suggests that the role of the LPS-LBP inflammatory pathway might have played a dominant role in the pathogenesis of ARDS in the INFLACOR cohort.

Acknowledgements

The authors express their gratitude to Prof. Janusz Limon MD, PhD (Deptartment of Biology and Genetics, Medical University of Gdańsk) for his invaluable support in conducting the INFLACOR trial and to Alexandra Biedrzycka, Monika Żuk, Małgorzata Smyl, Małgorzata Szydłowska-Czyżak, and the nursing staff of the postoperative ICU at the Department of Cardiac and Vascular Surgery for their contribution to the data collection, laboratory analyses and administrative support.

Funding: Grant NN403181534 "INFLACOR" 2009-2011 from the Polish Ministry of Science and Higher Education. The authors declare no conflicts of interest. The INFLACOR study protocol was registered in the Clinical Trial database (http: clinicaltrials.gov; NCT01020409).

References

- LaPar DJ, Crosby IK, Rich JB, Fonner E, Kron IL, Ailawadi G, et al. A Contemporary Cost Analysis of Postoperative Morbidity After Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting With and Without Concomitant Aortic Valve Replacement to Improve Patient Quality and Cost-Effective Care. Ann Thorac Surg [Internet]. 2013;96(5):1621–7. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>athoracsur.2013.05.050</u>
- LaPar DJ, Speir AM, Crosby IK, Fonner E, Brown M, Rich JB, et al. Postoperative Atrial Fibrillation Significantly Increases Mortality, Hospital Readmission, and Hospital Costs. Ann Thorac Surg [Internet]. 2014;98(2):527–33. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2014.03.039
- Kowalik MM, Lango R, Siondalski P, Chmara M, Brzeziński M, Lewandowski K, et al. Clinical, biochemical and genetic risk factors for 30-day and 5-year mortality in 518 adult patients subjected to cardiopulmonary bypass during cardiac surgery the INFLACOR study. Acta Biochim Pol [Internet]. 2018;65(2):241–50. Available from: https://doi.org/10.18388/abp.2017_2361
- Huen SC, Parikh CR. Predicting Acute Kidney Injury After Cardiac Surgery: A Systematic Review. Ann Thorac Surg [Internet]. 2012;93(1):337–47. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2011.09.010</u>
- Brown CH. Delirium in the cardiac surgical ICU. Curr Opin Anaesthesiol [Internet]. 2014;27(2):117–22. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1097/aco.00000000000061
- Canver CC, Chanda J. Intraoperative and postoperative risk factors for respiratory failure after coronary bypass. Ann Thorac Surg [Internet]. 2003;75(3):853–7. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-4975(02)04493-4</u>
- Gajic O, Dabbagh O, Park PK, Adesanya A, Chang SY, Hou P, et al. Early Identification of Patients at Risk of Acute Lung Injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2011;183(4):462–70. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.201004-05490C</u>
- Opitz B, van Laak V, Eitel J, Suttorp N. Innate Immune Recognition in Infectious and Noninfectious Diseases of the Lung. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2010;181(12):1294–309. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200909-1427SO</u>
- Warren OJ, Smith AJ, Alexiou C, Rogers PLB, Jawad N, Vincent C, et al. The Inflammatory Response to Cardiopulmonary Bypass: Part 1—Mechanisms of Pathogenesis. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth [Internet]. 2009;23(2):223–31. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jvca.2008.08.007
- Warltier DC, Laffey JG, Boylan JF, Cheng DCH. The Systemic Inflammatory Response to Cardiac Surgery. Anesthesiology [Internet]. 2002 Jul;97(1):215–52. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00000542-200207000-00030</u>
- Marik PE, Corwin HL. Acute lung injury following blood transfusion: Expanding the definition. Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2008;36(11):3080–4. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/ccm.0b013e31818c3801</u>
- Roques F, Michel P, Goldstone AR, Nashef SAM. The logistic EuroSCORE. Eur Heart J [Internet]. 2003;24(9):882–3. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0195-668X(02)00799-6</u>
- Toumpoulis IK, Anagnostopoulos CE, Swistel DG, DeRose Jr JJ. Does EuroSCORE predict length of stay and specific postoperative complications after cardiac surgery? Eur J Cardio-Thoracic Surg [Internet]. 2005;27(1):128–33. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcts.2004.09.020
- 14. Stüber F, Hoeft A. The influence of genomics on outcome after cardiovascular surgery. Curr Opin Anesthesiol [Internet]. 2002;15(1). Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00001503-200202000-00002</u>
- 15. Podgoreanu M V, Schwinn DA. New Paradigms in Cardiovascular Medicine: Emerging Technologies and Practices: Perioperative Genomics. J Am Coll Cardiol [Internet]. 2005;46(11):1965–77. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2005.08.040
- Kowalik MM, Lango R. Genotype Assessment as a Tool for Improved Risk Prediction in Cardiac Surgery. J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth [Internet]. 2014;28(1):163–8. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1053/j.jvca.2013.01.002
- 17. Podgoreanu MV. Inflammatory Gene Polymorphisms and Risk of Postoperative Myocardial Infarction After Cardiac Surgery. Circulation [Internet]. 2006;114(1_suppl):I-275-I–281. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.001032
- Stafford-Smith M, Podgoreanu M, Swaminathan M, Phillips-Bute B, Mathew JP, Hauser EH, et al. Association of genetic polymorphisms with risk of renal injury after coronary bypass graft surgery. Am J Kidney Dis [Internet]. 2005;45(3):519–30. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1053/j.ajkd.2004.11.021
- Gaudino M, Di Castelnuovo A, Zamparelli R, Andreotti F, Burzotta F, Iacoviello L, et al. Genetic control of postoperative systemic inflammatory reaction and pulmonary and renal complications after coronary artery surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg [Internet]. 2003;126(4):1107–12. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-5223(03)00396-9</u>
- Welsby IJ, Podgoreanu M V, Philips-Bute B, Mathew JP, Smith PK, Newman MF, et al. Genetic factors contribute to bleeding after cardiac surgery. J Thromb Haemost [Internet]. 2005;3(6):1206–12. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1538-7836.2005.01337.x

- Mathew JP, Podgoreanu M V, Grocott HP, White WD, Morris RW, Stafford-Smith M, et al. Genetic Variants in P-Selectin and C-Reactive Protein Influence Susceptibility to Cognitive Decline After Cardiac Surgery. J Am Coll Cardiol [Internet]. 2007;49(19):1934–42. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2007.01.080</u>
- Henckaerts L, Nielsen KR, Steffensen R, Van Steen K, Mathieu C, Giulietti A, et al. Polymorphisms in innate immunity genes predispose to bacteremia and death in the medical intensive care unit*. Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2009;37(1):192-e3. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1097/ccm.0b013e31819263d8
- 23. Mølle I, Steffensen R, Thiel S, Peterslund NA. Chemotherapy-related infections in patients with multiple myeloma: associations with mannan-binding lectin genotypes. Eur J Haematol [Internet]. 2006;77(1):19–26. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0609.2006.00669.x</u>
- 24. Thiel S, Steffensen R, Christensen IJ, Ip WK, Lau YL, Reason IJM, et al. Deficiency of mannan-binding lectin associated serine protease-2 due to missense polymorphisms. Genes Immun [Internet]. 2007;8(2):154–63. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.gene.6364373
- Force* TADT. Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome: The Berlin Definition. JAMA [Internet]. 2012;307(23):2526–33. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2012.5669</u>
- 26. Meyer NJ, Garcia JGN. Wading into the Genomic Pool to Unravel Acute Lung Injury Genetics. Proc Am Thorac Soc [Internet]. 2007;4(1):69–76. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1513/pats.200609-157jg</u>
- Bannerman DD, Goldblum SE. Mechanisms of bacterial lipopolysaccharide-induced endothelial apoptosis. Am J Physiol Cell Mol Physiol [Internet]. 2003;284(6):L899–914. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajplung.00338.2002</u>
- Villar J, Pérez-Méndez L, Espinosa E, Flores C, Blanco J, Muriel A, et al. Serum Lipopolysaccharide Binding Protein Levels Predict Severity of Lung Injury and Mortality in Patients with Severe Sepsis. Morty RE, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. 2009;4(8):e6818. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0006818</u>
- Viladés C, Escoté X, López-Dupla M, Martinez E, Domingo P, Asensi V, et al. Involvement of the LPS-LPB-CD14-MD2-TLR4 inflammation pathway in HIV-1/HAART-associated lipodystrophy syndrome (HALS). J Antimicrob Chemother [Internet]. 2014;69(6):1653–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dku032
- Milot J, Perron J, Lacasse Y, Létourneau L, Cartier PC, Maltais F. Incidence and Predictors of ARDS After Cardiac Surgery. Chest [Internet]. 2001;119(3):884–8. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.119.3.884</u>
- 31. Rong LQ, Di Franco A, Gaudino M. Acute respiratory distress syndrome after cardiac surgery. J Thorac Dis. 2016;8(10):E1177–86.
- 32. Stephens RS, Shah AS, Whitman GJR. Lung Injury and Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome After Cardiac Surgery. Ann Thorac Surg [Internet]. 2013;95(3):1122–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012.10.024
- Asimakopoulos G, Taylor KM, Smith PL, Ratnatunga CP. Prevalence of acute respiratory distress syndrome after cardiac surgery. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg [Internet]. 1999 Mar;117(3):620–1. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-5223(99)70348-x</u>
- 34. Pawlaczyk R, Swietlik D, Lango R, Rogowski J. Off-Pump Coronary Surgery May Reduce Stroke, Respiratory Failure, and Mortality in Octogenarians. Ann Thorac Surg [Internet]. 2012 Jul;94(1):29–37. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.athoracsur.2012.03.037</u>
- Rubenfeld GD, Caldwell E, Peabody E, Weaver J, Martin DP, Neff M, et al. Incidence and Outcomes of Acute Lung Injury. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2005;353(16):1685–93. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa050333</u>
- 36. Rubenfeld GD, Caldwell E, Granton J, Hudson LD, Matthay MA. Interobserver Variability in Applying a Radiographic Definition for ARDS. Chest [Internet]. 1999 Nov;116(5):1347–53. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.116.5.1347
- Meade MO, Cook RJ, Guyatt GH, Groll R, Kachura JR, BEDARD M, et al. Interobserver Variation in Interpreting Chest Radiographs for the Diagnosis of Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2000;161(1):85–90. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm.161.1.9809003
- Chanock SJ, Manolio T, Boehnke M, Boerwinkle E, Hunter DJ, Thomas G, et al. Replicating genotype-phenotype associations. Nature [Internet]. 2007;447(7145):655–60. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/447655a</u>



Anthropometric measurements, nutritional status and body composition in children with cystic fibrosis – the prospective study

Katarzyna Natalia Kaźmierska¹ ⁽), Aleksandra Lemanowicz-Kustra² ⁽), Agnieszka Jankowska² ⁽), Agnieszka Szlagatys-Sidorkiewicz² ⁽), Ewa Sapiejka³ ⁽)

¹Clinical Department of Paediatrics, Gastroenterology, Allergology and Child Nutrition, Copernicus Hospital, Gdańsk, Poland ²Department of Paediatrics, Gastroenterology, Allergology & Paediatric Nutrition, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland

³ Department of Paediatrics and Cystic Fibrosis, Polanki Children's Hospital, Gdańsk, Poland

Abstract

Background: Cystic fibrosis(CF), despite much progress in therapy, remains the disease which affects nutrition. Nutrition is an important prognostic factor of the outcome of the disease. We want to evaluate physical development, nutrition and body composition in CF children. **Material and methods:** 75 children diagnosed with CF (9 months to 18 years old) were included into the study. 33 healthy children (9 months to 18 years old) constituted the control group. The study consisted of 2 stages. In the first the differences between groups were investigated. The second, took place a year later. At each time point the following measurements were performed: height, body mass, skin fold, arm circumference; BMI, FFM%, FM% and Frisancho index. FFM (fat free mass), FM (fat mass), muscle mass, TBW (total body water) were evaluated by mans of BIA(bioimpedance). **Results:** CF children were shorter than healthy children. Stunting affected 18,67% of CF patients at first examination and 21,6% a year later. Underweight was diagnosed in 28% of patients at the beginning and in 41.2% a year after. Underweight was the result of both little FM and scarce muscle mass. **Conclusions:** Many children with cystic fibrosis suffers from short stature and underweight, which progresses within time. FFM decreases with the disease progress

Keywords: nutritional status · cystic fibrosis · bioimpedance · physical development · fat free mass

Citation

Kaźmierska KN, Lemanowicz-Kustra A, Jankowska A, Szlagatys-Sidorkiewicz A, Sapiejka E. Anthropometric measurements, nutritional status and body composition in children with cystic fibrosis – the prospective study. Eur J Transl Clin Med. 2020;3(1):34-42. DOI: 10.31373/ejtcm/120582

Corresponding author:

Katarzyna Natalia Kaźmierska, Clinical Department of Paediatrics, Gastroenterology, Allergology and Child Nutrition, Copernicus Hospital, Gdańsk, Poland e-mail: ostasia@gmail.com

Available online: <u>www.ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl</u> Copyright ® Medical University of Gdańsk

This is Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International.



No external funds.

Introduction

Cystic fibrosis (CF) is caused by mutation of the chloride channel CFTR (Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator) gene. This mutation is responsible for morphological changes which result in the accumulation of secretions in the external ducts and subsequent malfunction of exocrine organs of the digestive and respiratory system [1]. Patients with CF are prone to malnutrition due to malabsorption and increased energy expenditure.

Treatment of CF is complex and should be interdisciplinary as it involves the pulmonary disease and its complications, pancreatic enzyme supplementation, nutritional treatment and physical therapy. Nutritional status is one of the prognostic factors of disease outcome [1]. It is wellknown that during the course of cystic fibrosis unfavourable changes in body composition take place. One of them is depletion of muscle mass, which results in impairment of lung function, aggravated coughing and worse results in spirometry. That is why we aimed to evaluate prospectively assess anthropometric parameters and body composition in children suffering from cystic fibrosis.

Methods

Our study included 75 children with cystic fibrosis (33 girls and 42 boys) who were 9 months to 18 years of age (mean 8,7 years \pm 5,3). Nine of them (4 girls, 5 boys) were < 2 years old, 14 patients (5 girls, 9 boys) were 2-5 years old, 35 (15 girls, 20 boys) were 6-14 years old and 17 patients (9 girls, 8 boys) were > 15 years old. The 23 patients (30,6%) were diagnosed via neonatal screening. The CF diagnosis was confirmed via molecular examination of the CFTR gene. based Pancreatic exocrine insufficiency was diagnosed via stool elastase-1 activity in 65 patients (86,7%). None of the patients underwent nutritional intervention. All of the CF patients had oral nutrition in accordance with the applicable pediatric CF recommendations [2].

Lung function (FEV₁, FVC and FEF₂₅₋₇₅) was assessed using a MES Lungtest 1000 spirometer (Kraków, Poland), calibrated according to the manufacturer's instructions. All of the study participants were in stable condition without respiratory exacerbation within the last 4 weeks and without signs of oedema or dehydration.

We conducted a two-step prospective study. Measurements were performed on the day of enrolment into the study and 12 months later. The number of patients in both stages of the study varied due to resignation from participation (several patients), absence on the follow-up visit and death (1 patient). At both time points, the patients were assessed using anthropometric measurements (body weight, height, BMI, arm circumference, triceps and subscapular skinfold) and bioimpedance analysis (BIA) of body composition (FFM, FM, Muscle Mass, TBW).

Height and length were measured with a Seca anthropometer (Hamburg, Germany) (> 18 months) and infantometer Seca (Hamburg, Germany) (< 18 months), with accuracy 0,5 cm. Body weight was assessed using a Radwag WPT 60/500W medical scale (Radom, Poland), with accuracy 100g (> 18 months) and 10g (< 18 months). Measurements were performed according to technique described by Martin and Seller [3]. The results were adjusted to body mass and height percentile charts designated for the Polish population [4]. Underweight was diagnosed when body mass was below 10th percentile and severe underweight was defined as below 3rd percentile. Height and length below 3rd percentile classified as short stature. Skinfold was measured with calliper with accuracy of 1 mm. The arm circumference was taken with a medical tape (accuracy of 0,1 cm). Nutritional status was estimated on the basis of BMI percentile charts published by the WHO for children and adolescents (birth-19 years of age) [5-6]. Underweight was diagnosed for BMI below the 15th percentile whereas severe underweight when it was below 3rd percentile. Fat mass was calculated via the Slaughter equation, using skinfold value [7]. Muscle mass was estimated by means of Frisancho index [8]:

arm circumference without fat mass = [arm circumference - (π x arm skinfold)]

Electric bioimpedance analysis (Maltron BIO SCAN 920-2, Rayleigh, U.K.) was used to assess fat free mas (FFM), total body water (TBW), intracellular water (ICW), extra cellular water (ECW), muscle mass (MM) and bone mass (BM). The measurement was accurate to 0,1 kg for muscle mass, fat mass and fat free mass and 1% of their percentage content. All BIA measurements were obtained using tetra polar system, i.e. four self-adhesive electrodes. The data were obtained during a pediatric examination, with patients wearing only underwear. To minimize testing errors, the patients were in a supine position for 5-10 minutes before the test, with limb loose at an angle of 30°-45° in the long axis to the torso [9].

The reference group consisted of 33 healthy children (14 girls and 19 boys) age 9 months-18 years (mean age 116 \pm 65 months, median 137 months). The children in this group had no chronic or acute diseases and were hospitalized due foreign body in the digestive tract or planned corrective orthopaedic plastic surgery. The study protocol was approved by the local Bioethics Committee.

Table 1. Mean BMI and anthropometric features in the CF and reference groups

Results

There were significant differences in anthropometric measurements between children with CF and healthy ones. In accordance with the Polish percentile charts, underweight was diagnosed in 28% of the study group and severe underweight (< 3pc) affected 17.33% of these children [4] [see Graph1]. Short stature (< 3pc) was diagnosed in 18.7% of the patients [see Graph 2].

Children with CF had significantly smaller arm circumference than healthy children, for both girls and boys (p = 0.019) [Table 1]. Triceps skinfold in the CF group was in the range between 4.0 mm and 25 mm (mean 13,6 mm \pm 4,5) and the mean value was significantly lower than in the reference group (p = 0.000). The sub scapular skinfold in the study group was 12.55-29 cm (mean 11.6 \pm 5.2 cm) and was also smaller than in the control group [Table 1].

CF group

	Sex	Children with CF n = 75	Reference group n = 33	Significante of differences
Arm	Both	19,10 ± 3,30	22,0 ± 5,00	p = 0,019
circum -ference	Girls	19,16 ± 3,51	20,59 ± 5,17	p = 0,0051
[cm]	Boys	19,1 ± 3,16	22,92 ± 5,53	p = 0,000
	Both	16,80 ± 2,2	19,0 ± 4,0	p = 0,015
BMI [kg/m²]	Girls	16,76 ± 2,32	18,02 ± 3,17	p = 0,0143
	Boys	16,79 ± 2,12	19,2 ± 5,25	p = 0,0179
Triceps skinfold	Both	13,6 ± 4,5	20 ± 7	p = 0,000
Subsca -pular skinfold	Both	11,6 ± 5,2	18 ± 8	p = 0,000



Graph 1. Percentage distribution of body weight values in children with CF and the reference group. Palczewska, Niedźwiedzka (IMiDz) 1999



Graph 2. Percentage distribution of body weight values in children with CF and the reference group. Palczewska, Niedźwiedzka (IMiDz) 1999
37



Graph 3. Percentage distribution of body weight values in children with CF and the reference group. WHO BMI Percentile Charts

Based on the WHO standards, 20% (15) of patients with CF had BMI < 15th percentile and 8% (8 patients) were severely underweight (< 3 percentile) [Graph 3].

The results analysis showed that mean content of fat tissue in children with CF was lower than in healthy ones. Fat free mass was estimated indirectly (FFM = 100% - FM). Mean percentage of fat mass (FM%) was higher in the study group compared to the control group (p = 0.000). Fat free mass was also evaluated

on the basis of arm circumference by means of Frisancho equation [8]. There was difference between the two groups (p = 0.0222). Neither the mean FFM% nor mean FM% in the study group was different from the control group. Girls with CF had higher mean fat content than boys with CF (p = 0.006). There was tendency to lower TBW in children with CF in comparison with healthy children (p = 0.008) together with lower ICW (p = 0.049) [Table 2].

Body composition parameters	Childr	Reference group (n = 33)				р			
	Mean ± SD	MIN	мах	Median	Mean ± SD	MIN	МАХ	Median	
FFM [kg]	19,16 ± 3,51	5,6	60,0	23,5	32,0 ± 18,0	8,3	63,0	27,8	0,108
FFM [%]	19,1 ± 3,16	2,6	91,0	83,6	81,0 ± 8,0	65,5	96,0	81,6	0,424
FM [kg]	19,16 ± 3,51	0,9	18,0	5,2	9,0 ± 7,0	0,5	27,0	7,2	0,090
FM [%]	16,76 ± 2,32	7,1	35,0	16,3	19,0 ± 8,0	3,8	35,0	18,4	0,311
TBW [L]	16,79 ± 2,12	4,0	41,0	17,2	24,0 ± 12,0	6,8	46,0	21,0	0,080
TBW [%]	19,16 ± 3,51	46,6	87,0	61,6	62,0 ± 8,0	51,1	84,0	59,8	0,243
ECW [L]	19,1 ± 3,16	1,5	18,0	6,5	9,0 ± 4,0	2,9	18,0	7,0	0,175
ECW [%]	19,16 ± 3,51	30,5	50,0	37,6	37,0 ± 5,0	29,3	48,0	36,0	0,182
ICW [L]	16,76 ± 2,32	2,5	23,0	10,9	15,0 ± 8,0	3,9	32,0	13,9	0,049
ICW [%]	16,79 ± 2,12	49,8	70,0	62,4	63,0 ± 5,0	51,8	71,0	64,0	0,182
ECW/ICW	16,76 ± 2,32	0,4	1,0	0,6	1,0 ± 0,0	0,1	1,0	0,6	0,184
Muscle mass [kg]	16,79 ± 2,12	1,8	29,0	9,0	14,0 ± 9,0	2,5	30,0	11,9	0,133

Table 2. Comparison of body composition parameters obtained using electrical bioimpedance in the CF and reference groups

ECW - extra cellular water, FFM - fat free mass, FM - fat mass, ICW - intra cellular water, TBW - total body water

There was a positive relationship between anthropometric and bioimpedance values of FM% (p = 0,12; R = 0,288) and FFM% (p = 0,59; R = 0,219), whereas the Frisancho index was significantly correlated to muscle mass (compatibility 82%) (p = 0,00; R 0,817).

After a year of follow-up, the mean body mass in the study group increased to 34.8 ± 13.7 kg. Underweight was diagnosed in 41.2% children and 10 children (19.2%) were severely underweight (< 3rd percentile) [Table 3]. Thus, there were more underweight children than 12 months earlier, an increase by 11% (3rd-10th percentile). At the same time, the number of children with body mass > 50 percentile decreased.

There was significant difference in height as well. After a year, the mean height was 140.5 ± 24.5 cm and there were 3% more stunted children (height < 3^{rd} percentile) than 12 months earlier [Table 3]. However, there were more children whose height ranged between 25th and 50th percentile.

The mean subscapular and triceps skinfolds were thicker after a year: 15.2 ± 4.8 mm and 13.2 ± 4.2 mm

respectively [Table 3]. According to the WHO standards, underweight affected 33.3% children suffering from CF, 13.7% were severely underweight. Anthropometric measurements revealed that children form study group had significantly more fat mass content (p = 0.003) and less fat free mass after a year of follow-up. Similarly, in the BIA there was also more FM (kg) and less FFM (kg). The differences in the Frisancho index revealed statistically significant reduction of muscle mass after a year (p = 0,018) [Table 3].

It was observed that children with a lower body mass percentile have worse spirometry results (FEV₁, FVC, FEF₂₅₋₇₅) [Table 4]. In addition, no relationship was observed between the remaining somatic features and lung function.

Discussion

Cystic fibrosis is one of the most prevalent autosomal recessive genetic disorders in the Caucasian

Somatic features	Children – initial exa (n =	with CF amination 75)	Childrer – 12 moi (n =	Ρ	
	mean	SD	mean	SD	
Body mass [kg]	30,0	15,7	34,8	13,7	0,000
Body height [cm]	128,5	30,5	140,5	24,5	0,000
BMI [kg/m2]	16,8	2,2	16,8	2,2	0,722
Arm circumference [cm]	19,1	3,3	19,5	2,8	0,847
Triceps skinfold [mm]	13,6	4,5	15,2	4,8	0,006
Subscapular skinfold [mm]	11,6	5,2	13,2	4,2	0,006
Anthropometric FFM [%]	77,5	6,5	75,2	5,5	0,003
Anthropometric FM [%]	22,5	6,5	24,8	5,5	0,003
Frisancho index	14,9	2,7	14,7	2,3	0,018
BIA – FFM [kg]	25,2	12,5	29,6	13,3	0,000
BIA – FFM [%]	81,2	10,9	82,7	6,4	0,771
BIA – FM [kg]	5,8	3,8	6,7	4,9	0,399
BIA – FM [%]	17,6	6,0	17,3	6,4	0,896
BIA – TBW [L]	18,6	8,6	21,1	7,6	0,000
BIA – TBW [%]	62,2	6,7	61,8	6,2	0,201

Table 3. Comparison of mean body components and somatic features in CF children obtained on the day of the initial examination and after one year

	FEV ₁ % (n = 55)		FV((n =	C% 55)	FEF ₂₅₋₇₅ % (n = 55)		
	R	р	R	р	R	р	
BMI [kg/m2]	0,120	0,383	0,199	0,144	-0,058	0,674	
Body mass [percentile]	0,360	0,007	0,361	0,007	0,420	0,001	
Body height [percentile]	0,252	0,064	0,250	0,066	0,408	0,002	
FFM [%] anthropometry	-0,161	0,239	-0,193	0,159	-0,003	0,985	
FFM [%] bioimpedance	-0,003	-0,003 0,985		0,998	0,028	0,837	

Table 4. Comparison of lung function with somatic features and body composition parameters obtained by the method of anthropometry and electrical bioimpedance in children with CF

BMI – body mass index, FEV₁ – forced expiratory volume in 1 second, FFM - fat free mass, FEF₂₅₋₇₅ – forced expiratory flow at 25-75% of vital capacity, FVC – Forced vital capacity

population [10]. The screening program performed in Poland during 2006-2010 helped to diagnose CF in 221 newborns (out of 1 212 487) and the incidence was estimated 1/4394 in Polish population [11]. Despite significant improvement in diagnosis and treatment of CF, several issues concerning both the disease and its complications need to be solved. For example, there is no gold standard for the assessment of nutritional status in children with CF, despite the fact that it is an important prognostic factor, particularly regarding the condition of the respiratory system. Walkowiak et al. emphasized the necessity of holistic evaluation of physical development [12]. On the other hand Sharma et al. proved that malnutrition was an important prognostic factor for the lifespan [13].

There are only few studies on nutrition in Polish patients with CF. Tutak-Słupska et al. found that 40% of children with CF in Bydgoszcz were undernourished (< 10th percentile) and 24% of them were severely undernourished (< 3rd percentile) [14]. Moreover, 28% were stunned and 16% had height < 3rd percentile. A prospective study performed at the Institute of Mother and Child in Warsaw demonstrated that children suffering from CF had lower BMI, lower arm circumference, lower Frisancho index and scarce fat tissue compared to healthy children [8, 15]. The same study group was examined 4 years later and boys had less dynamic physical development (growth and body mass gain) whereas girls slower body mass gain in comparison with reference group [15]. A study from a different part of Poland revealed that stunting and even more frequent wasting are still observed despite nutritional

treatment [16]. In our study we found that despite of the increase in mean values of body mass and height, the percentage of children who were underweight (from 28% to 40.6%) and severely undernourished (from 13% to 21,6%) has increased. Short stature affected 21.6% (18.6% preliminary). Our results show that anthropometric measurements (particularly body mass) worsen over time and one may conclude that so does malnourishment.

We know that body composition measurement methods and techniques should not be used interchangeably [17]. Similarly, King et al. compared 76 adults with CF in Australia using anthropometry, BIA and dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) [18]. Their results indicated a correlation between the findings obtained from various methods, but the there was a significant difference between the values. They observed false results due to CF-specific conditions (e.g. hypernatremia interfering with BIA), as well as improper patient preparation. These authors postulated that BIA should not be the reference method for assessing body composition in adults with CF. Our results also show that there are significant differences in the FM percentage and FFM measurements obtained via anthropometry and BIA and they coincided in only 29% and 22% of the patients respectively. However, when assessing the amount of muscle mass the results were strongly correlated.

There are many cross-sectional studies about the body content of children with CF, however few of them are prospective. Such, it is difficult to compare the results and make conclusions adjustable for whole population of children with CF. These studies used various methods for body content measurement, the groups were different in terms of age and number and ethnicity.

Charatsi et al. found that patients with preserved BMI and weight may have FFM depletion and may be at risk of severe pulmonary disease [19]. Moreover, using DXA Sheikh et al. found lower FFM in patients with CF [20]. Doulgareki et al. showed that children with CF and meconium ileus have lower bone mineral density and lower fat mass in DXA compared to those with CF alone [21]. FFM was lower among children with CF and there was a positive correlation between respiratory efficiency and FFM in a study by Alvares [22]. In another study of 18 participants 12-39 years of age, FFM evaluated by BIA correlated with respiratory function better than BMI [23].

In our study, we observed that mean percentage of FM in children with CF was smaller but their muscle muss content was similar to healthy children. Data from the follow-up examination revealed a significant reduction of FFM% and mean value of Frisancho index as an indicator of % muscle mass in body. This reduction is an alarming phenomenon in children with CF because FFM reflects their clinical condition. It is well-known that muscle mass is the biggest protein and energy source during malnutrition [24]. Since the best indicator of energy expenditure in both health and illness is precisely muscle mass. In 1982 Miller et al. noticed that during chronic inflammatory disease and excessive breathing effort, catabolic processes in muscles increase [25]. Similarly, Umałowska et al. demonstrated that chronic Pseudomonas aeruginosa infection affects nutritional condition and correlates with reduction of both TBM and FFM [26]. In chronic lung disease progressive muscle mass loss due to the increase in resting energy expenditure on one hand, and scarce dietary protein supplementation on the other, is well known. Emphysema results in diminished effectiveness of the respiratory muscles, but malnutrition plays its part too [27].

There are many articles about the relation between FFM and diminished strength of respiratory muscles in patients with CF, which results in impaired function and worse spirometry results as well as diminished coughing reflex [28-31]. However, chronic lung disease as well as numerous infections promote catabolism and as the FFM is reduced the chronic lung disease is aggravated [32]. Meta-analysis by Calella et al. demonstrated that in patients with cystic fibrosis fat free mass and bone mineral density are lower than in healthy children, which leads to lower muscle strength [33].

The treatment of choice in CF which could influence protein metabolism and increase fat free mass is a protein-rich diet, anabolic steroids and physiotherapy [34]. Aerobic exercise increases the life expectancy of children with CF and physical activity increases muscle strength, improves quality of life [35-38] and alleviates airways clearance. Regular FFM assessment is very important because it allows fast introduction of proper therapy if FFM% starts to diminish.

Conclusions

We demonstrated that despite the significant progress in the diagnosis and treatment, underweight and short stature still affect many of patients with CF and progress with time. Deteriorating changes such as fat free mass loss take place in the course of CF. Diagnostic tests of nutritional abnormalities include anthropometry and determination of different body components via bioelectrical impedance. They should be done in early age as that enables faster implementation of nutritional treatment. These measures should be accompanied by physical activity especially in patients with FFM loss.

References

- Pencharz PB, Durie PR. Pathogenesis of malnutrition in cystic fibrosis, and its treatment. Clin Nutr [Internet]. 2000 Dec;19(6):387–94. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1054/clnu.1999.0079</u>
- Walkowiak J, Pogorzelski A, Sands D. Zasady rozpoznawania i leczenia mukowiscydozy. [The principles of diagnosing and treatment of cystic fibrosis]. Zalecenia Polskiego Towarzystwa Mukowiscydozy. 2009.
- 3. Martin R, Saller K. Lehrbuch der Anthropologie, in systematischer Darstellung. Stuttgart: Fischer; 1957.
- 4. Palczewska I, Niedzwiedzka Z. Wskazniki rozwoju somatycznego dzieci I mlodziezy Warszawskiej. Med Wieku Rozw / Dev Period Med. 2001;5(2 Suppl 1):18–118.
- Design of the WHO multicentre growth refrence study. Methodology [Internet]. 2015. Available from: <u>https://www.who.</u> int/childgrowth/standards/Chap_2.pdf?ua=
- 6. International Pediatric Association Endorsement The New WHO Growth Standards for Infants and Young Children [Internet]. 2006. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/childgrowth/Endorsement_IPA.pdf</u>

- Slaughter MH, Lohman TG, Boileau R, Horswill CA, Stillman RJ, Van Loan MD, et al. Skinfold equations for estimation of body fatness in children and youth. Hum Biol [Internet]. 1988;60(5):709–23. Available from: <u>https://www.jstor.org/ stable/41464064?seq=1</u>
- Frisancho AR. Triceps skin fold and upper arm muscle size norms for assessment of nutritional status. Am J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 1974 Oct 1;27(10):1052–8. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/27.10.1052</u>
- 9. Lewitt A, Mądro E, Krupienicz A. Podstawy teoretyczne i zastosowania analizy impedancji bioelektrycznej (BIA). Endokrynol Otyłość i Zaburzenia Przemiany Mater. 2007;2(4):79–84.
- 10. McKay KO. Cystic fibrosis: Benefits and clinical outcome. J Inherit Metab Dis [Internet]. 2007 Aug 1;30(4):544–55. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10545-007-0620-0
- Sobczyńska-Tomaszewska A, Ołtarzewski M, Czerska K, Wertheim-Tysarowska K, Sands D, Walkowiak J, et al. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis: Polish 4 years' experience with CFTR sequencing strategy. Eur J Hum Genet [Internet]. 2013;21(4):391–6. Available from: <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/ejhg2012180</u>
- Walkowiak J, Krawczyński M, Gawęcki J. Nieuchronne niedożywienie [Internet]. Serwis Mukowiscydoza. [cited 2020 Apr 20]. Available from: <u>https://www.imed.pl/index.php?PAGE=telegram&TEL CUR ID=281&return=archives</u>
- Sharma R, Florea VG, Bolger AP, Doehner W, Florea ND, Coats AJS, et al. Wasting as an independent predictor of mortality in patients with cystic fibrosis. Thorax [Internet]. 2001 Oct 1;56(10):746 LP – 750. Available from: <u>http://thorax.bmj.com/ content/56/10/746.abstract</u>
- Tutak-Słupska M, Stępień-Jaszowska B, Staszak-Kowalska R, Krawczyk-Karlińska J, Zając M. Ocena stanu odżywienia i składu ciała pacjentów z mukowiscydozą. Pediatr Pol [Internet]. 2012;87(2):146–53. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0031-3939(12)70609-1</u>
- 15. Walkowiak J. Stan odżywienia i rozwój fizyczny dzieci chorych na mukowiscydozę w świetle podstawowych wskaźników wagowych i wzrostowych. Przegląd Pediatryczny. 1998;28(3):208–12.
- 16. Szczepanik M, Krawczyński M, Cichy W, Walkowiak J. Rozwój fizyczny dzieci z mukowiscydozą z województwa wielkopolskiego. Ped Prakt. 2000;8:397–410.
- Beaumesnil M, Chaillou E, Wagner A-C, Rouquette A, Audran M, Giniès J-L. Composition corporelle des patients mucoviscidosiques – comparaison de 3 techniques de mesure : anthropométrie, absorptiométrie biphotonique et impédancemétrie. Arch Pédiatrie [Internet]. 2011 Apr;18(4):370–5. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/</u> <u>S0929693X11000273</u>
- King S, Wilson J, Kotsimbos T, Bailey M, Nyulasi I. Body composition assessment in adults with cystic fibrosis: comparison of dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry with skinfolds and bioelectrical impedance analysis. Nutrition [Internet]. 2005 Nov;21(11–12):1087–94. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0899900705002182</u>
- Charatsi AM, Dusser P, Freund R, Maruani G, Rossin H, Boulier A, et al. Bioelectrical impedance in young patients with cystic fibrosis: Validation of a specific equation and clinical relevance. J Cyst Fibros [Internet]. 2016;15(6):825–33. Available from: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1569199316300534</u>
- 20. Sheikh S, Zemel BS, Stallings VA, Rubenstein RC, Kelly A. Body Composition and Pulmonary Function in Cystic Fibrosis [Internet]. Vol. 2, Frontiers in Pediatrics . 2014. p. 33. Available from: <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fped.2014.00033</u>
- Doulgeraki A, Petrocheilou A, Petrocheilou G, Chrousos G, Doudounakis S-E, Kaditis AG. Body composition and lung function in children with cystic fibrosis and meconium ileus. Eur J Pediatr [Internet]. 2017;176(6):737–43. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00431-017-2906-z
- 22. Alvarez JA, Ziegler TR, Millson EC, Stecenko AA. Body composition and lung function in cystic fibrosis and their association with adiposity and normal-weight obesity. Nutrition [Internet]. 2016;32(4):447–52. Available from: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0899900715004189</u>
- Papalexopoulou N, Dassios TG, Lunt A, Bartlett F, Perrin F, Bossley CJ, et al. Nutritional status and pulmonary outcome in children and young people with cystic fibrosis. Respir Med [Internet]. 2018 Sep;142:60–5. Available from: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0954611118302531</u>
- 24. Cahill Jr GF. Starvation in man. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 1970;282(12):668–75. Available from: https://www.nejm.org/doi/pdf/10.1056/NEJM197003192821209
- Miller M, Ward L, Thomas BJ, Cooksley WG, Shepherd RW. Altered body composition and muscle protein degradation in nutritionally growth-retarded children with cystic fibrosis. Am J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 1982 Sep 1;36(3):492–9. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/36.3.492</u>
- 26. Umławska W, Krzyżanowska M, Zielińska A, Sands D. Effect of selected factors associated with the clinical corse of disease on nutritional status in children with cystic fibrosis. Adv Clin Exp Med [Internet]. 2014;23(5):775–83. Available from: http://www.advances.umed.wroc.pl/en/article/2014/23/5/775/

- 27. Rothkopf MM, Stanislaus G, Haverstick L, Kvetan V, Askanazi J. Invited Review: Nutritional Support in Respiratory Failure. Nutr Clin Pract. 1989;4(5):166–72.
- Enright S, Chatham K, Ionescu AA, Unnithan VB, Shale DJ. The influence of body composition on respiratory muscle, lung function and diaphragm thickness in adults with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros [Internet]. 2007;6(6):384–90. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcf.2007.02.006</u>
- 29. Lazarus R, Gore CJ, Booth M, Owen N. Effects of body composition and fat distribution on ventilatory function in adults. Am J Clin Nutr [Internet]. 1998 Jul 1;68(1):35–41. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/68.1.35</u>
- Mohamed EI, Maiolo C, Iacopino L, Pepe M, Daniele N, Lorenzo A. The Impact of Body-Weight Components on Forced Spirometry in Healthy Italians. Lung [Internet]. 2002 May 27;180(3):149–59. Available from: <u>http://link.springer.</u> <u>com/10.1007/s004080000089</u>
- Ionescu AA, Chatham K, Davies CA, Nixon LS, Enright S, Shale DJ. Inspiratory Muscle Function and Body Composition in Cystic Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 1998 Oct;158(4):1271–6. Available from: <u>http://www.atsjournals.org/doi/abs/10.1164/ajrccm.158.4.9710079</u>
- 32. Ionescu AA, Nixon LS, Luzio S, Lewis-Jenkins V, Evans WD, Stone MD, et al. Pulmonary Function, Body Composition, and Protein Catabolism in Adults with Cystic Fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2002 Feb 15;165(4):495–500. Available from: <u>http://www.atsjournals.org/doi/abs/10.1164/ajrccm.165.4.2104065</u>
- Calella P, Valerio G, Brodlie M, Donini LM, Siervo M. Cystic fibrosis, body composition, and health outcomes: a systematic review. Nutrition [Internet]. 2018 Nov;55–56:131–9. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/ s0899900718301825
- 34. Shepherd R, Cooksley WGE, Cooke WDD. Improved growth and clinical, nutritional, and respiratory changes in response to nutritional therapy in cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr [Internet]. 1980 Sep;97(3):351–7. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0022347680801806</u>
- 35. Shei R-J, Mackintosh KA, Peabody Lever JE, McNarry MA, Krick S. Exercise Physiology Across the Lifespan in Cystic Fibrosis. Front Physiol [Internet]. 2019 Nov 5;10:1382. Available from: <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fphys.2019.01382/full</u>
- 36. Selvadurai HC, Blimkie CJ, Meyers N, Mellis CM, Cooper PJ, Van Asperen PP. Randomized controlled study of in-hospital exercise training programs in children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol [Internet]. 2002 Mar 1;33(3):194–200. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ppul.10015</u>
- 37. Orenstein DM, Hovell MF, Mulvihill M, Keating KK, Hofstetter CR, Kelsey S, et al. Strength vs aerobic training in children with cystic fibrosis. Chest [Internet]. 2004 Oct;126(4):1204–14. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.126.4.1204</u>
- 38. Klijn PHC, Oudshoorn A, van der Ent CK, van der Net J, Kimpen JL, Helders PJM. Effects of anaerobic training in children with cystic fibrosis: a randomized controlled study. Chest [Internet]. 2004;125(4):1299–305. Available from: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0012369215320894</u>

CT negative subarachnoid hemorrhage in the Emergency Department

Jacek Szypenbejl¹, Mariusz Siemiński¹, Edyta Szurowska²,

Tomasz Szmuda³ ⁽ⁱ⁾, Andrzej Basiński¹ ⁽ⁱ⁾

¹Department of Emergency Medicine, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland ²2nd Department of Radiology, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland ³Department of Neurosurgery, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland

Abstract

Background: Subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) is rare but potentially life-threatening cause of acute headache. First diagnostic test performed in the Emergency Department (ED) for acute "thunderclap" headache is computed tomography of the head (CT) without contrast enhancement. Negative non-contrast head CT may be erroneously interpreted as an exclusion of SAH and lead to ED discharge. The consequences of overlooking SAH are of special interest to the Emergency Physician. The aim of this study was to assess prevalence and clinical picture of CT-negative cases of SAH admitted to the ED. Material and methods: Retrospective analysis of charts of patients admitted to the ED and diagnosed with SAH during 18 consecutive months. Results: Our data gives information about clinical picture of patients with CT-negative SAH and their further clinical course. Out of 126 patients diagnosed with SAH, 5 (4.0%) were diagnosed with SAH despite negative non-contrast head CT scan. All cases were diagnosed by means of lumbar puncture and analysis of cerebrospinal fluid. In all patients with CT-negative SAH computed tomographic angiography (CTA) was performed and no vascular abnormalities were found. In one case digital subtraction angiography was performed due to equivocal CTA picture and it demonstrated small unruptured aneurysm of the medial cerebral artery. All patients with CT-negative SAH were admitted to a neurological ward and later discharged from the hospital without neurological deficit. There were no episodes of clinical deterioration and none of the patients required an urgent neurosurgical intervention. Conclusions: Although lumbar puncture remains a gold standard in exclusion of SAH, head CT scan without contrast enhancement appears to be a satisfying diagnostic tool in ED.

Keywords: emergency department · Computed Tomography · cerebral aneurysm · subarachnoid hemorrhage

Citation

Szypenbejl J, Siemiński M, Szurowska E, Szmuda T, Basiński A. CT negative subarachnoid hemorrhage in the Emergency Department. Eur J Transl Clin Med. 2020;3(1):43-48. DOI: 10.31373/ejtcm/122776

Corresponding author:

Jacek Szypenbejl, Department of Emergency Medicine, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland

e-mail: jacek.szypenbejl@gmail.com

No external funds.

Available online: www.ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl

Copyright ® Medical University of Gdańsk

This is Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International.



Introduction

Headache is the cause of approximately 2% of Emergency Department (ED) visits [1]. The most important aim of the assessment at an ED is exclusion of a life-threatening disease. One of the potentially devastating conditions in differential diagnosis of severe headache is subarachnoid hemorrhage. Although SAH counts for only 1-3% headache-related ED visits, ruling out this potentially lethal condition is crucial for the ED physician [1]. Early diagnosis of SAH allows early aggressive treatment and help to prevent re-bleeding episodes which happen in 26-73% of SAH patients in the days-weeks after the primary bleeding incident [2]. Non-contrast head computed tomography (CT) remains gold standard in diagnosing of SAH [3]. Common diagnostic error is failure to perform a non-contrast head CT scan in patients with clinical suspicion of SAH (headache, nausea and/or vomiting, photophobia, neck stiffness, episodes of loss of consciousness, focal neurological deficits) [2]. Unfortunately, non-contrast head CT scan is not a perfect diagnostic tool because its sensitivity decreases if performed more than 6 hours after symptom onset. Furthermore, there is a group of patients with a normal head CT scan, who still have a strong clinical suspicion of SAH [4]. The next diagnostic procedure in CT-negative cases should be lumbar puncture (LP) with examination of cerebrospinal fluid [5]. Although LP is a frequently performed procedure in the ED, it may result in complications like post-lumbar puncture headache, epidural hematoma, cortical vein thrombosis and reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome [6-7]. Moreover, the decision to continue diagnostic process and perform lumbar puncture significantly prolongs ED length of stay [6].

The primary aim of our study was to assess the prevalence of CT-negative SAH at a single ED. Our secondary aim was to analyze the clinical picture of patients diagnosed with CT-negative SAH and the further course of their disease. Consequences of ED discharge of patients with SAH suspicion and negative non-contrast head CT is of interest to the Emergency Physician community [8].

Material and methods

We retrospectively analyzed anonymized clinical data of patients admitted to the Emergency Department of the Medical University of Gdańsk and diagnosed with SAH in 18 consecutive months (January 2015-June 2016). We searched for information about the following diagnostic procedures: clinical examination, non-contrast head CT, cerebrospinal fluid analysis (if lumbar

puncture was performed), computed tomographic angiography (if performed), cerebral arteriography (if performed). On the basis of this analysis patients diagnosed with SAH with negative non-contrast CT were identified and their clinical data were re-evaluated.

In each patient a non-contrast head CT scan was performed to rule out any potentially life-threatening condition. A radiology specialist assessed each CT scan. If the head CT scan was normal (CT-negative) but the clinical presentation was highly suspicious for spontaneous SAH, a diagnostic lumbar puncture was performed. All conscious patients gave their informed consent prior to undergoing the lumbar puncture procedure. If the patient was presenting with altered mental status and the lumbar puncture was necessary for further, potentially life-saving diagnostic procedures, the clinical context was analyzed and final decision was made by two physicians (neurologist and Emergency Medicine specialist) and documented in the patient's chart. There were 60 such cases in our sample. For better understanding the link between the clinical picture and CT/LP results in CT-negative subjects, we calculated their score according to the Ottawa SAH Rule [7]. There were no additional procedures performed as part of this research project, therefore the local Ethics Committee approval was not necessary.

Results

Our data shows clinical picture of patients with CT-negative SAH and further course of their disease. We identified the records of 126 patients with subarachnoid hemorrhage admitted to our ED during January 2015-June 2016. SAH was diagnosed by head CT without contrast enhancement in 96.0% of patients (n-121). There were 5 (4.0%) CT-negative patients who were diagnosed with SAH via CSF analysis. Clinical data of CT-negative and CT-positive patients were presented in Table 1.

Manifestation of CT-negative SAH was not specific. Although all 5 patients complained of headache, in 2 cases vomiting was present. In one case, headache was accompanied by neck stiffness as a manifestation of meningeal syndrome. The average time from first symptoms to head CT was 8 hours with 3 patients exceeding the 6-hour window. Taking into consideration well-known risk factors, one of the patients had history of well-controlled hypertension and chronic alcohol abuse. None of the patients were smokers or received anticoagulant therapy. Family history was not significant. All patients in the CT-negative group were assessed as Grade 1 in the Hunt & Hess classification while the average grade in the CT-positive group was 2,5. All patients with

	CT-positive group	CT-negative group	р
Age (years, mean	55.9	50.4	NS
Sex (% of men)	43 (35.5%)	2 (40%)	NS
Headache (n,%)	98 (81%)	5 (100%)	NS
Vomitting (n,%)	53 (43.8%)	2 (40%)	NS
Meningeal symptoms (n,%)	56 (46.2%)	1(20%)	NS
Neurological deficit (n,%)	78 (64.5%)	0 (0%)	0,007
Cerebral aneurism found (n,%)	103 (85.1%)	1 (20%)	0.0032
Neurosurgical intervention (n,%)	92 (76.0%)	0(0)%	0,0011
Deaths (n,%)	34 (28.1%)	0 (0)%	NS

Table 1. Clinical data of the CT-positive and CT-negative patients

results of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) analysis typical for SAH underwent CTA with no significant findings. 4 out of 5 CT-negative patients underwent cerebral angiography and an unruptured aneurysm of the middle cerebral artery was found in one subject. The score of CT-negative LP-positive subjects according to the Ottawa SAH Rule was suggesting suspicion of SAH, as shown in Table 2. Clinical outcome in the CT-negative SAH patients group was favorable. All patients with CT-negative SAH survived and were discharged from the hospital without neurological deficit. None of those patients required any urgent surgical intervention and no episodes of clinical deterioration were observed during their hospital stay.

Discussion

Our study revealed that 4.0% of patients diagnosed with SAH at ED had a normal non-contrast head CT. This result is slightly lower than previously published findings showing percentage of CT-negative SAH between 4-20% [9-11]. The discrepancies may be partially explained with differences in parameters of CT scanner and in experience of radiologists describing the images. Nevertheless, our results demonstrated higher percentages that suggested in the meta--analysis by Dubosh et al, showing that relying solely on non-contrast head CT may lead to missing only

0.15% of SAH cases. To note, the above results were obtained for patients with "thunderclap" headache and no neurologic deficit, in whom CT was performed within 6 hours of the headache onset [12]. Williams and Sepaul while commenting these results suggested that the Emergency Physican needs to be aware that the CT scan might be negative after the 6-hour window [13].

Table 2. The score of CT-negative LP-positive subjects according to the Ottawa SAH Rule

Patient	Age ≥40?	Neck pain or neck stiffness?	Witnessed loss of conscious-ness	Onset during exertion?	"Thunder-clap" head-ache?	Limited neck flexion?	Total score	Suggestive for SAH?
Patient 1	0	0	1	0	0	0	1	YES
Patient 2	1	1	0	0	1	0	3	YES
Patient 3	1	0	0	0	1	0	2	YES
Patient 4	1	0	0	0	1	0	2	YES
Patient 5	1	1	0	0	1	1	4	YES

Legend: Answer YES was scored 1; answer 2 was scored 0

On the contrary, our observations suggest that such practice may lead to overlooking a significant percentage of SAH cases, particularly because all of the CT-negative patients in our sample presented with a "thunderclap" headache and no neurologic deficit.

All 5 of our patients with CT-negative SAH presented with thunderclap headache and only one of them had neck stiffness. This very unspecific clinical presentation is a known feature of SAH. Carpenter et al. confirmed that in their meta-analysis that there are no clinical findings allowing to rule in or to rule out SAH in patients with acute headache without further diagnostic workup [14]. Our results emphasized that patients with thunderclap headache require thorough diagnostics even with negative head CT. Moreover, it should be noted that there was one case of unruptured aneurysm revealed in patients with negative head CT that suggests that detailed vascular imaging may lead to significant findings. This finding stays in line with results of Chong et al., who discovered presence of vascular abnormalities in over 40% of subjects with CT-negative SAH [15].

All patients with CT-negative SAH from our group had a good prognosis – there were no deaths in that group as well as no clinical deterioration (e.g. re-bleeding), or need for urgent neurosurgical intervention. This is in concordance with finding of Mark et al, who analyzed a population of probably overlooked SAH. The authors analyzed clinical course of patients finally diagnosed with SAH who through 14 days prior the diagnosis were examined due to suspicion of SAH with negative conclusion. They found that probable overlooking of SAH did not influence negatively their prognosis [16]. Chong et al. reported similar observation as only 1.3% of patients with CT-negative SAH experienced further re-bleeding [15].

Although subarachnoid hemorrhage is a relatively rare cause of headache, failure to recognize it is a familiar clinical scenario for ED physicians [17]. Most of the patients with symptoms suggestive of intracranial hemorrhage are diagnosed in ED, which are known worldwide to be overcrowded [18]. The more laboratory tests, diagnostic images and procedures are performed, the more prolonged length of ED stay and the more patients undergoing assessment and treatment at the same time [19]. Excessive number of patients being treated in ED simultaneously may cause increased hospital mortality [20]. Anecdotally, the most primary purpose of the ED physician is to identify patients in life-threatening condition and to initiate prompt and adequate treatment.

Initial misdiagnosis of SAH may lead to discharge from the ED, followed by a potentially catastrophic

re-bleeding episode [2, 21]. Optimizing the quality of diagnostics and care of patients with suspected SAH is an important issue in recent Emergency Nedicine and Neurology literature. One of the solutions for prolonged diagnostics of headache in ED is extending imaging after originally negative non-contrast head CT scan to include CT-angiography if SAH remains part of the differential diagnosis, which may significantly reduce the risk of overlooking aneurysmal SAH [11]. Another approach is to focus on assessment of initially performed non-contrast head CT scan, as radiological evidence of SAH is frequently unrecognized [7].

As clinical rules are spreading across the Emergency Medicine community, there is also recently validated Ottawa SAH Rule that can help a physician to rule out subarachnoid hemorrhage in a certain group of patients [22]. Identifying the population with extremely low risk of a life-threatening cause of headache can also help a clinician to use popular worldwide shared decision-making model in which both a patient and medial practitioner understand and accept the risk involved in the decision to finish the diagnostic process [23-24]. Nevertheless, lumbar puncture remains the most sensitive tool to exclude SAH in all cases where the clinical presentation is highly suspicious, clinical rules not applicable and radiology inconclusive for SAH [14, 25].

Conclusions

Subarachnoid hemorrhage continues to be one of the most important parts of differential diagnosis in population of patients visiting the ED due to headache, head CT scan without contrast enhancement appears to be a satisfactory diagnostic tool to exclude this potentially lethal condition. In our study, only 4.0% of subarachnoid hemorrhages were diagnosed despite negative non-contrast head CT. The clinical course of CT-negative SAH was mild. It can be presumed that lumbar puncture may be a decisive diagnostic procedure for a minor group of patients with high clinical risk of SAH and inconclusive preceding diagnostic process. This data may increase awareness of incidence of CT-negative SAH and help physicians to properly plan diagnostic procedures after negative head tomography.

Acknowledgements

This publication was prepared without any external sources of funding. None of the authors has conflict of interests to declare.

References

- Perry JJ, Stiell IG, Sivilotti MLA, Bullard MJ, Hohl CM, Sutherland J, et al. Clinical Decision Rules to Rule Out Subarachnoid Hemorrhage for Acute Headache. JAMA [Internet]. 2013;310(12):1248–55. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.278018</u>
- Kowalski RG. Initial Misdiagnosis and Outcome After Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. JAMA [Internet]. 2004;291(7):866–9. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.291.7.866</u>
- Perry JJ, Stiell IG, Sivilotti MLA, Bullard MJ, Emond M, Symington C, et al. Sensitivity of computed tomography performed within six hours of onset of headache for diagnosis of subarachnoid haemorrhage: prospective cohort study. BMJ [Internet]. 2011;343(jul18 1):d4277–d4277. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d4277</u>
- Edlow JA, Panagos PD, Godwin SA, Thomas TL, Decker WW. Clinical Policy: Critical Issues in the Evaluation and Management of Adult Patients Presenting to the Emergency Department With Acute Headache. Ann Emerg Med [Internet]. 2008;52(4):407–36. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2008.07.001
- Gill HS, Marcolini EG, Barber D, Wira CR. The Utility of Lumbar Puncture After a Negative Head CT in the Emergency Department Evaluation of Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. Yale J Biol Med [Internet]. 2018;91(1):3–11. Available from: <u>http://</u> www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29599652
- Doherty CM, Forbes RB. Diagnostic Lumbar Puncture. Ulster Med J [Internet]. 2014;83(2):93–102. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/4113153</u>
- Perry JJ, Sivilotti MLA, Sutherland J, Hohl CM, Émond M, Calder LA, et al. Validation of the Ottawa Subarachnoid Hemorrhage Rule in patients with acute headache. Can Med Assoc J [Internet]. 2017;189(45):E1379–85. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.170072</u>
- Lansley J, Selai C, Krishnan AS, Lobotesis K, Jäger HR. Subarachnoid haemorrhage guidelines and clinical practice: a cross-sectional study of emergency department consultants' and neurospecialists' views and risk tolerances. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2016;6(9):e012357. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012357
- Mark DG, Hung Y-Y, Offerman SR, Rauchwerger AS, Reed ME, Chettipally U, et al. Nontraumatic Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in the Setting of Negative Cranial Computed Tomography Results: External Validation of a Clinical and Imaging Prediction Rule. Ann Emerg Med [Internet]. 2013;62(1):1-10.e1. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2012.09.003</u>
- Byyny RL, Mower WR, Shum N, Gabayan GZ, Fang S, Baraff LJ. Sensitivity of Noncontrast Cranial Computed Tomography for the Emergency Department Diagnosis of Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. Ann Emerg Med [Internet]. 2008;51(6):697– 703. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2007.10.007</u>
- Mark DG, Sonne DC, Jun P, Schwartz DT, Kene M V., Vinson DR, et al. False-negative Interpretations of Cranial Computed Tomography in Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. O'Neil BJ, editor. Acad Emerg Med [Internet]. 2016;23(5):591–8. Available from: <u>http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/acem.12941</u>
- Dubosh NM, Bellolio MF, Rabinstein AA, Edlow JA. Sensitivity of Early Brain Computed Tomography to Exclude Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. Stroke [Internet]. 2016;47(3):750–5. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEA-HA.115.011386
- Williams TS, Seupaul RA. Can Noncontrast Head Computed Tomography Within 6 Hours of Symptom Onset Exclude Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage? Ann Emerg Med [Internet]. 2016;68(3):352–3. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annemergmed.2016.04.034</u>
- 14. Carpenter CR, Hussain AM, Ward MJ, Zipfel GJ, Fowler S, Pines JM, et al. Spontaneous Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis Describing the Diagnostic Accuracy of History, Physical Examination, Imaging, and Lumbar Puncture With an Exploration of Test Thresholds. Zehtabchi S, editor. Acad Emerg Med [Internet]. 2016;23(9):963–1003. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/acem.12984
- Chong MY, Martin SC, Phang I, St George EJ, Suttner N, Teo MK. The Prevalence of Cerebrovascular Abnormalities Detected in Various Diagnostic Subgroups of Spontaneous Subarachnoid Hemorrhage in the Modern Era. World Neurosurg [Internet]. 2018;111:e355–61. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2017.12.077</u>
- Mark DG, Kene M V., Vinson DR, Ballard DW. Outcomes Following Possible Undiagnosed Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: A Contemporary Analysis. Stephen Huff J, editor. Acad Emerg Med [Internet]. 2017;24(12):1451–63. Available from: <u>http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/acem.13252</u>
- Yarmohammadian M, Rezaei F, Haghshenas A, Tavakoli N. Overcrowding in emergency departments: A review of strategies to decrease future challenges. J Res Med Sci [Internet]. 2017;22(1):23. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/1735-1995.200277</u>

48 Eur J Transl Clin Med 2020;3(1):43-48

- Yoon P, Steiner I, Reinhardt G. Analysis of factors influencing length of stay in the emergency department. CJEM [Internet]. 2003;5(03):155–61. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1481803500006539</u>
- Sprivulis PC, Da Silva J-A, Jacobs IG, Frazer ARL, Jelinek GA. The association between hospital overcrowding and mortality among patients admitted via Western Australian emergency departments. Med J Aust [Internet]. 2006;184(5):208–12. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16515429</u>
- Edlow BL, Samuels O. Emergency Neurological Life Support: Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. Neurocrit Care [Internet]. 2017;27(\$1):116–23. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12028-017-0458-8</u>
- 21. McCormack RF, Hutson A. Can Computed Tomography Angiography of the Brain Replace Lumbar Puncture in the Evaluation of Acute-onset Headache After a Negative Noncontrast Cranial Computed Tomography Scan? Acad Emerg Med [Internet]. 2010;17(4):444–51. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1553-2712.2010.00694.x
- Elwyn G, Frosch D, Thomson R, Joseph-Williams N, Lloyd A, Kinnersley P, et al. Shared Decision Making: A Model for Clinical Practice. J Gen Intern Med [Internet]. 2012;27(10):1361–7. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-012-2077-6</u>
- Long B, Koyfman A. Controversies in the Diagnosis of Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. J Emerg Med [Internet]. 2016;50(6):839–47. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jemermed.2015.10.020</u>
- Steffens S, Tucker P, Evans DD. Acute Headache in the Emergency Department. Adv Emerg Nurs J [Internet]. 2018;40(2):78– 86. Available from: <u>http://journals.lww.com/01261775-201804000-00002</u>
- 25. Grasso G, Alafaci C, Macdonald RI. Management of aneurysmal subarachnoid hemorrhage: State of the art and future perspectives. Surg Neurol Int [Internet]. 2017;8(1):11. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/2152-7806.198738</u>



Sciatica: Internet Search Trends

Tomasz Szmuda^{1*} , Shan Ali^{1*}, Marcin Czyz², Paweł Słoniewski¹

¹Scientific Circle of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Neurosurgery Department, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland

²Royal Orthopaedic Hospital, Birmingham, United Kingdom

*contributed equally to the manuscript

Abstract

Background: Sciatica is a significant global health burden with a lifetime incidence estimated between 13% and 40%. In our study, we assessed the online health interest in sciatica and lower back pain. **Material and methods:** Google Trends, Wikipedia statistics and PubMed data were used to gauge the online public interest in sciatica and lower back pain. **Results:** In the years 2015-2019 the Wikipedia page about sciatica has ranked high in all four categories it was included in, thus demonstrating that sciatica is a significant concern for the public. Wikipedia pages about sciatica and low back pain had a respectively 28% and 90% increase in views from July 2015 to March 2019. In the last eleven years (2008-2019) Google Trends demonstrates that sciatica has had a 2-fold increase in search frequency worldwide on the web, a 6-fold increase on YouTube and a 3-fold increase on Google images. In contrast, scientific interest in sciatica is low (only 140 PubMed publications in 2018). **Conclusions:** People have a relatively high and increasing online interest concerning sciatica and back pain. As a response, we suggest that hospital staff clearly provide reliable and understandable information to their patients concerning sciatica and lower back pain treatment.

Keywords: lower back pain · sciatica · Google Trends · Wikipedia

Citation

Szmuda T, Ali S, Czyz M, Słoniewski P. Sciatica: Internet Search Trends. Eur J Transl Clin Med. 2020;3(1):49-52. DOI: 10.31373/ejtcm/119130

Introduction

Majority of patients use online resources such as Wikipedia and a Google search to learn more about their illnesses. Wikipedia, a free online encyclopedia, is one of the leading sources of healthcare information [1-2]. Google is the world's most popular search engine which produces a significant portion of online searches for information about diseases. Both these platforms collect and publish statistics on user search traffic and this information may be used for analysis. Additionally, PubMed is an online database that

Corresponding author:

Shan Ali, Scientific Circle of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Neurosurgery Department, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland

e-mail: shanali@gumed.edu.pl

No external funds.

Available online: <u>www.ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl</u>

This is Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International.



indexes all major biomedical journals and it may be used to estimate the scientific output on a particular topic. So far, studies have been conducted using these platforms to assess the overall trends of several neurological diseases including epilepsy and multiple sclerosis [3-5].

However, these online tools have not yet been used to assess the online search trends for sciatica. Hippocrates first published about "sciatic pain" more than two thousand years ago, whereas in the early 20th century Harvey Cushing helped to establish surgical treatments for this condition. Today, sciatica is a significant global health burden with a lifetime incidence estimated between 13% and 40% [6]. Given its high incidence, our aim was to assess the popularity of sciatica online using Google Trends, Wikipedia and PubMed publication data [7-8].

Methods and materials

The Wikipedia Massviews tool was used to assess the objective popularity of sciatica in the following 4 categories it was indexed under: symptoms and signs: musculoskeletal system, orthopedic problems, pain, and peripheral nervous system disorders. Sciatica was searched (as a medical condition) on Google Trends for the last full eleven years (2008-2019). PubMed results were used to estimate the number of scientific articles on sciatica for the year 2018 the following keywords were searched: "sciatica," "low back pain" and "leg pain AND lumbar AND 2018."

Results

Wikipedia findings

Over the last full five years, (2015-2019) the Wikipedia article on sciatica has ranked high in all of the 4 categories it was included in: it ranked first under Symptoms and signs: musculoskeletal system, first under Orthopedic problems, first under Pain and second under Peripheral nervous system disorders. Considering that Wikipedia is the number one source for health information for patients and health care professionals, this demonstrates that sciatica is a significant concern for the public [1]. Sciatica not only seems to be more of a concern compared to other neurological disorders, like trigeminal neuralgia or neuropathic pain, but it is the most commonly searched topic in the vast category of "pain." Furthermore, Wikipedia page views on sciatica and low back pain show a 28% and 90% increase respectively from July 2015 to March 2019.

Google findings

In the last full eleven years (2008-2019) Google Trends shows that sciatica (as a medical condition) had a 2-fold increase in search frequency worldwide on the web, a 6-fold increase on YouTube and a 3-fold increase on Google images. Lower back pain (as a disorder) exhibited a similar trend with a 2-fold increase in search frequency worldwide on the web, 8-fold increase on YouTube (see Figure 1) and a 3-fold increase on Google images from the same time period.



Figure 1. YouTube searches for sciatica, low back pain and multiple sclerosis from 2008 to 2019

2018 PubMed statistics show that scientific interest in sciatica is low. Search query sciatica returned 140 articles. The combined search terms leg pain, lumbar and 2018 return 406 results. The results are slightly higher for low back pain (2,218 publications). This might suggest that scientists are more concerned of the problem of low back pain than sciatica, however, the varying definitions of sciatica in literature do not allow a reliable comparison of the real burden of sciatica and low back pain [9]. Nevertheless, both conditions garner a lower scientific interest when compared to another neurological condition such as multiple sclerosis (4,817 articles) as seen on Figure 1. Multiple sclerosis faced a 29% decrease of in-web searches, a 54% decrease on YouTube and a 20% decrease on Google Images between 2008 and 2019. Notably, multiple sclerosis has a far lower prevalence than sciatica or back pain.

Discussion

We found that there is an overwhelming increase in public interest on sciatica and low back pain. This finding is novel as we could not find any published study describing this trend. Perhaps this is due to the fact that online tools such as Massviews have only recently been available to highlight these trends.

Although effective medical, surgical and alternative treatment methods are available for sciatica, it is important for physicians to be aware of this pervasive condition as there is still a lack of evidence concerning the optimal treatment of lumbar disc-induced sciatica [10]. From an economic standpoint, presenteeism due to sciatica may deteriorate productivity in the workplace and undermine a country's economy [11].

There is miscommunication between patients and surgeons in regards to sciatica treatment [12]. One study found that patients felt that they were not given enough information by their surgeon regarding lumbar decompressive surgery to treat sciatica. However, the surgeons considered that they had expressed sufficient information. Due to the perceived knowledge gap, patients sought medical information from family, friends and the internet [12]. Notably, the topic "disc herniation" (a common cause of sciatica) yields low quality videos on YouTube [13-14]. Moreover, several studies show that the online information about neurological and neurosurgical diseases is too difficult for patients to understand [15-17]. Various treatments for sciatica have been recommended including bed rest, physical therapy, spinal manipulation and lumbar discectomy [18-20]. Given the broad spectrum of treatment options and the current online interest in sciatica, it would be beneficial if the scientific community provided reliable and reader-friendly information for the public.

Limitations of the analysis

Google accounted for 92% of the search engine market share worldwide from 2009 to 2018. Thus about 8% of the searches conducted on other search engines (i.e. DuckDuckGo, Bing, Yahoo!, Baidu, Yandex RU and Sogu) were not analyzed with Google Trends [21].

The definition of sciatica may differ among information-seekers. Even among physicians the exact definition of sciatica differs. Some researchers define sciatica as leg pain that extends from the back yet others restrict it to pain from specifically the lumbar nerve root [9].

The exact location and demographics of the increased online interest in sciatica could not be determined as it was not available from the platforms analyzed. Future studies may assess the age, gender, location or education level of information-seekers to pinpoint in exactly which populations saw an increase in sciatica.

Conclusion

Our study highlights that modern online tools may offer concerning public health information-seeking behavior in neurology and neurosurgery. Objective online metrics used in our paper have revealed that sciatica and back pain garner relatively high online interest. We suggest that hospital staff clearly highlight the causes, pathophysiology, diagnosis and management of sciatica in an easy to understand way via in-hospital leaflets, online materials and public relations work. We encourage physicians to be mindful of the high public interest in sciatica to mediate patient expectations regarding their prognosis and sciatica treatment options.

Conflicts of interest: none reported

Funding: No grant from public, commercial, or not-for-profit sector agencies were obtained for this research project.

Ethical permission: Ethical approval was not necessary for the preparation of this article.

References

- 1. Aitken M, Altmann T, Rosen D. Engaging patients through social media. IMS Inst Healthc informatics, Tech Rep. 2014;
- Laurent MR, Vickers TJ. Seeking Health Information Online: Does Wikipedia Matter? J Am Med Informatics Assoc [Internet]. 2009 Jul 1;16(4):471–9. Available from: <u>https://academic.oup.com/jamia/article-lookup/doi/10.1197/jamia.M3059</u>
- Kinney MO, Brigo F. What can Google Trends and Wikipedia-Pageview analysis tell us about the landscape of epilepsy surgery over time? Epilepsy Behav [Internet]. 2020 Feb;103:106533. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/</u> <u>retrieve/pii/S1525505019308650</u>
- Brigo F, Lattanzi S, Bragazzi N, Nardone R, Moccia M, Lavorgna L. Why do people search Wikipedia for information on multiple sclerosis? Mult Scler Relat Disord [Internet]. 2018 Feb;20:210–4. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.</u> <u>com/retrieve/pii/S2211034818300476</u>
- Brigo F, Igwe SC, Nardone R, Lochner P, Tezzon F, Otte WM. Wikipedia and neurological disorders. J Clin Neurosci [Internet]. 2015 Jul;22(7):1170–2. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0967586815000995</u>
- Stafford MA, Peng P, Hill DA. Sciatica: a review of history, epidemiology, pathogenesis, and the role of epidural steroid injection in management. Br J Anaesth [Internet]. 2007 Oct;99(4):461–73. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.</u> <u>com/retrieve/pii/S0007091217354612</u>
- 7. Google Inc. Google Trends [Internet]. [cited 2020 Apr 14]. Available from: https://trends.google.com/trends/?geo=UK
- MusikAnimal, Kaldari, Forns MR. Massviews Analysis [Internet]. [cited 2020 Apr 14]. Available from: <u>https://tools.wm-flabs.org/massviews/</u>
- Lewis R, Williams N, Matar H, Din N, Fitzsimmons D, Phillips C, et al. The clinical effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of management strategies for sciatica: systematic review and economic model. Health Technol Assess (Rockv) [Internet]. 2011 Nov;15(39). Available from: <u>https://www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hta/hta15390/</u>
- Peul WC, van Houwelingen HC, van der Hout WB, Brand R, Eekhof JA, Tans JT, et al. Prolonged conservative treatment or 'early' surgery in sciatica caused by a lumbar disc herniation: rationale and design of a randomized trial [ISRCT 26872154]. BMC Musculoskelet Disord [Internet]. 2005 Dec 11;6(1):8. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15707491</u>
- 11. Low Back Pain and Sciatica in Over 16s: Assessment and Management [Internet]. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (UK); 2016. Available from: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27929617</u>
- Rehman Y, Syed M, Wiercioch W, Rehman N, Drew B, Cenic A, et al. Discrepancies Between Patient and Surgeon Expectations of Surgery for Sciatica. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) [Internet]. 2019 May;44(10):740–6. Available from: <u>http://journals.lww.com/00007632-201905150-00013</u>
- Gokcen HB, Gumussuyu G. A Quality Analysis of Disc Herniation Videos on YouTube. World Neurosurg [Internet]. 2019 Apr;124:e799–804. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1878875019302463</u>
- Szmuda T, Ali S, Słoniewski P. Letter to the Editor Regarding "A Quality Analysis of Disk Herniation Videos on YouTube". World Neurosurg [Internet]. 2019 Oct 1 [cited 2020 Mar 24];130:570–2. Available from: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1878875019314482?via%3Dihub</u>
- Schmitt PJ, Prestigiacomo CJ. Readability of neurosurgery-related patient education materials provided by the American Association of Neurological Surgeons and the National Library of Medicine and National Institutes of Health. World Neurosurg [Internet]. 2013;80(5):e33–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wneu.2011.09.007
- Brigo F, Otte WM, Igwe SC, Tezzon F, Nardone R. Clearly written, easily comprehended? The readability of websites providing information on epilepsy. Epilepsy Behav [Internet]. 2015 Mar;44:35–9. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1525505014006994
- Modiri O, Guha D, Alotaibi NM, Ibrahim GM, Lipsman N, Fallah A. Readability and quality of wikipedia pages on neurosurgical topics. Clin Neurol Neurosurg [Internet]. 2018 Mar;166:66–70. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/</u> <u>retrieve/pii/S0303846718300271</u>
- Vroomen PCAJ, de Krom MCTFM, Slofstra PD, Knottnerus JA. Conservative Treatment of Sciatica: A Systematic Review. J Spinal Disord [Internet]. 2000 Dec;13(6):463–9. Available from: http://content.wkhealth.com/linkback/ope-nurl?sid=WKPTLP:landingpage&an=00002517-200012000-00001
- Hagen K, Hilde G, Jamtvedt G, Winnem M. Bed rest for acute low-back pain and sciatica. In: Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews [Internet]. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2000. p. CD001254. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10796429</u>
- 20. Gibson JA, Waddell G. Surgical interventions for lumbar disc prolapse. In: Gibson JA, editor. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews [Internet]. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd; 2007. p. CD001350.
- 21. Search Engine Market Share Worldwide [Internet]. StatCounter Global Stats. [cited 2020 Apr 14]. Available from: https://gs.statcounter.com/search-engine-market-share

How to deal with patients with atrial fibrillation during an epidemic?

Anna Tomaszuk-Kazberuk 💿

Department of Cardiology, Medical University of Białystok, Białystok, Poland

Abstract

Patients with atrial fibrillation (AF) due to old age and comorbidities are at a higher risk of SARS-CoV-2 infection. These patients should protect themselves by limiting contact with other people to an absolute minimum and they should be educated about hygiene, including careful hand washing. In general, the principles of antiarrhythmic drug treatment of quarantined, infected and asymptomatic individuals remain unchanged. In the hospital setting it is important to remember about possible interactions between anticoagulants, antibiotics, antiarrhythmic, antiviral and antimalarial drugs. The current pandemic also led to limitations regarding the implantation and control of implantable devices to an absolute minimum.

Keywords: atrial fibrillation • coronavirus • infection • SARS-CoV-2 Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus-2 • COVID-19 • Coronavirus disease 2019 • non-vitamin K oral anticoagulants (NOACs)

Citation

Tomaszuk-Kazberuk A. How to deal with patients with atrial fibrillation during an epidemic?. Eur J Transl Clin Med. 2020;3(1):53-59. DOI: 10.31373/ejtcm/120487

Introduction

In March of this year the World Health Organization (WHO) announced that the current global coronavirus-related situation (coronavirus disease 2019, COVID-19) is a pandemic. The causative agent the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) belongs to the highly pathogenic β -coronavirus family. Besides pneumonia, SARS-CoV-2 may cause severe respiratory disorders [1-2]. This virus spreads via droplets and through direct contact with an infected person. The cases of spreading the virus by air have not been confirmed and although it is not considered significant, it cannot be ignored when medical procedures involving the formation of aerosol are carried out [3]. The conjunctiva of the eye

Corresponding author:

No external funds.

Available online: www.ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl

Copyright ® Medical University of Gdańsk



Anna Tomaszuk-Kazberuk, Department of Cardiology, Medical University of Białystok, Białystok, Poland

e-mail: a.tomaszuk@poczta.fm

This is Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International.

54

is also very likely to be infected due to fluid contamination. The virus incubation period is on average 4-5 days. According to data published by the WHO, the time to onset of symptoms is usually 5 days and no later than 11.5 days [4].

A positive epidemiological history is an important step in the diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 infection. The epidemiological factors in the period of 2 weeks preceding the onset of the disease are: a visit to an area where the disease occurs, contact with a COVID--19-positive person or contact with a symptomatic person (e.g. fever and respiratory symptoms) from the area where the infection occurs.

Clinically the infection presents primarily with fever and/or respiratory symptoms. Radiological signs in computer tomography of the lungs are frequent. Whereas laboratory tests may reveal normal or decreased white blood cell count or decreased lymphocyte count [5].

Material and methods

This is a narrative-type review of current Englishlanguage literature on the subject of COVID-19 and atrial fibrillation. No statistical analysis was performed.

Results

What is known so far about COVID-19 and cardiovascular diseases?

Infection of SARS-CoV-2 is caused by binding of the viral spike protein to the human angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) receptor. The binding is followed by an activation of the viral spike protein by transmembrane protease serine 2 (TMPRSS2) [6].

ACE2 receptor is expressed in the lung and is the predominant way of entry. ACE2 is expressed also in the heart. ACE2 receptor as well is expressed in the intestinal epithelium, vascular endothelium, and the kidneys. This explains the multi-organ dysfunction occurrence in SARS-CoV-2 infection [7]. Unfortunately, there is increasing evidence showing that COVID-19 is connected with increased morbidity and mortality in patients with cardiovascular diseases.

The case fatality rate (CFR, number of deaths/ number of those diagnosed) is a very important parameter. In patients with no comorbidities the CFR is 0.9%, whereas in patients with cardiovascular disease (CVD) it is increased to 10.5%. For patients with diabetes mellitus (DM) the CFR is 7.3%, while 6.3% for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, 6% for hypertension (HTN) and 5.6% for cancer [8]. Recent meta-analysis of eight studies from China including 46,248 infected patients showed the most prevalent commodities were HTN (17 \pm 7%, 95% Cl 14-22%) and DM (8 \pm 6%, 95% Cl 6-11%), followed by cardiovascular diseases (5 \pm 4%, 95% Cl 4-7%) [9]. Myocardial injury in COVID-19 was proved by elevated cardiac biomarkers. In the Chinese study of 138 hospitalized patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan elevated high sensitivity troponin I [hs-cTnI] or new ECG or echocardiographic abnormalities were present in 7.2% of patients overall, and 22% that required treatment at an intensive care unit [10].

The report from the National Health Commission (NHC) of China comments that there is a subset of CO-VID-19 patients who presented with palpitations and chest pain, not the typical fever and cough [11]. Based on limited data, it seems that the incidence of fulminant myocarditis and cardiogenic shock is low [12].

Problems with INR assessment

In March 2020 a substantial number of laboratories in Poland were either closed or had limited working hours. This way the access to INR assessment became limited. In such circumstances it is advisable to switch from vitamin K antagonists to NOACs whenever it is possible, except for patients with artificial heart valves, recent implantation of biological valves, rheumatic stenosis or anti-phospholipid syndrome.

It is noteworthy that patients on NOAC cannot be deprived of the assessment of kidney function parameters. The test of choice is Creatinine Clearance (CrCl) calculated using the Cockroft-Gault equation. Patients taking NOACs need to have a renal function test at least annually in order to modify the dose if needed. If the patient's renal function is impaired (i.e. $CrCl \le 60mL/min$), a more frequent evaluation is recommended. The minimum frequency of renal function testing (in months) can be obtained by simply dividing the patient's recent CrCl by 10. In patients with additional risk factors (e.g. older age, frail, multiple comorbidities etc.), renal function may be evaluated even more frequently [13].

Is there any interaction between COVID-19 virus and NOAC?

If the patient with AF on NOAC is experiencing symptoms of COVID-19 or is suspect that may be infected with COVID-19, it is advised to consult with healthcare provider and closely follow the treatment recommendations that are given. Depending on individual symptoms and medical history, if a patient with AF treated with NOAC is infected with COVID-19, the healthcare provider should advise if and exactly how the treatment needs to be adjusted. Until then, the patient should continue the treatment with NOAC as previously advised by the healthcare provider.

Is there any interaction between NOACs and antimalarials or antivirals?

No detailed information is available yet for many potential interactions with NOACs and drugs that are used in AF patients. NOAC producers have not conducted dedicated drug-drug interaction studies to evaluate the co-administration of NOACs and the drugs listed above. For example, the recommendation listed in the manufacturer's label for dabigatran is based on the only drug-drug interaction study conducted with ritonavir, regarding its use in the treatment of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) [13]. Concomitant use with protease inhibitors such as ritonavir (and its combination with other protease inhibitors for example lopinavir) is not recommended. These drugs affect P glycoprotein (P-gp). As specified on the label, the pro-drug dabigatran etexilate but not dabigatran is a substrate of the transporter P glycoprotein (P-gp) [14].

P-gp inhibitors may increase exposure to dabigatran and therefore may increase the risk of bleeding. Close clinical monitoring for signs of bleeding or anemia and dose reductions may be required. P-gp inducers are expected to reduce dabigatran systemic exposure. Co-administration of potent P-gp inducers with dabigatran should be avoided.

Neither dabigatran etexilate nor its active metabolite dabigatran are metabolized by the cytochrome P450 system or have an effect on *in vitro* cytochrome P450 enzymes. Dabigatran is not expected to have any cytochrome P450 related drug-drug interactions.

No dedicated studies with antiretroviral medications such as Darunavir + cobicistat used in HIV infection and NOACs have been conducted as dedicated drug-drug interaction studies. Darunavir and cobicistat are both P-gp inhibitors. Coadministration of darunavir and cobicistat with dabigatran may result in increased dabigatran exposure and increased risk of bleeding [15].

According to dabigatran label, concomitant treatment with strong P-gp inhibitors is contraindicated. If not otherwise specifically described, close clinical surveillance (looking for signs of bleeding or anaemia), dose reductions may be required [14].

No relevant literature citations were identified in MEDLINE and EMBASE with the search terms "dabigatran" and the antimalarial or antiviral drugs such as: "chloroquine phosphate," "hydroxychloroquine" and "oseltamivir." Furthermore, no results were found for "dabigatran" and "remdesivir," "camostat," "favilavir" or "favipiravir." As always, clinical judgment should be crucial in managing every individual patient. Apixaban, rivaroxaban and dabigatran should not be used with atazanavir and lopinavir/ritonavir (see Table 1).

	ATV	LPV/r	RDV	FAVI	CLQ	HCLQ	RBV	тсz	IFN-β
Acenocoumarol	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow
Apixaban	\uparrow	\uparrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\uparrow	\uparrow	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow
Aspirin (anti-platelet)	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Betrixaban	↑♥	↑♥	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	↑	1	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Clopidogrel	\downarrow	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow
Dabigatran	1	\leftrightarrow or \downarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	↑	1	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow

Table 1. Interactions of anti-coagulant, anti-platelet and fibrinolytic drugs with antimalarial and antiviral drugs used in experimental treatment of COVID-19

Dalteparin	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Dipyridamole	\uparrow	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow						
Edoxaban	\uparrow	↑	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	↑	1	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Enoxaparin	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Fondaparinux	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Heparin	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Phenprocoumon	\uparrow	$\uparrow\downarrow$	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow
Prasugel	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow
Rivaroxaban	1	1	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	↑	1	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow
Streptokinase	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Ticagrelor	1	1	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow
Warfarin	1	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow

Abbreviations: ATV – Atazanavir; LPV/r – Lopinavir/ritonavir; RDV – Remdesivir; FAVI – Favipiravir; CLQ – Chloroquine; HCLQ – Chydroxycloroquine; RBV – Ribavirin; TCZ – Tocilizumab; IFN-β – Interferon beta

Color legend

- These drugs should not be coadministered
- Potential interaction which may require a dose adjustment or close monitoring
 Potenttial interaction likely to be weak intensity.
 - Additional action/monitoring or dosage adjustment unlikely to be required
- No clinically significant interaction expected

Detailed recommendations for about drug interactions with experimental COVID-19 therapies are updated regularly at: <u>http://www.covid19-druginteractions.org/</u>

Text legend

- Potential increased exposure of the comedication
- ↓ Potential decreased exposure of the comedication
- ↔ No significant effect
- One or both drugs may cause
 QT and/or PR prolongation.
 ECG monitoring is advised
 if coadministered

Is there any interaction between NOACs and tocilizumab (IL6-receptor blocker)?

The manufacturers of NOACs have not conducted dedicated drug-drug interaction studies to evaluate the coadministration of NOACs and tocilizumab. According to European Medicines Agency's summary of product characteristics, tocilizumab interacts with cytochrome 450, no information on drug-drug interaction related to P-gp transport is available [16]. According to dabi-

gatran label, dabigatran is not expected to have any cytochrome P450 related drug-drug interactions [17].

Are there any interactions between experimental COVID-19 therapies and azithromycin?

Prolonged cardiac repolarization and QT interval, imparting a risk of lethal ventricular arrhythmias including torsades de pointes, were observed in treatment

56

with macrolide antibiotics including azithromycin. Therefore, azithromycin should be used with caution in patients with ongoing proarrhythmic conditions (especially women and elderly patients) such as:

- current treatment with other known QT interval-prolonging drugs such as class IA (quinidine and procainamide) and class III (dofetilide, amiodarone and sotalol) antiarrhythmics,
- electrolyte abnormalities, particularly hypokalaemia and hypomagnesaemia,
- clinically-relevant bradycardia, cardiac arrhythmia or severe cardiac insufficiency.

Some observational studies have identified a rare short term risk of arrhythmia, myocardial infarction and cardiovascular mortality associated with macrolides including azithromycin. Consideration of these findings should be balanced with treatment benefits when prescribing azithromycin [18].

Are there any interactions between experimental COVID-19 therapies and antiarrhythmics?

See Table 2.

	ATV	LPV/r	RDV	FAVI	CLQ	HCLQ	RBV	тсz	IFN-β
Amiodarone	↑♥	^♥	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	^♥	↑	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow
Bepridil	↑♥	↑	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	↑♥	↑♥	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Disopyramide	↑♥	↑	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	$\leftrightarrow \mathbf{V}$	↔♥	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Dofetilide	↑♥	^♥	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	$\leftrightarrow \mathbf{V}$	↔♥	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Flecainide	↑♥	^♥	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	↑♥	↑	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Lidocaine (Lignocaine)	↑	↑	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Mexiletine	\leftrightarrow	1	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	↑♥	↑♥	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Propafenone	1	1	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	$\leftrightarrow \mathbf{V}$	$\leftrightarrow \mathbf{V}$	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow
Quinidine	\uparrow	\uparrow	\leftrightarrow	\leftrightarrow	$\leftrightarrow \mathbf{\vee}$	↔♥	\leftrightarrow	\downarrow	\leftrightarrow

Table 2. Interactions of antiarrhythmic drugs with antimalarial and antiviral drugs used in experimental treatment of COVID-19

Abbreviations: ATV – Atazanavir; LPV/r – Lopinavir/ritonavir; RDV – Remdesivir; FAVI – Favipiravir; CLQ – Chloroquine; HCLQ – Chydroxycloroquine; RBV – Ribavirin; TCZ – Tocilizumab; IFN-β – Interferon beta

Color legend

- These drugs should not be coadministered
- Potential interaction which may require a dose adjustment or close monitoring
 Potenttial interaction likely to be weak intensity.
 - Additional action/monitoring or dosage adjustment unlikely to be required
- No clinically significant interaction expected

Detailed recommendations for about drug interactions with experimental COVID-19 therapies are updated regularly at: <u>http://www.covid19-druginteractions.org/</u>

Text legend

- Potential increased exposure of the comedication
- Potential decreased exposure of the comedication
- ↔ No significant effect
- One or both drugs may cause QT and/ or PR prolongation. ECG monitoring is advised if coadministered

Indications for electrotherapy and electrophysiology procedures during the pandemic

For patients from the general population (people without confirmed infection and with a negative history of risk factors for infection), it seems reasonable to postpone elective procedures such as:

- · elective ablation of atrial fibrillation,
- implantation of cardiac pacemaker in case of tachycardia-bradycardia syndrome (atrial fibrillation as tachycardia) with scant symptoms.

The purpose of this restriction is to protect patients from contact with healthcare professionals and healthcare facilities, where the risk of infection is higher. Replacement of pacing systems due to a depleted battery or damaged electrodes should be carried out according to previously used procedures.

If possible, for people with suspected COVID-19 infection (people in quarantine awaiting their COVID-19 test result and with a history indicating the possibility of infection), the procedures should be postponed in all cases until confirmation or exclusion of infection.

Whereas for patients with a confirmed diagnosis of COVID-19 procedures should be carried out only if the patient has a life-threatening condition and performed in infectious disease hospitals with an electrotherapy laboratory. Otherwise, if the patient is not in a life-threatening condition, then the procedure should be postponed until the patient is cured of the COVID-19 infection or until the pandemic is over.

Postoperative pacemaker control, radiological and echocardiographic control, if possible, should be postponed until the patient's epidemiological status is confirmed. If this is not possible, the procedures should be carried out in accordance with the center's internal procedures adopted for the care of patients with COVID-19 [19].

Prior to a planned device control visit, it is recom-

mended to make telephone contact with the patient or caregiver and to history regarding clinical events (fainting, loss of consciousness) and disturbing symptoms associated with the device placement (e.g. redness, swelling, soreness, thinning of the skin) which may indicate a local infection or perforation. When in doubt, it is recommended that the patient sends photographs of suspicious changes for verification by the supervising cardiologist.

When using telemedicine systems for implantable devices that do not use daily automatic transmissions, the date and time of the planned data transmission from the implanted device should be set.

In each case, the date of the control visit and patient transportation should be agreed upon with the supervising cardiologist (or with other staff at the clinic). The patient should not use public transportation to and from the control visit. The patient should be advised to arrive on time and if possible use personal protective equipment (mask, gloves). The clinic staff should organize the process of registration and admission of the patient in way that minimizes the number of people in direct contact with the patient [20].

Conclusions

Patients with atrial fibrillation (AF) due to old age and comorbidities are at a higher risk of severe COVID-1 cours infection. These patients should protect themselves by limiting contact with other people to an absolute minimum and they should be educated about hygiene, including careful hand washing. In general, the principles of antiarrhythmic drug treatment of quarantined, infected and asymptomatic individuals remain unchanged. In the hospital setting it is important to remember about possible interactions between anticoagulants, antibiotics, antiarrhythmic, antiviral and antimalarial drugs. The current pandemic also led to limitations regarding the implantation and control of implantable devices to an absolute minimum.

References

- Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet [Internet]. 2020 Feb;395(10223):497–506. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5</u>
- Wu F, Zhao S, Yu B, Chen Y-M, Wang W, Song Z-G, et al. A new coronavirus associated with human respiratory disease in China. Nature [Internet]. 2020 Mar 3;579(7798):265–9. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2008-3</u>
- 3. Report of the who-china joint mission on coronavirus disease 2019 (covid-19) [Internet]. 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/coronaviruse/who-china-joint-mission-on-covid-19-final-report.pdf

- 4. World Health Organization. Q&A on coronaviruses (COVID-19) [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 14]. Available from: https://www.who.int/news-room/q-a-detail/q-a-coronaviruses
- Wujtewicz M, Dylczyk-Sommer A, Aszkiełowicz A, Zdanowski S, Piwowarczyk S, Owczuk R. COVID-19 what should anaethesiologists and intensivists know about it? Anaesthesiol Intensive Ther [Internet]. 2020;52(1):34–41. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.5114/ait.2020.93756</u>
- 6. Hoffmann M, Kleine-Weber H, Schroeder S, Krüger N, Herrler T, Erichsen S, et al. SARS-CoV-2 Cell Entry Depends on ACE2 and TMPRSS2 and Is Blocked by a Clinically Proven Protease Inhibitor. Cell. 2020 Mar 5;[in press].
- Zhang H, Penninger JM, Li Y, Zhong N, Slutsky AS. Angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) as a SARS-CoV-2 receptor: molecular mechanisms and potential therapeutic target. Intensive Care Med [Internet]. 2020 Apr 3;46(4):586–90. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00134-020-05985-9</u>
- 8. Wu Z, McGoogan JM. Characteristics of and Important Lessons From the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Outbreak in China. JAMA [Internet]. 2020 Apr 7;323(13):1239. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.2648
- 9. Yang J, Zheng Y, Gou X, Pu K, Chen Z, Guo Q, et al. Prevalence of comorbidities in the novel Wuhan coronavirus (COV-ID-19) infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Infect Dis. 2020 Mar;[in press].
- Wang D, Hu B, Hu C, Zhu F, Liu X, Zhang J, et al. Clinical Characteristics of 138 Hospitalized Patients With 2019 Novel Coronavirus–Infected Pneumonia in Wuhan, China. JAMA [Internet]. 2020 Mar 17;323(11):1061. Available from: <u>https://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/2761044</u>
- 11. Zheng Y-Y, Ma Y-T, Zhang J-Y, Xie X. COVID-19 and the cardiovascular system. Nat Rev Cardiol [Internet]. 2020 Mar 5; Available from: <u>http://www.nature.com/articles/s41569-020-0360-5</u>
- Clerkin KJ, Fried JA, Raikhelkar J, Sayer G, Griffin JM, Masoumi A, et al. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) and Cardiovascular Disease. Circulation [Internet]. 2020 Mar 21;CIRCULATIONAHA.120.046941. Available from: <u>https://www. ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.120.046941</u>
- 13. Kumar P, Gordon LA, Brooks KM, George JM, Kellogg A, McManus M, et al. Differential Influence of the Antiretroviral Pharmacokinetic Enhancers Ritonavir and Cobicistat on Intestinal P-Glycoprotein Transport and the Pharmacokinetic/ Pharmacodynamic Disposition of Dabigatran. Antimicrob Agents Chemother [Internet]. 2017 Nov 1;61(11):e01201-17. Available from: http://aac.asm.org/content/61/11/e01201-17.abstract
- 14. Pradaxa. Summary of Product Characteristics. European Medicines Agency [Internet]. [cited 2020 Apr 14]. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/pradaxa-epar-product-information_en.pdf
- Steffel J, Verhamme P, Potpara TS, Albaladejo P, Antz M, Desteghe L, et al. The 2018 European Heart Rhythm Association Practical Guide on the use of non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants in patients with atrial fibrillation. Eur Heart J [Internet]. 2018;39(16):1330–93. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehy136</u>
- 16. RoActemra. Summary of Product Characteristics. European Medicines Agency [Internet]. [cited 2020 Apr 14]. Available from: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/documents/product-information/roactemra-epar-product-information_en.pdf
- 17. Interactions with Experimental COVID-19 Therapies. The Liverpool Drug Interaction Group (University of Liverpool, UK), University Hospital of Basel (Switzerland) and Radboud UMC (Netherlands). [Internet]. [cited 2020 Apr 14]. Available from: <u>http://www.covid19-druginteractions.org</u>
- 18. Azithromycin. Summary of Product Characteristics [Internet]. [cited 2020 Apr 14]. Available from: <u>http://products.te-vauk.com/mediafile/id/47493.pdf</u>
- 19. Komunikat Sekcji Rytmu Serca Polskiego Towarzystwa Kardiologicznego dotyczący trybu i sposobu wykonywania zabiegów z zakresu elektroterapii lub elektrofizjologii serca w okresie epidemii COVID-19. [Internet]. [cited 2020 Apr 14]. Available from: <u>http://www.rytmserca.ptkardio.pl/news/188-komunikat_sekcji_rytmu_serca_polskiego_towarzystwa_kardiologicznego_dotyczacy_trybu_i_sposobu_przeprowadzania_kontroli_elektronicznych_urzadzen_wszczepialnych_ cied_w_okresie_epidemii_covid19</u>
- 20. Komunikat Sekcji Rytmu Serca Polskiego Towarzystwa Kardiologicznego dotyczący trybu i sposobu przeprowadzania kontroli Elektronicznych Urządzeń Wszczepialnych (CIED) w okresie epidemii COVID-19 [Internet]. [cited 2020 Apr 14]. Available from: <u>http://www.rytmserca.ptkardio.pl/news/188-komunikat sekcji rytmu serca polskiego towarzystwa kardiologicznego dotyczący trybu i sposobu przeprowadzania kontroli elektronicznych urządzen wszczepialnych cied w okresie epidemii covid19</u>

The role of interdisciplinary cooperation in the prevention of Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw (MRONJ)

Monika Teślak 💿 , Izabela Chlebus 💿 , Iwona Ordyniec-Kwaśnica 💿

¹ Department of Dental Prosthetics, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland

Abstract

Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw (MRONJ) is considered one of the most severe complications of treatment with antiresorptive drugs. The number of patients with MRONJ has significantly increased due to the broadening of the indication to treat with bisphosphonates and other antiresorptive drugs (e.g. denosumab). Because MRONJ has a significant impact on the patients' quality of life, it is necessary to reduce the risk of such complications by implementing preventive measures, e.g. full dental and oral cavity examination for all patients qualified for treatment with angiogenesis inhibitors or antiresorptive drugs.

Keywords: bisphosphonates · denosumab · osteonecrosis

Citation

Teślak M, Chlebus I, Ordyniec-Kwaśnica I. The role of interdisciplinary cooperation in the prevention of Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw (MRONJ). Eur J Transl Clin Med. 2020;3(1):60-65. DOI: 10.31373/ejtcm/120581

Introduction

Bisphosphonate-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw was described for the first time in 2003 in a case series of 36 patients treated with zoledronic or pamidronic acid [1]. The authors described painful exposure of the maxilla and mandible that did not react to surgical nor pharmacological treatment [1]. Numerous case reports of this condition were published since and its nomenclature has been changing [2-4]. Due to the increasing number of described cases of antiresorptive drug-related osteonecrosis of the jaw bones, in 2014 the American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons (AAOMS) suggested the term Medication

Corresponding author:

Monika Teślak, Department of Dental Prosthetics, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland

e-mail: monika.teslak@gumed.edu.pl

No external funds.

Available online: <u>www.ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl</u>

Copyright [®] Medical University of Gdańsk

This is Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International.



Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw (MRONJ) [4]. According to the current literature, osteonecrosis is a complication of treatment with bisphosphonates, denosumab and angiogenesis inhibitors [4-7].

Diagnostic criteria of MRONJ

The AAOMS position paper from 2014 indicate that MRONJ can be suspected if all of the following criteria are met:

- ongoing or past treatment with angiogenesis inhibitors or antiresorptive drugs,
- exposed facial/jaw bone or an extraoral fistula in the maxilla-facial area lasting > 8 weeks,
- no previous history of head and neck radiotherapy,
- lack of metastases to the jaw bones [4].

Clinically, a patient with MRONJ may present with exposed jaw bone with a focus of necrosis, pathological fracture of jaw bone, pain, inflammation, tooth movement, extraoral fistula, oral antral or oral nasal communication [4, 8-9] [see Figures 1-3]. Because MRONJ is a relatively new diagnosis, the literature about its treatment is scant and often limited to case reports. Several national and international dental and maxillo-facial surgery associations published MRONJ treatment guidelines [4-7]. However, these guidelines are often divergent due to a limited number of treated patients and different institutional experience [10]. The treatment strategy suggested by the AAOMS seems to be useful as it is based on the assessment of MRONJ severity which then guides the decision about appropriate treatment [4, 6] [see Table 1]. Infection control, analgesia and stopping the progression of osteonecrosis are key elements of MRONJ treatment [6].

Antiresorptive drugs

Bisphosphonates are group of drugs indicated for osteoporosis, osteopenia, Paget's disease of the bone, osteogenesis imperfecta, prevention of hypercalcemia and metastasis to the bones [1, 3-4, 8, 11]. By binding to the bone matrix, bisphosphonates exert their antiresorptive activity at several stages, e.g. inhibition of osteoclast precursors' maturation, inhibition of matu-





1 A

1 B

Figure 1. Example of Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw. A 75-year old male patient received 4 mg zolendronic acid iv every month between XI 2018 – X 2019 as a treatment for prostate cancer

A. Multifocally exposed bone and purulence observed in the region of the left body of the mandible; the possible cause of MRONJ occurrence was unfitting partial denture in mandibula

B. Cone beam computed tomography showed excessive osteolysis in mandibular alveolar bone area



2 A

2 B



Figure 2. Example of Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw. A 64-year old female patient received 4mg zolendronic acid iv every month between X 2017 – X 2019 as a treatment of breast cancer metastases

A. Exposed bone was observed in the region corresponding to tooth 14-15; the possible cause of MRONJ occurence was extraction of tooth 15 and following wear of unfitted partial denture. B. Panoramic radiography disclosed alveolar bone loss in region corresponding to teeth 14-15.

photo source: author's own materials

tient received 4mg zolendronic acid as a adjuvant treatment of multiple myeloma Exposed bone was observed in the right side of the mandibula; the possible cause of MRONJ occurence was extraction of teeth in above mentioned area.

ted Osteonecrosis of the Jaw. A male pa-

MRONJ STAGE	CLINICAL PICTURE	TREATMENT
0	Tooth or jaw pain without a clinically noticeable cause, tooth movement without a clinically noticeable cause	 Systemic treatment (antibiotics and analgesia), Referral to a dentist and follow-up visits every 8 weeks, Patient education
I	Asymptomatic focal bone necrosis without inflammation	 Antibacterial mouthwash, Follow-up visits every 8 weeks, Patient education
п	Focal bone necrosis with symptoms of inflammation and significant pain	 Systemic treatment (antibiotics and analgesia), Bone debridement to control the infection and to reduce trauma from sharp bone fragments, Antibacterial mouthwash, Follow-up visits every 8 weeks, Patient education
III	Focal bone necrosis with symptoms of inflammation and significant pain and excessive osteonecrosis of the jaw bones	 Systemic treatment (antibiotics and analgesia), Surgical debridement or resection of the necrotic bone, Antibacterial mouthwash, Follow-up visits every 8 weeks, Patient education

Table 1. Treatment strategies according to the severity of MRONJ (modified from the 2014 AAOMS Guidelines)

re osteoclast recruitment, reduction of osteoclast activity by inducing their apoptosis [6, 8]. Thanks to their ability to bind with the bone matrix, the therapeutic effect of bisphosphonates may last up to 10 years after discontinuation of doses [4, 8]. Low-dose (oral) bisphosphonates such as alendronic acid, ibandronic acid and risedronic acid are used in majority of their indications described above [6]. However, ibandronic acid, pamidronic acid and zolendronic acid may also be administered intravenously (iv) once every 3 months and once a year, respectively, to treat the same illnesses. High doses of iv bisphosphonates, such as ibandronic acid, pamidronic acid and zoledronic acid are most commonly administered for prevention of metastasis to the bones in the course of multiple myeloma or cancer of the breast, lungs and prostate [4, 6, 8].

Denosumab is a human monoclonal IgG2 antibody which inhibits the activation of osteoclasts and their precursors by selectively binding the receptor activator of nuclear factor k-B ligand (RANKL) on their surfaces [12]. This results in inhibition of maturation, function and longevity of osteoclasts, thus reducing bone resorption [2, 6]. Unlike bisphosphonates, denosumab does not bind with the bone matrix, thus its effect is minimal 12-24 months after discontinuation [8]. Low doses of denosumab are indicated for osteoporosis and prevention of bone metastasis (subcutaneous every 6 months), whereas high doses are administered for the treatment of bone metastases (subcutaneous every 4 weeks) [6].

Angiogenesis inhibitors are indicated in cancer treatment where they limit tumor and metastasis growth [8, 13]. Of all the drugs in this group, anti-VEGF (vascular endothelial growth factor) and TKI (tyrosine kinase inhibitor) seem to correlate with higher risk of MRONJ [14-16]. Similarly to denosumab, angiogenesis inhibitors do not bind with bone matrix and are metabolized up to 20 days after discontinuation [6-7].

Discussion

Prevention of MRONJ should be based on qualification of patients to their appropriate MRONJ risk group, assessment of possible additional risk factors and formulating individual treatment recommendations [7]. Drug dose, duration of treatment and presence of additional MRONJ risk factors determine the patient's risk of MRONJ [6] [Table 2].

Up to 90% of MRONJ cases occur in oncological patients treated with high-dose antiresorptive drugs [6]. Osteonecrosis is usually caused by a local oral infection or injury of mucosa or bone [6-7]. The most common risk factor related to the oral cavity is tooth extraction (45-61%), periodontal disease (10%) and poorly fitted dentures [3, 7, 17-18] [Table 3]. That is why cooperation between physicians and dentists is crucial in successful prevention of MRONJ [19-21]. Literature points out that MRONJ risk is lower among patients who were referred to a dentist and preventive procedures were performed [6, 22-23].

Table 2. Risk group assessment

RISK GROUP	TREATMENT	DURATION OF TREATMENT	RISK FACTORS PRESENT?*
LOW RISK OF MRONJ	LOW-DOSE • low doses of oral bispho- sphonates • Denosumab 60 mg every 6 months	Treatment < 3 years	No
HIGH RISK OF MRONJ	 LOW-DOSE low doses of oral bispho- sphonates Denosumab 60 mg every 6 months 	Treatment > 3 years	Yes
HIGH RISK OF MRONJ	 HIGH-DOSE high doses of bisphos- phonates iv Denosumab 120 mg every 4 weeks 	Irrelevant	Yes

* MRONJ risk factor: antiresorptive drugs, corticosteroids, chemotherapy, poor oral hygiene, periodontal disease, poorly fitted dentures, cigarette smoking, comorbidities (cancer, hematologic disease, immune system diseases, diabetes, anemia)

64 Eur J Transl Clin Med 2020;3(1):60-65

Table 3. MRONJ local risk factors	(according to	AAOMS 2014)
-----------------------------------	---------------	-------------

DENTAL	SURGICAL	ANATOMICAL
 Periodontal disease Peri-implantitis Poorly fitted dentures 	 Tooth extractions Dental implants Endodontic or periodontal procedures Bone regeneration procedures 	 Bone exostoses Torus mandibularis Mylohyoid line Torus palatinus

The specific preventive measures are dictated by assessing the patient's risk of MRONJ and by the stage of treatment with antiresorptive drugs [6, 21, 23]. Regardless of their MRONJ risk, all patients should be examined by a dentist and instructed about oral cavity hygiene [5-6, 19, 24]. In addition, the dentist should perform oral cavity sanation, perform periodontal treatment and check if the patient's dentures fit properly. The patient should be informed about the symptoms of MRONJ and the necessity of reporting them early [6].

After starting therapy with angiogenesis inhibitors or antiresorptive drugs, low-risk patients may undergo required and/or recommended dental treatment [5-7, 19, 24].

A different approach is required for patients with high risk of MRONJ. A dental consultation is recommended before any surgical, periodontal or dental implant procedure. Information from the physician supervising the antiresorptive drug therapy is also required [6, 21].

Literature suggests that lack of cooperation between physicians and dentists is correlated with a higher incidence of MRONJ [25]. Dentists may be the first doctors who diagnose signs of MRONJ, and patients with such diagnosis need to be referred to a maxillofacial surgery center for specialized treatment [23]. Regardless of their risk of MRONJ, patients treated with antiresorptive drugs need to complete dental hygiene training and have a follow-up visit every 4 months [7].

Conclusions

Increased incidence of MRONJ forces a multi-disciplinary cooperation between dentists and the physicians who are treating the underlying illness. The dentist may be the first doctor who diagnoses signs of MRONJ and initiates treatment, thus increasing the likelihood of good outcome. Currently there is no defined MRONJ treatment algorithm, so it is critical to implement preventive measures before starting antiresorptive drug treatment. Patients who are qualified for treatment with angiogenesis inhibitors or antiresorptive drugs should undergo dental examination and undergo full oral sanation in order to reduce the risk of complications.

Acknowledgments: The authors thank dr Hanna Sobczak, Oral Surgeon, who kindly provided clinical advice and guidance.

Conflict of interests: None declared.

References

- Marx RE. Pamidronate (Aredia) and zoledronate (Zometa) induced avascular necrosis of the jaws: a growing epidemic. J Oral Maxillofac Surg [Internet]. 2003 Sep;61(9):1115–7. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0278239103007201
- Ruggiero SL, Mehrotra B, Rosenberg TJ, Engroff SL. Osteonecrosis of the jaws associated with the use of bisphosphonates: a review of 63 cases. J Oral Maxillofac Surg [Internet]. 2004 May;62(5):527–34. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0278239104001958</u>
- Ruggiero SL, Dodson TB, Assael LA, Landesberg R, Marx RE, Mehrotra B. American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons Position Paper on Bisphosphonate-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaws—2009 Update. J Oral Maxillofac Surg [Internet]. 2009 May;67(5):2–12. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0278239109001153</u>
- Ruggiero SL, Dodson TB, Fantasia J, Goodday R, Aghaloo T, Mehrotra B, et al. American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons Position Paper on Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw – 2014 Update. J Oral Maxillofac Surg [Internet]. 2014 Oct;72(10):1938–56. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0278239114004637</u>

- Muthukrishnan A, Bijai Kumar L, Ramalingam G. Medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaw: a dentist's nightmare. BMJ Case Rep [Internet]. 2016 Apr 6;2016:bcr2016214626. Available from: http://casereports.bmj.com/lookup/doi/10.1136/bcr-2016-214626
- Nicolatou-Galitis O, Schiødt M, Mendes RA, Ripamonti C, Hope S, Drudge-Coates L, et al. Medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaw: definition and best practice for prevention, diagnosis, and treatment. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol [Internet]. 2019 Feb;127(2):117–35. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2212440318311933
- Di Fede O, Panzarella V, Mauceri R, Fusco V, Bedogni A, Lo Muzio L, et al. The Dental Management of Patients at Risk of Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw: New Paradigm of Primary Prevention. Biomed Res Int [Internet]. 2018 Sep 16;2018:1–10. Available from: <u>https://www.hindawi.com/journals/bmri/2018/2684924/</u>
- Eguia A, Bagán-Debón L, Cardona F. Review and update on drugs related to the development of osteonecrosis of the jaw. Med Oral Patol Oral y Cir Bucal [Internet]. 2020;25(1):e71–83. Available from: <u>http://www.medicinaoral.com/medoralfree01/aop/23191.pdf</u>
- 9. Dunphy L, Salzano G, Gerber B, Graystone J. Medication-related osteonecrosis (MRONJ) of the mandible and maxilla. BMJ Case Rep [Internet]. 2020 Jan 5;13(1):e224455. Available from: <u>http://casereports.bmj.com/lookup/doi/10.1136/bcr-2018-224455</u>
- Beth-Tasdogan NH, Mayer B, Hussein H, Zolk O. Interventions for managing medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaw. Cochrane Database Syst Rev [Internet]. 2017 Oct 6; Available from: <u>http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/14651858.CD012432.pub2</u>
- 11. McGowan K, McGowan T, Ivanovski S. Risk factors for medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaws: A systematic review. Oral Dis [Internet]. 2018 May;24(4):527–36. Available from: <u>http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/odi.12708</u>
- 12. Deeks ED. Denosumab: A Review in Postmenopausal Osteoporosis. Drugs Aging [Internet]. 2018 Feb 12;35(2):163–73. Available from: <u>http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s40266-018-0525-7</u>
- 13. Mander K, Finnie J. Tumour angiogenesis, anti-angiogenic therapy and chemotherapeutic resistance. Aust Vet J [Internet]. 2018 Oct;96(10):371–8. Available from: <u>http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/avj.12747</u>
- Otto S, Pautke C, Van den Wyngaert T, Niepel D, Schiødt M. Medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaw: Prevention, diagnosis and management in patients with cancer and bone metastases. Cancer Treat Rev [Internet]. 2018 Sep;69(February):177–87. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0305737218301014</u>
- Jacobsen C, Zemann W, Obwegeser JA, Grätz KW, Metzler P. The phosphorous necrosis of the jaws and what can we learn from the past: a comparison of "phossy" and "bisphossy" jaw. Oral Maxillofac Surg [Internet]. 2014 Mar 28;18(1):31–7. Available from: <u>http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s10006-012-0376-z</u>
- Khan AA, Morrison A, Hanley DA, Felsenberg D, McCauley LK, O'Ryan F, et al. Diagnosis and Management of Osteonecrosis of the Jaw: A Systematic Review and International Consensus. J Bone Miner Res [Internet]. 2015 Jan;30(1):3–23. Available from: <u>http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/jbmr.2405</u>
- Göllner M, Holst S, Fenner M, Schmitt J. Prosthodontic treatment of a patient with bisphosphonate-induced osteonecrosis of the jaw using a removable dental prosthesis with a heat-polymerized resilient liner: A clinical report. J Prosthet Dent [Internet]. 2010 Apr;103(4):196–201. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0022391310000521
- Hasegawa Y, Kawabe M, Kimura H, Kurita K, Fukuta J, Urade M. Influence of dentures in the initial occurrence site on the prognosis of bisphosphonate-related osteonecrosis of the jaws: a retrospective study. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol [Internet]. 2012 Sep;114(3):318–24. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2212440312003136</u>
- Campisi G, Fedele S, Fusco V, Pizzo G, Di Fede O, Bedogni A. Epidemiology, clinical manifestations, risk reduction and treatment strategies of jaw osteonecrosis in cancer patients exposed to antiresorptive agents. Futur Oncol [Internet]. 2014 Feb;10(2):257–75. Available from: <u>https://www.futuremedicine.com/doi/10.2217/fon.13.211</u>
- Yarom N, Shapiro CL, Peterson DE, Van Poznak CH, Bohlke K, Ruggiero SL, et al. Medication-Related Osteonecrosis of the Jaw: MASCC/ISOO/ASCO Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Oncol [Internet]. 2019 Sep 1;37(25):2270–90. Available from: <u>http://ascopubs.org/doi/10.1200/JCO.19.0118</u>6
- Yoneda T, Hagino H, Sugimoto T, Ohta H, Takahashi S, Soen S, et al. Antiresorptive agent-related osteonecrosis of the jaw: Position Paper 2017 of the Japanese Allied Committee on Osteonecrosis of the Jaw. J Bone Miner Metab [Internet]. 2017 Jan 29;35(1):6–19. Available from: <u>http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00774-016-0810-7</u>
- Hellstein JW, Adler RA, Edwards B, Jacobsen PL, Kalmar JR, Koka S, et al. Managing the care of patients receiving antiresorptive therapy for prevention and treatment of osteoporosis. J Am Dent Assoc [Internet]. 2011 Nov;142(11):1243–51. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0002817714628142</u>
- 23. Rosella D, Papi P, Giardino R, Cicalini E, Piccoli L, Pompa G. Medication-related osteonecrosis of the jaw: Clinical and practical guidelines. J Int Soc Prev Community Dent [Internet]. 2016;6(2):97. Available from: http://www.jispcd.org/text.asp?2016/6/2/97/178742
- 24. Coleman R, Body JJ, Aapro M, Hadji P, Herrstedt J. Bone health in cancer patients: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines. Ann Oncol [Internet]. 2014 Sep;25:iii124–37. Available from: <u>https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0923753419340785</u>
- Taguchi A, Shiraki M, Sugimoto T, Ohta H, Soen S. Lack of cooperation between physicians and dentists during osteoporosis treatment may increase fractures and osteonecrosis of the jaw. Curr Med Res Opin [Internet]. 2016 Jul 2;32(7):1261–8. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1185/03007995.2016.1170005

Thoracic trauma – principals of surgical management

Jerzy Lasek 💿 , Eugeniusz Jadczuk 💿

¹Department of Health Sciences, Pomeranian University in Słupsk, Poland

Abstract

Thoracic trauma continues to be a significant surgical problem. It is estimated that 25% of trauma-related deaths are due to penetrating and blunt thoracic injuries. Principals of surgical management of specific thoracic injuries like: tension pneumothorax, open pneumothorax, massive haemothorax, flail chest, cardiac injuries, ruptures of the aorta, tracheobronchial tree lesions, oesophageal and diaphragmatic injuries have been reviewed. Awa-reness of the potential for deterioration and early correct identification of life threatening thoracic injuries are the keys to successful management. Good outcomes in the management of thoracic injuries depend on rapid transport of the injured patient to the hospital, effective diagnostic and therapeutic measures and an aggressive involvement of an experienced surgical team, optimally in the operating theatre. Successful management of these injuries and aggressive surgical treatment of life-threatening lesions following penetrating and blunt trauma. Rapid decompression of tension pneumothorax and emergency thoracotomy, especially in patients following penetrating thoracic trauma may result in good outcomes. Effective management of severe thoracic injuries requires an integrated approach and cooperation of a multidisciplinary trauma team, including experienced thoracic and cardiac surgeons.

Keywords: penetrating • blunt • thoracic • trauma • surgery

Citation

Lasek J, Jadczuk E. Thoracic trauma – principals of surgical management. Eur J Transl Clin Med. 2020;3(1):66-73. DOI: 10.31373/ejtcm/120124

Overview of thoratic trauma

Thoracic trauma constitutes to be a significant medical problem and a major challenge for surgeons. It is estimated that 25% of road traffic accident-related deaths are due to thoracic lesions. Many of these patients die immediately at the scene because of rapid exsanguination secondary to rupture of the aorta or major vessels. Some patients die later as a consequence of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), multiple organ failure (MOF) and sepsis [1-2]. Lung is a very sensitive target organ for secondary injury fol-

Corresponding author:

Jerzy Lasek, Department of Health Sciences, Pomeranian University in Słupsk, Poland

e-mail: jerzy.lasek@gumed.edu.pl

No external funds.

Available online: <u>www.ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl</u> Copyright ® Medical University of Gdańsk

This is Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International.



lowing shock and remote tissue alterations. Tissue damage and shock can activate an inflammatory cascade which contributes to pulmonary insufficiency. Patients who reach hospital sometimes die as a consequence of misassessment, delay in treatment and other inadequacies; these are preventable deaths. It was found that a significant percent of in-hospital deaths from thoracic trauma were preventable, with injuries either not being recognized, diagnosed with delay or being inadequately treated [1, 3].

Thoracic trauma is quite frequent in Poland. In a large study from Poland, thoracic injuries were diagnosed in about 25% of 681 lethally-injured patients who were treated at a university trauma department [1]. These injuries were found as isolated chest lesions or components of multiple injuries localized in different anatomical regions and contributing significantly to the mortality [1]. Other studies suggest that 50% of patients who died in the pre-hospital phase had severe thoracic injuries. Severe vascular lacerations causing massive haemorrhage to pleural cavities and mediastinum were combined with vast injuries of the abdominal organs, brain and bone fractures [2-3].

Treatment challenges

Successful treatment of thoracic trauma continues to be challenging. It depends on optimal and effective prioritization of management based on the principals of ABC, with a rapid identification of severe injuries and aggressive surgical treatment of life-threatening injuries [4].

Thoracic injuries are usually classified as penetrating or blunt, the latter encompassing direct trauma as well as crush, acceleration or deceleration and blast injuries. In patients with polytrauma, life-threatening injuries that are without obvious external signs may be missed as attention is paid to more visible but less clinically serious injuries. Penetrating trauma may cause pneumothorax or haemothorax with massive blood loss. Some patients after chest trauma deteriorate rapidly. But on the other hand, with proper management they can rapidly improve. In patients with penetrating injuries surgical operations are frequently indicated, while diagnostic investigations are less required than in blunt trauma. In some cases, the distinction between blunt and penetrating thoracic trauma should be based on high index of suspicion because penetrating injuries often coexist with severe blunt injuries of solid organs and major vessels [4].

Careful analysis of patterns and mechanisms of chest injuries may be helpful in some situations. It has been proven that:

- A) penetrating thoracic trauma is usually connected with laceration of the heart, major vessels, intercostal vessels, airways, lung, oesophagus and diaphragm; there is also a risk of trauma to adjacent organs in the abdominal cavity (spleen, liver) and retroperitoneal space (major vessels, kidneys) [5],
- B) blunt thoracic trauma may cause cardiac contusion, lung contusion, rib fractures, thoracic spine fractures,
- C) crush mechanism may cause rupture of bronchus, oesophagus, heart, lung contusion, rib fractures with or without flail chest,
- D) deceleration thoracic trauma may cause aortic rupture, airway damage, diaphragmatic rupture,
- E) blast mechanism may be responsible for disruption of any intrathoracic organ and vessel.

Regardless of its mechanism and pattern, the main consequence of thoracic trauma is reduction of vital functions such as respiration and circulation, leading to hypoxia, hypovolaemia, reduced cardiac output. The sequelae of this injury have a detrimental effect on organs beyond the chest cavity, e.g. kidneys, liver, brain, gastro-intestinal tract.

In Poland, penetrating thoracic trauma is most often the result of knife injury. Knife wounds usually are connected with low velocity penetration and mortality is strictly related to the injured organ [1]. Compared with other countries, the occurrence of firearm-related penetrating injuries in Poland is sporadic. Firearm injuries cause more extensive tissue destruction related to the kinetic energy. Bullets are designed so that on impact, the missile expands or shatters, imparting all its energy to the tissue. Other ballistic characteristics of the bullet may contribute to tissue damage e.g. yaw, tumble and pitch. Tumbling may be important in high-velocity weapons, i.e. over 800m/s. Shotgun blasts are very dangerous because all of the energy is transferred to the tissue [4].

Patients with penetrating thoracic injuries to the mid-torso require an aggressive surgical approach, especially those with anterior wounds. If the wound does not obviously penetrate the abdomen, an option is to explore the wound under local anaesthesia whether or not it has penetrated the peritoneal cavity or retroperitoneal space. If peritoneal penetration has occurred, laparotomy is mandatory in order to find all possible injuries. For stable patients following thoracic trauma, options include other diagnostic measures like thoracoscopy and laparoscopy [6].

Patients following chest trauma arrive to hospitals in two physiological states: haemodynamically unstable or haemodynamically stable. The state of the

patient determines the specific diagnostic and therapeutic approach. The initial assessment of any injured patient must place priority on the evaluation of the airway and the adequacy of the cardiovascular system according to the ABC algorithm. A rapid physical examination will determine if the patient is cyanotic, tachypneic or has other problems with respiration. In the patient with a penetrating or a blunt injury to the upper torso who is unstable, most probably haemorrhage is occurring into the chest cavity; the patient should be taken to the hospital with no delay. It is important to insert a chest tube as soon as possible (through the 4-th or 5-th intercostal space) during the initial assessment and resuscitation in the emergency department. Bilateral chest tubes may be indicated. A chest x-ray is not required to insert a chest tube, but it is useful to do in order to confirm tube placement [7-8].

FAST or CT

Focused Assessment with Sonography for Trauma (FAST) has been widely used in trauma centers and emergency departments. It is a rapid, non-invasive, ultrasound diagnostic protocol used both in hamodynamically unstable and stable patients with penetrating or blunt injuries. It is usually performed in the resuscitation area of the Emergency Department. The extended FAST protocol (eFAST) may be very valuable in identifying cardiac tamponade, haemothorax and haemoperitoneum [2, 4]. In patients who are haemodynamically stable, a plain anteroposterior (AP) chest radiograph is still a gold diagnostic standard to identify pneumothorax or haemothorax. The eFAST examination should be performed within 10 minutes since the patient's arrival at the emergency department. A thoracic radiograph before placement of a chest tube may be helpful in excluding rupture of a diaphragm with possible herniation of a stomach or intestines to the pleural cavity, especially in patients following blunt trauma. Clinical signs in patients with chest injuries sometimes are subtle or misleading. Therefore, the thoracic radiograph helps to identify important lesions which require emergency surgical intervention or may suggest further investigations such as: CT scan, FAST, Transoesophageal Echocardiography (TEE) or thoracoscopy and laparoscopy [9-11].

Whole body computerized tomography (WBCT, also referred to as polytrauma scan) is a widely accepted diagnostic tool in the primary management of patients following major trauma. In many institutions WBCT is indicated even when the patient is haemodynamically unstable, as it may identify severe injuries within minutes [12]. WBCT is particularly recommended in patients after blunt trauma and with suspected multiple injuries, as it can reveal occult thoracic lesions [11].

Specific thoracic injuries

Management of specific thoracic injuries depends on the state of a patient arriving to the emergency department. Clinically, thoracic injuries are divided into two types: immediately life-threatening and potentially life-threatening (see Table 1).

Table 1. Thoracic injuries divided by their urgency

Immediately	Potentially
life-threatening	life-threatening
injuries	injuries
 airway obstruction	 myocardial
combined with facial	contusion, pulmonary
bone and soft	contusion, traumatic
tissue damage, tension pneumothorax, open pneumothorax, flail chest, massive haemothorax	diaphragmatic
causing impaired	herniatiom (TDH), tracheobronchial
circulation, cardiac injuries, traumatic rupture	tree disruption, simple haemothorax, simple pneumothorax, oesophageal
of the aorta (TRA), air embolism.	disruption

Immediately life-threating injuries

It is critical to identify and treat airway obstruction as soon as possible during the primary survey at the Emergency Department. Tension pneumothorax causes a real threat to life because of the progressive buildup of air within the pleural cavity, caused by one-way leak from a lacerated lung, airway or a chest wall. Air enters the pleural space on inspiration, but cannot be evacuated during expiration due to the functioning of one-way flap valve. This creates progressive accumulation of air with collapse of the ipsilateral lung, causing severe hypoxia, shift of the mediastinum to the opposite side, compression of the contralateral lung with atelectasis and decreasing venous return to the heart. The combination of hypoxia, impaired ventilation and critically reduced cardiac output leads to traumatic cardiac arrest unless the tension is decompressed. Tension pneumothorax can complicate both penetrating and blunt trauma. It may be also induced iatrogenically during the insertion of central venous lines or by the incorrect application of occlusive dressings to penetrating chest wall wounds. It should be remembered that tension pneumothorax may be intitiated in patients with a simple pneumothorax who are put on positive pressure ventilation. Awareness of this potential for the deterioration and early identification and treatment are the key to effective management. Diagnosis of a tension pneumothorax should be based on physical examination and radiological examinations should not be performed [3, 7]. The diagnosis can be difficult in a noisy emergency department. The classic signs are connected with decreased or lack of breath sounds and percussion tympany on the ipsilateral side, tracheal and cardiac deviation to the contralateral side, reduced chest movements, elevated venous pressure, progressive tachycardia, hypotension with pulsus paradoxus. When untreated, this pathology leads to full circulatory collapse and cardiac arrest with pulseless electrical activity (PEA). In rare cases tension pneumthorax may be bilateral.

Tension pneumothorax

Tension pneumothorax is the most frequent reversible cause of death during resuscitation of patients in pre-hospital traumatic cardiac arrest [13]. In the patient who is dying there should be no hesitation in performing immediate decompression of the affected side, converting tension pneumothorax into an open pneumothorax or simple pneumothorax [7-8]. In emergency the decompression is achieved by insertion of a dedicated needle (or a large-caliber, e.g. ~16 gauge intravenous catheter) into the fifth intercostal space in the anterior axillary line. The hiss of air usually confirms decompression and clinical improvement should be noticed. The cannula should be left open (resulting in an open pneumothorax) and the next step is to insert a chest tube, followed by re-examination of the chest and an AP chest radiograph. It must be remembered that a needle thoracostomy can easily become kinked or displaced, allowing the tension pneumothorax to recur. One should also keep in mind that the inserted drain may be blocked. It is obvious that these patients need careful clinical monitoring and repeated clinical examination [4, 13].

Massive haemothorax

Massive haemothorax is another life-threatening condition. Intercostal and internal mammary vessels are commonly disrupted. It should be remembered

that each hemithorax can hold up to 3 l. of blood. It is estimated that approximately 50% of patients with hilar, great vessel or cardiac wounds die immediately after the injury, while about 25 % survive for about 5-6 minutes; these are pre-hospital deaths. The remaining 25% arrive at the Emergency Department alive and require immediate diagnosis and surgical treatment. The diagnosis of massive haemothorax is invariably made by the presence of shock, respiratory insufficiency and deviation of the mediastinum. Patients in shock and with respiratory insufficiency must be intubated with no delay. A chest radiogram may confirm also the amount of blood loss. A chest tube should be inserted in order to relieve the threat of ventilatory embarrassment. The main objective in the treatment of massive haemothorax is to restore blood volume, treating actively shock together with drainage of the haemothorax via an intercostally inserted chest tube. In majortity of the patients with haemothorax the proper placement of a chest tube allows for effective evacuation of the blood. However, if initial drainage of blood is > 1500 ml or ongoing drainage is > 200 ml/h for about 4 or more hours, then thoracotomy in the surgical theatre is likely to be required. Ongoing bleeding, patient's clinical status and requirement for blood transfusion are important parameters that should be taken into consideration deciding about the need for the thoracotomy. In the operated patients major vessels, intercostal arteries, injury to the hilum of the lung or to the myocardium are the main sources of massive bleeding. These injuries should be treated by oversewing the lesion, making sure that bleeding is controlled [7-8]. In some instances resection of the lung segment or lobe and even pneumonectomy may be necessary [3, 14].

Injuries of the chest wall are common in patients following blunt trauma causing multiple fractures both in anterior and posterior parts of the ribs. When the chest wall loses its bony stability within thoracic cage, it becomes flail and starts to move paradoxically. The flail segment is moving in the direction opposite to the stable chest wall during inspiration and expiration. In many patients multiple rib fractures are accompanied by significant blood loss and lung contusion. Diagnosis of flail chest is based on clinical examination. In patients with flail chest, severe pulmonary contusion contributes to respiratory insufficiency. Treatment is usually initiated with high flow oxygen and lung expansion by intermittent positive pressure ventilation. Intercostal chest tubes are almost always necessary, particularly if positive pressure ventilation is needed. The aim of further management is to preserve respiratory function. In all patients effective pain relief is required, in some cases epidural anaesthesia may be very effective. Careful fluid management is indicated

because injured lungs are extremely sensitive to inadequate perfusion and to fluid overload. In cases with respiratory distress and hypoxia due to the flail segment, endotracheal intubation and mechanical ventilation are necessary, particularly in patients with large pulmonary contusion. Currently, there is an increasing tendency to concentrate on the associated damage to the underlying lung in the form of pulmonary contusion and ARDS [15]. Internal stabilization by means of endotracheal intubation and mechanical ventilation are effective therapeutic options in patients with bilateral multiple rib fractures. Some patients with unilateral flail chest can be managed selectively with ventilatory assistance or with short term use of mechanical ventilation. It is imperative that these patients have vigorous pulmonary care (aggressive pulmonary hygiene and cough-deep breathing) and are treated in departments by experienced and skilled medical staff.

It should be remembered that rib fractures are independent predictors of other abdominal solid organ injuries (spleen, liver) [16]. Currently, operative reduction and fixation (ORIF) of the chest wall has been evolving as a method of chest wall stabilization [17]. ORIF of broken ribs may be performed in adult patients with flail chest with measured metal plates, bracketed fixators or resorbable plates. This approach improves primary and secondary outcomes in appropriately selected patients [18].

Penetrating heart wounds

Penetrating heart wounds represent some of the most extreme emergencies that a physician must manage. A penetrating cardiac trauma creates several rapid life threatening sequelae that include massive haemorrhage, cardiac tamponade and myocardial injury [19]. The period between trauma and successful therapeutic measures very often is dramatically short. More effective emergency medical response systems have resulted in more opportunities to treat these severely injured patients at the hospital. It is estimated that at least about 50% of patients with a penetrating cardiac injury may reach the trauma unit alive with an opportunity to be treated and finally salvaged.

Whatever the cause of penetrating injuries to the heart, a series of events occurs that can compromise cardiac function and quickly cause death unless timely interventions are instituted. The first problem is the penetration of a cardiac chamber, which leads to bleeding. If a large damage to the pericardium is made, bleeding into either chest cavity or mediastinum may occur; thus hypovolaemic shock may occur without cardiac tamponade. If the pericardial damage is small or seals itself, cardiac tamponade may develop with physical signs of hypotension, distended neck veins and muffled heart sounds (Beck's triad). In such a situation, a small amount of blood in the pericardial space can cause serious cardiovascular instability by restricted venous return and thus "choking" the heart. In other cases, cardiac trauma may cause damage of the cardiac valves or ventricular septum and may lead to uncontrollable heart failure. The pericardial sac does not acutely distend; 75-100 ml of blood can produce a life-threatening tamponade in the adult. The classic Beck's triad is not always seen in the Emergency Department; neck veins may not be distended in deep hypovolaemia and muffled heart sounds can be difficult to identify in noisy surroundings.

It seems that penetrating cardiac injuries should be easy to diagnose. In reality it happens that such an injury may be overlooked, especially in fully-clothed, drunk or unconscious patients with other coexisting lesions. Therefore, it is imperative that all members of the emergency services and surgeons should treat these patients with a high degree of suspicion starting from the scene of the trauma. The patient should be taken to the hospital as soon as possible according to the "scoop and run" (or "load and go") approach and immediate emergency thoracotomy should be initiated [20-21]. Ideally an emergency thoracotomy should be performed in the operating theatre, however if the patient is in extremis, this life-saving procedure can be performed in an Emergency Department. A left anterolateral thoracotomy through the 4-th or 5-th intercostal space and long pericardial incision anterior to the phrenic nerve allows good exposure of the heart for control of haemorrhage and provides the optimal access for direct compressions of the heart during resuscitation. This surgical access is made in the supine position of a patient and may be extended across the sternum into the contralateral hemithorax (the "clamshell" incision or bilateral thoracotomy). Majority of cardiac wounds can be surgically closed with simple sutures or horizontal mattress sutures of a 3/0 or 4/0 monofilament. Bolstering the sutures with Teflon pledgets may be required. Care must be taken not to suture coronary vessels. Loose approximating sutures of the pericardium after the injury is repaired prevent from a serious complication connected with the cardiac herniation through the pericardium, which may occlude venous return and cause sudden death. In case of damage to the valves, chordae tendineae, septum or myocardium, further cardiac surgery may be needed.

Tears of the aorta or pulmonary arteries

Tears of the aorta or pulmonary arteries are associated with blunt or rapid deceleration mechanism such as falls from significant height, high speed motor vehicle crashes. The aorta may be transected comple-

tely or partially. The most common site of rupture is at the attachment of the ligamentum arteriosum. It is estimated that aortic rupture is immediately fatal in about 85-90% and accounts for 15-20% of immediate overall trauma deaths due to road traffic accidents. The immediate survival of the patient depends on the development of a contained haematoma, maintained by the intact adventitia. The survival of the patient after reaching the hospital depends on early diagnosis followed by effective treatment. Any suspicion of an aortic injury necessitates further rapid investigation. A widened mediastinum over 8 cm at the level of aortic arch is the most consistent finding on a chest radiogram. Contrast--enhanced spiral CT scan has become the investigation of choice for the proper diagnosis of aortic injuries with sensitivity and specificity approaching 100%. When this lesion is suspected, intended permissive hypotension should reduce the risk of a rupture of the adventitial layer containing the tear. The goal for systolic blood pressure should be approximately 90-100 mm Hg. Alpha and β blockade (e.g. esmolol, labetolol, nitropusside) should be instituted after significant bleeding from other injuries has been excluded. Currently the treatment of traumatic rupture of the aorta has evolved from performing emergent open surgical repair with clamping and sewing technique to minimally invasive treatment by means of interventional radiologic technique with the interposition of a vascular intra-aortic stent graft [22-23].

Potentially life-threatening injuries

Most patients with major tracheobronchial tree and airway injuries die at the scene as a result of asphyxia. Those who survive to reach the hospital are usually in extremis. These lesions are suggested by massive haematoptysis, airway obstruction, progressive mediastinal air, subcutaneous emphysema, significant persistent air leak after placement of a chest tube. In most cases the air leak stops after a few days (combined with good expansion of the lung) with the chest tube drainage alone. If there is a persistent leak of air for a long time, thoracic CT and bronchoscopy are indicated to detect the damage. In case of damage to the trachea or bronchus, a posterolatertal thoracotomy is needed. Definitive treatment includes primary repair with absorbable sutures. It should be remembered that chest drainage is required in case of any pneumothorax [24].

Diaphragmatic injuries

Diaphragmatic injuries occur in patients following violent abdominal and thoracic compression mechanism. The left diaphragm is injured 6 times more frequently than the right one. The diaphragm normally rises to the fifth intercostal space during normal expiration, so that any patient after mid-torso trauma is at risk for diaphragmatic rupture. Right-sided lesion may show only a raised hemidiaphragm, whereas a left-sided may show herniation of the stomach, spleen and intestines. Accurate diagnosis is obtained optimally on thoraco-abdominal CT or NMR. All diaphragmatic ruptures should be repaired. Those injuries that are not repaired will present later, usually with dangerous incarceration of the small bowel, colon or omentum into the hernial defect. Acute repair may be accomplished via laparotomy or thoracotomy. The preferred surgical closure of diaphragmatic ruptures is based on interrupted sutures. In large defects synthetic prosthetic material or flaps should be used [25-26].

Oesophageal injuries

Oesophageal injuries are usually caused by penetrating trauma. The diagnosis is also probable in patients after blunt trauma with pneumothorax or haemothorax in the absence of rib fractures. On chest X-ray, patients may present posterior mediastinitis with fever, pain and persistent pneumothorax. Once diagnosed, posterolateral thoracotomy and routine surgical closure should be performed. Injuries to the oesophagus should be surgically repaired if the injury is less than 6 hours "old". It is important to put the sutures in situ in order to avoid damage to the vasculature of the oesophagus. In "older" oesophageal injuries wide drainage with chest tubes, diverting oesophagostomy and nutritional support by feeding gastrostomy may provide the optimal management [4].

Strict criteria for emergency department thoracotomy (EDT) (historically called "emergency room thoracotomy") remain controversial. Overall survival rates for patients undergoing ED thoracotomy vary from 4 to 33% across numerous studies [27-28]. This procedure should be reserved to control haemorrhage, to control the aortic outflow (aortic "cross-clamping") and to perform direct cardiac compressions. There should be no hesitation to perform EDT in patients with cardiac arrest after penetrating trauma. EDT must be initiated only in intubated patients. It should be also started if only pulseless electrical activity (PEA) has been recorded. EDT has been found most effective in penetrating cardiac wounds, especially when cardiac tamponade is present and in those patients in whom there has been a witnessed post traumatic cardiac arrest [29]. The most common surgical access for this procedure is through the 4-th or 5-th left intercostal space. The incision when needed may be extended to the opposite side ("clamshell" incision) providing good access to the

heart, mediastinum and both pleural cavities. Median sternotomy gives excellent exposure to the heart and great vessels. EDT is contraindicated when there has been ineffective cardiopulmonary resuscitation (CPR) for more than 10 minutes with or without endotracheal intubation and in cases, when there were no signs of life at the scene. EDT is a team event. This procedure should be terminated if irrepairable cardiac damage has occurred, pulseless electrical activity (PEA) and asystolic cardiac arrest have occurred for over 10 minutes.

The survival rate in patients following EDT after penetrating thoracic trauma is about 10%, but it has been found beneficial in around 50% in patients presenting with signs of life after isolated penetrating cardiac injuries and only rarely in those presenting without signs of life (below 2%). In non-cardiac penetrating wounds the survival rate is around 25% when signs of life were noticed. Only 1-2% of patients after EDT are salvaged after blunt trauma regardless their clinical status on admission. However, a patient after blunt trauma who is exsanguinating via a chest tube due to ruptured thoracic vessels may be salvageable with EDT. Whatever the indication, EDT should be performed by an experienced surgeon, optimally in the operating theatre with good lighting, appropriate instruments and a functioning suction apparatus. It must be noticed that there is an extremely high mortality rate associated with all thoracotomies performed anywhere outside the operating theatre, especially when performed by non-surgeons [7, 29]. A candidate for an EDT should be by all means transported as soon as possible to the trauma center or to a surgical department providing professional trauma surgical approach [30-31].

Effective management of severe thoracic injuries demands integrated approach and necessity of cooperation of a multidisciplinary trauma team or an extended trauma team with the participation of experienced thoracic and cardiac surgeons.

References

72

- Lasek J. Krytyczna ocean przyczyn śmiertelności 681 chorych, którzy zmarli po urazie spośród 20540 osób leczonych w Katedrze i Klinice Chirurgii Urazowej AM w Gdańsku w okresie 20 lat. Rozprawa habilitacyjna. Ann Acad Medicae Gedanensis [Internet]. 2000;XXX(suppl. 3):1–307. Available from: <u>https://pbc.gda.pl/dlibra/publication/57980/edition/51883</u>
- Zhang S, Tang M, Ma J, Yang J, Qin X, Jin W, et al. Thoracic trauma a descriptive review of 4168 consecutive cases in East China. Medicine (Baltimore) [Internet]. 2019 Apr;98(14):e14993. Available from: <u>http://journals.lww.com/00005792-201904050-00018</u>
- Platz JJ, Fabricant L, Norotsky M. Thoracic Trauma. Surg Clin North Am [Internet]. 2017 Aug;97(4):783–99. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.suc.2017.03.004</u>
- Blyth A. Thoracic Trauma. In: Skinner D, Driskoll P, editors. ABC of major trauma [Internet]. 4th ed. Wiley-Blackwell; 2018.
 p. 18–28. Available from: <u>https://www.wiley.com/en-pl/ABC+of+Major+Trauma,+4th+Edition-p-9780727918598</u>
- Berg RJ, Karamanos E, Inaba K, Okoye O, Teixeira PG, Demetriades D. The persistent diagnostic challenge of thoracoabdominal stab wounds. J Trauma Acute Care Surg [Internet]. 2014 Feb;76(2):418–23. Available from: <u>https://journals.lww.</u> <u>com/jtrauma/Fulltext/2014/02000/The_persistent_diagnostic_challenge_of.23.aspx</u>
- Jin J, Song B, Lei Y, Leng X. Video-assisted thoracoscopic surgery for penetrating thoracic trauma. Chinese J Traumatol [Internet]. 2015 Feb;18(1):39–40. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1008127515000085
- Hirshberg A, Mattox KL. The Chest. In: Allen M, editor. Top knife, the art of trauma surgery [Internet]. 2005. p. 147–81. Available from: <u>https://epdf.pub/queue/top-knife-art-and-craft-in-trauma-surgery.html</u>
- Ludwig C, Koryllos A. Management of chest trauma. J Thorac Dis [Internet]. 2017 Apr;9(S3):S172–7. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28446982
- Subcommittee A, Tchorz KM, Group IAW. Advanced trauma life support (ATLS[®]): the ninth edition. J Trauma Acute Care Surg. 2013;74(5):1363.
- Saillant NN, Sein V. Management of severe chest wall trauma. J Emerg Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2018 May;2:41–8. Available from: <u>http://jeccm.amegroups.com/article/view/4306/4900</u>
- 11. Leech C. Whole body computed tomography for trauma: friend or foe? Emerg Med J [Internet]. 2017 Oct 1;34(10):635–6. Available from: http://emj.bmj.com/content/34/10/635.abstract
- Huber-Wagner S, Biberthaler P, H\u00e4berle S, Wierer M, Dobritz M, Rummeny E, et al. Whole-Body CT in Haemodynamically Unstable Severely Injured Patients – A Retrospective, Multicentre Study. Landoni G, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. 2013 Jul 24;8(7):e68880. Available from: <u>https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0068880</u>
- Mistry N, Bleetman A, Roberts KJ. Chest decompression during the resuscitation of patients in prehospital traumatic cardiac arrest. Emerg Med J [Internet]. 2009 Oct 1;26(10):738–40. Available from: <u>http://emj.bmj.com/content/26/10/738.abstract</u>
- 14. Phillips B, Turco L, Mirzaie M, Fernandez C. Trauma pneumonectomy: A narrative review. Int J Surg [Internet]. 2017 Oct;46:71–4. Available from: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S174391911731230X</u>
- 15. Qi Y. Clinical study on VATS combined mechanical ventilation treatment of ARDS secondary to severe chest trauma. Exp Ther Med [Internet]. 2016 Aug;12(2):1034–8. Available from: <u>https://www.spandidos-publications.com/10.3892/</u> <u>etm.2016.3355</u>
- 16. Subedi N. Liver and Spleen Injuries and Associated Rib Fractures: An Autopsy Study. J Forensic Res [Internet]. 2014;5(5):240–5. Available from: <u>https://www.omicsonline.org/open-access/liver-and-spleen-injuries-and-associat-ed-rib-fractures-an-autopsy-study-2157-7145.1000240.php?aid=30426</u>
- Pieracci FM, Majercik S, Ali-Osman F, Ang D, Doben A, Edwards JG, et al. Consensus statement: Surgical stabilization of rib fractures rib fracture colloquium clinical practice guidelines. Injury [Internet]. 2017 Feb;48(2):307–21. Available from: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0020138316307665</u>
- 18. Senekjian L, Nirula R. Rib Fracture Fixation. Crit Care Clin [Internet]. 2017 Jan 1;33(1):153–65. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccc.2016.08.009
- Stranch EW, Zarzaur BL, Savage SA. Thinking outside the box: re-evaluating the approach to penetrating cardiac injuries. Eur J Trauma Emerg Surg [Internet]. 2017 Oct 18;43(5):617–22. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00068-016-0680-7
- Davis JS, Satahoo SS, Butler FK, Dermer H, Naranjo D, Julien K, et al. An analysis of prehospital deaths. J Trauma Acute Care Surg [Internet]. 2014 Aug;77(2):213–8. Available from: <u>https://journals.lww.com/jtrauma/Fulltext/2014/08000/</u> <u>An_analysis_of_prehospital_deaths___Who_can_we.5.aspx</u>
- 21. Sanchez GP, Peng EWK, Marks R, Sarkar PK. 'Scoop and run' strategy for a resuscitative sternotomy following unstable penetrating chest injury. Interact Cardiovasc Thorac Surg [Internet]. 2010 Mar 1;10(3):467–8. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1510/icvts.2009.219865</u>
- Watanabe K, Fukuda I, Asari Y. Management of traumatic aortic rupture. Surg Today [Internet]. 2013 Dec 23;43(12):1339–46. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00595-012-0471-7</u>
- 23. Karmy-Jones R, Jackson N, Long W, Simeone A. Current Management of Traumatic Rupture of the Descending Thoracic Aorta. Curr Cardiol Rev [Internet]. 2009 Aug 1;5(3):187–95. Available from: <u>http://www.eurekaselect.com/openurl/content.php?genre=article&issn=1573-403X&volume=5&issue=3&spage=187</u>
- 24. Madden BP. Evolutional trends in the management of tracheal and bronchial injuries. J Thorac Dis [Internet]. 2017 Jan;9(1):E67–70. Available from: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28203439</u>
- McDonald AA, Robinson BRH, Alarcon L, Bosarge PL, Dorion H, Haut ER, et al. Evaluation and management of traumatic diaphragmatic injuries. J Trauma Acute Care Surg [Internet]. 2018 Jul;85(1):198–207. Available from: <u>https://journals.</u> <u>lww.com/jtrauma/Fulltext/2018/07000/Evaluation_and_management_of_traumatic.31.aspx</u>
- Mizobuchi T, Iwai N, Kohno H, Okada N, Yoshioka T, Ebana H. Delayed diagnosis of traumatic diaphragmatic rupture. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg [Internet]. 2009 Aug 24;57(8):430–2. Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11748-009-0418-0</u>
- Bouillon B, Probst C, Maegele M, Wafaisade A, Helm P, Mutschler M, et al. Schockraummanagement Polytrauma. Der Chir [Internet]. 2013 Sep 28;84(9):745–52. Available from: <u>http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/23979042</u>
- 28. Boddaert G, Hornez E, De Lesquen H, Avramenko A, Grand B, MacBride T, et al. Resuscitation thoracotomy. J Visc Surg [Internet]. 2017 Dec;154:S35–41. Available from: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/</u> <u>\$18787886617300826</u>
- Mollberg NM, Tabachnik D, Farjah F, Lin F-J, Vafa A, Abdelhady K, et al. Utilization of Cardiothoracic Surgeons for Operative Penetrating Thoracic Trauma and Its Impact on Clinical Outcomes. Ann Thorac Surg [Internet]. 2013 Aug;96(2):445–50. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003497513008461
- 30. Onat S, Ulku R, Avci A, Ates G, Ozcelik C. Urgent thoracotomy for penetrating chest trauma: Analysis of 158 patients of a single center. Injury [Internet]. 2011 Sep;42(9):900–4. Available from: <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/ pii/S0020138310001312</u>
- 31. Seamon MJ, Haut ER, Van Arendonk K, Barbosa RR, Chiu WC, Dente CJ, et al. An evidence-based approach to patient selection for emergency department thoracotomy. J Trauma Acute Care Surg [Internet]. 2015 Jul;79(1):159–73. Available from: <u>http://content.wkhealth.com/linkback/openurl?sid=WKPTLP:landingpage&an=01586154-201507000-00024</u>

How to write a scientific paper? Lessons from a distinguished scientist and editor

Shan Ali^{1*} , Tomasz Szmuda^{2*}, Zbigniew Wszołek^{3*}

¹Scientific Circle of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Neurosurgery Department, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland ²Department of Neurosurgery, Medical University of Gdańsk, Gdańsk, Poland ³Department of Neurology, Mayo Clinic in Florida, Jacksonville, FL, USA *all authors contributed equally to the manuscript

Abstract

This article is an instructive guide on how to write and publish a scientific article. It was inspired by a lecture given at the Medical University of Gdańsk by a distinguished professor. To further advance science, particularly in the currently emerging era of individualized medicine, the collaboration of researchers with a varied level of experience and from different areas of expertise is needed. It is vital to publish the results of research quickly and effectively. Knowing the basic mechanisms of writing and publishing will help to disseminate research results more effectively.

Keywords: neuroscience • publishing • scientists • neurology • neurosurgery • generations

Citation

Ali S., Szmuda T., Wszołek ZK. How to write a scientific paper? Lessons from a distinguished scientist and editor. Eur J Transl Clin Med. 2020;3(1):74-78. DOI: 10.31373/ejtcm/118954

This article is an instructive guide on scientific writing and successful publication. It was inspired by professor Zbigniew Wszołek's keynote lecture (presented on May 28, 2019 at the Medical University of Gdańsk) on the subject *How to write and publish a scientific paper*?

How to start writing?

When writing the manuscript, one may choose to write in the following order: results, methods and materials, introduction, discussion, conclusion and the abstract. In this way, the author is 'forced' to analyze

Corresponding author:

Updated: 31.03.2020

Shan Ali, Scientific Circle of Neurology and Neurosurgery, Neurosurgery Department, Medical University of Gdańsk, Poland

e-mail: shanali@gumed.edu.pl

No external funds.

Available online: <u>www.ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl</u>

Copyright [®] Medical University of Gdańsk

This is Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-ShareAlike 4.0 International.



all the data for any significant findings and to formulate the main thesis of the paper before doing most of the writing. However, the final version needs to follow the universally-accepted structure: first the abstract, then the introduction, materials and methods, results, discussion, and last but not least the conclusion.

Authorship

If two authors contributed equally to a publication, they may feel free to share first authorship [1]. In 2012 almost 30% of all medical publications had cofirst authorship [2]. For instance, this editorial shares first-authorship between the three authors. Placing the most senior investigator as the last author is customary, however according to the current guidelines if the senior investigator's role consisted of project supervision only, then s/he should be just mentioned in the acknowledgement section [3]. Group authorship (Group Corporate Authorship) instead of single authors is a possibility and is recognized by the National Library of Medicine database [4].

The Abstract

The abstract is a crucial part of a manuscript because it provides the initial impression for the reader. Scientific journals require that the abstract is limited to about 200 to 300 words and is a separate part of the manuscript. The most significant and most important parts of the paper are usually presented in the abstract. It is typically arranged in the following sections: background, aim/purpose, material and methods, results and conclusion.

The Introduction

The introduction is a short and concise review of your topic and is directly relevant to the aim of your study. It follows a standard format and should not be longer than three paragraphs. The first paragraph focuses on information that is already known and established. The second paragraph introduces the knowledge gap or the limitations of current scientific knowledge. The third paragraph declares the purpose of the study and why the study may be clinically relevant. Notably, the introduction should not yet answer the main research question and should not contain any results.

Ethical Commitee Approval & Patient Consent

Ethical committee approval and patient consent is required for almost any study involving people

or their information (e.g. responses on questionnaires). Obtaining approval may take several months so we recommend starting this process early. Only data that is publicly available (such as online information from the World Health Organization) does not require official approval for use in research. If author/s have any specific questions or concerns particularly related to the obtaining permissions for publication, it is advisable they seek the guidance of the local Ethics Committee.

The Material and Methods

This section is a detailed description of how the material was obtained and what test or experiments were performed. There should be enough details mentioned to make it possible to replicate the described study. It is often helpful to divide this section with headings (e.g. inclusion criteria, exclusion criteria, experimental protocol and statistical methods). Instead of writing detailed descriptions of commonly used methods or protocols, authors may simply cite a previous study that involved the same methods. Flowchart diagrams may be useful for describing complex study designs.

The Results

This section summarizes the data with significant relationships and the overall trends and may be supported by tables or graphs. Like the material and methods section, when necessary the results section may be divided into subsections with headings. Only the most important data should be repeated from the tables and should be analyzed when possible (e.g. the percentage change instead of absolute values). In this section, the term "significant" should be only used to mean "statistically significant." Analysis of your data should be reserved for the discussion section. All data should be presented, including non-significant findings and negative results. We recommend making one's findings as transparent as possible by providing supplementary raw data as it may encourage confidence in a reader [5]. Avoid making the common mistake which is mixing the results with the methods and materials.

The Discussion

The discussion consists of six basic parts: the key findings, context, limitations, future outlook, clinical implications and the conclusion.

 The key findings state what the data means and if the findings are novel. This information should be summarized to the extent that even a non-expert may understand the relevance of the findings to to health and/or science.

- In the context section, the authors compare their results with the most recent scientific literature. This section should explicitly state whether your findings confirm or challenge the current paradigm. Here, you may discuss the results or offer possible mechanisms for your findings.
- The limitations section is obligatory and is a chance for the author(s) to respond to the criticism that they anticipate from the peer-reviewers and of course the readers. This section should convince the reader that despite their limitations, your results are relevant.
- In the future outlook section, the authors may recommend confirmatory studies and suggest the direction/s of follow-up studies.
- 5. The clinical implications section outlines the impact that the research results may have on clinical practice. In other words, answer the question "why should physicians pay attention to the findings of the paper?"
- 6. The conclusion is where the main findings are emphasized and the final message is restated.

Citations

Every publisher aims to increase the impact factor of its journals (which is measured by the number of citations a journal obtains over the last few years) [6]. Thus, it is in the interest of the author to cite papers published in the journal they are sending their manuscript to.

Plagiarism

We encourage authors to check for plagiarism before submitting a manuscript. Quoting other papers is fine, however, to help you and your co-authors distinguish it from your original text we recommend placing it in bold or italics. Auto-plagiarism, a situation when an author copies his/her fragment from a previously published article, is also prohibited.

Language

We recommend that a researcher not pay excessive attention to the language, style and grammar for the first draft. In the first draft the goal is to write the main, technical/scientific content of the paper, whereas the grammatical and stylistic improvements should be left for later revisions. To improve the writing, we suggest regularly reading scientific journals relevant to one's own research interest in order to become familiar with the correct and accepted vocabulary, phrasing and sentence structure. We recommend authors whose native language is not English to avoid direct translations from their native language to English because this often results in confusing or awkward phrases and incorrect sentence structure.

Revise the manuscript several times before final submission, with the intention of making technical topics easy to understand and pleasant to read even for non-experts. The manuscript's final version should contain convincing arguments with no grammatical mistakes. When expressing opinion/s, authors should remain professional, polite, fair and avoid emotionally-charged words and phrases.

Choosing the Journal

When choosing the journal to submit your manuscript, keep in mind not only its impact factor but its scope (e.g. a paper on stroke treatment should not be sent to a movement disorders journal). We recommend browsing the latest issue of a journal to gain an understanding of what types of articles are actually published there.

The Submission Process

We encourage authors to identify their target journal before they start writing their paper so that they are aware of the author guidelines. These provide information about the word limit, number and format of the tables or figures, style of references, conflict of interest forms, et cetera. A manuscript may be rejected at the initial submission stage if it does not meet the journal's requirements, therefore adhering to these guidelines is one of the keys to successful publishing. After you submit your manuscript on the journal's online system the following outcomes are possible: accepted; accepted pending/with minor revisions; accepted pending/with major revisions; rejected but re-submission possible; rejected with no resubmission possible. Most papers will require some revisions, more about that later.

The Cover Letter

The cover letter is often an unappreciated part of one's submission as it offers the opportunity to tell the Editor something that cannot be stated in the manuscript. If it is well-written, it may help convince the Editors to publish the manuscript. However, a well-written cover letter will not 'save' a poorly-written manuscript.

Writing the Rebuttal Letter

The rebuttal letter explains exactly what the authors changed to improve the paper according to the reviewers' comments. Occasionally, reviewers may not fully understand the context of your manuscript. Regardless, it is important to write your rebuttal in a polite tone. Always state that you appreciate the insightful comments of the reviewers and that their input helped you improve your manuscript and now it is more relevant in your field of study.

Publishing Case Reports

Case reports are relatively easy and quick to write; however, they are notoriously difficult to publish. The reason for this is simple: most medical journals do not publish case reports. Therefore, in order to be accepted for publishing, the case report must be truly exceptional and novel. We encourage scientists to first find a respected journal that publishes case reports on a given topic. We warn scientists to avoid the numerous predatory journals which advertise that they publish case reports just to make a profit (by charging the authors article processing fees). Such journals can be identified by referencing one of the publicly available online lists of predatory journals.

Conducting Research as a Student

As a student without a laboratory, research funding or any patients of one's own, it might seem rather impossible to conduct independent research. Fortunately, there are several options:

- Systematic reviews (with or without a meta-analysis) are an excellent way of gaining fairly high-impact publications without having one's own laboratory [7]. In fact, the most referenced studies on a given topic are usually provided by systematic reviews and not original papers [8]. Through the writing process, one may learn how to gather, manage and interpret other scientist's findings. The process allows a scientist to conduct an in-depth analysis of previous studies on a particular topic which may help them find something of significance that has not been yet researched.
- Papers on infodemiology (the epidemiology of information) may be done without a laboratory. One may analyze online health patterns for

a particular disease and then relate it to the epidemiology of the disease in a population. Studies such as this may illuminate the overall health seeking behavior in a population [9-11]. Freely accessible databases provided by the World Health Organization, the Centre for Disease Control and Prevention and a country's own health registries are invaluable in these types of papers. Furthermore, with the era of the internet, students can conduct content, readability and quality analyses of popular web platforms (i.e. YouTube, Wikipedia, and Google search results) for a particular disease or topic so that scientists are aware of the quality of information that the public is reading.

- 3. Letters to the Editor may be written on a recently published article (usually within one month). These letters serve or to augment the understanding of an article or to simply criticize the study. For example, one may write a letter pointing out the significant limitations of a study that were not pointed out in the actual article [12]. One may also analyze the parts of the paper differently [13-15].
- 4. Several highly respected journals (e.g. JAMA, JAMA Oncology, Annals of Internal Medicine and Journal of Clinical Oncology) feature a humanities column where poetry, personal vignettes and essays may be published on the medical experience [16-18]. These articles often comment on the dynamics of the patient-physician relationship and may offer a social critique of the medical system.

Conclusion

Writing and publishing a scientific article is an ongoing process requiring several revisions and often months of dedication. Although the process can be challenging, we believe it is an incredibly gratifying experience especially with the help of co-authors who share the same passion for medicine. We hope that this guide will be of use to students, residents, fellows, and young faculty members.

References

- Lapidow A, Scudder P. Shared first authorship [Internet]. Vol. 107, Journal of the Medical Library Association. Medical Library Association; 2019 [cited 2020 Mar 3]. p. 618–20. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31607826
- Conte ML, Maat SL, Bishr Omary M. Increased co-first authorships in biomedical and clinical publications: A call for recognition [Internet]. Vol. 27, FASEB Journal. FASEB; 2013 [cited 2020 Mar 3]. p. 3902–4. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.</u> <u>nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23839935</u>

78 Eur J Transl Clin Med 2020;3(1):74-78

- Baerlocher MO, Newton M, Gautam T, Tomlinson G, Detsky AS. The meaning of author order in medical research. J Investig Med [Internet]. 2007 May [cited 2020 Mar 3];55(4):174–80. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17651671</u>
- 4. Authorship in MEDLINE [Internet]. U.S. National Library of Medicine; [cited 2020 Mar 3]. Available from: https://www.nlm.nih.gov/bsd/policy/authorship.html
- Chan AW, Song F, Vickers A, Jefferson T, Dickersin K, G
 øtzsche PC, et al. Increasing value and reducing waste: Addressing inaccessible research [Internet]. Vol. 383, The Lancet. Lancet Publishing Group; 2014 [cited 2020 Mar 3]. p. 257–66. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24411650</u>
- Wszolek ZK, Sławek J, Siemiński M. Current Status of the Polish Journal of Neurology & Neurosurgery (Neurologia i Neurochirurgia Polska). Neurol Neurochir Pol [Internet]. 2019;53(3). Available from: https://journals.viamedica.pl/neurologia i Neurologia i Neurologia i Neurologia Polska). Neurol Neurochir Pol [Internet]. 2019;53(3). Available from: https://journals.viamedica.pl/neurologia i Neurologia i Neurologia i Neurologia i Neurologia Polska). Neurol Neurochir Pol [Internet]. 2019;53(3). Available from: https://journals.viamedica.pl/neurologia i Neurologia i Neurologia i Neurologia i Neurologia i Neurologia Polska). Neurol Neurochir Pol [Internet]. 2019;53(3). Available from: https://journals.viamedica.pl/neurologia i Neurologia i Neu
- Szmuda T, Sloniewski P, Waszak PM, Springer J, Szmuda M. Towards a new treatment paradigm for ruptured blood blister-like aneurysms of the internal carotid artery? A rapid systematic review [Internet]. Vol. 8, Journal of NeuroInterventional Surgery. BMJ Publishing Group; 2016 [cited 2020 Mar 3]. p. 488–94. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/</u> <u>pubmed/25792038</u>
- Yeung AWK, Goto TK, Leung WK. At the leading front of neuroscience: A bibliometric study of the 100 most-cited articles. Front Hum Neurosci [Internet]. 2017 Jul 21 [cited 2020 Mar 3];11:363. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28785211</u>
- Szmuda T, Ali S, Słoniewski P. How useful is Google Trends in evaluating public interest in neurosurgical diseases? (Preprint). JMIR Prepr [Internet]. 2019 Oct 20; Available from: https://doi.org/10.2196/preprints.16743
- Szmuda T, Ali S, Słoniewski P. Are Wikipedia statistics useful in evaluating public interest in neurosurgical diseases? (Preprint). JMIR Prepr [Internet]. 2019 Oct 20; Available from: <u>https://doi.org/10.2196/preprints.16742</u>
- 11. Szmuda T, Ali S, Słoniewski P. Assessing neurosurgical trends in literature and online: a Google Trends, Google Books and PubMed study (Preprint). JMIR Prepr [Internet]. 2019 Oct 25; Available from: https://doi.org/10.2196/preprints.16798
- 12. Szmuda T, Ali S, Słoniewski P. Letter to the Editor Regarding "A Quality Analysis of Disk Herniation Videos on YouTube." World Neurosurg. 2019;130.
- 13. Szmuda T, Ali S, Słoniewski P. Letter to the Editor. Harvey Cushing's legacy. J Neurosurg [Internet]. 2019 Sep; Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31561216
- 14. Szmuda T, Ali S, Słoniewski P. Letter to the Editor. Dr. Dwight Parkinson's legacy. J Neurosurg [Internet]. 2020 Jan 10 [cited 2020 Mar 3];1–2. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31923889</u>
- 15. Szmuda T, Ali S. Commentary on: The usefulness and limitations of diffusion tensor imaging a review study. Eur J Transl Clin Med. 2019;0.
- 16. Ali S. Medicine Is Not a Subway Ride. JAMA Oncol [Internet]. 2020 Feb 27 [cited 2020 Mar 3]; Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/32105295
- 17. Ali S. Delivering Good News. JAMA Oncol [Internet]. 2020 Feb 1 [cited 2020 Mar 3];6(2):303. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31876944
- 18. Ali S. A Resident's Courage. JAMA Oncol [Internet]. 2020 Jan 1 [cited 2020 Mar 3];6(1):163. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31697375</u>



MEDICAL UNIVERSITY OF GDAŃSK

EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF TRANSLATIONAL AND CLINICAL MEDICINE

New scientific journal published online by the Medical University of Gdańsk

- Publish your research for free! (no article processing charges)
- ✓ Only in English
- ✓ Open Access
- Indexed in Google Scholar
- ✓ Double-blind review process
- Plagiarism verified
- Articles available Ahead of Pub



We are looking forward to your manuscripts! ejtcm.gumed.edu.pl